

University of Kentucky UKnowledge

Theses and Dissertations--Animal and Food Sciences

Animal and Food Sciences

2017

# DIFFERENCES IN BEHAVIORAL AND PHYSIOLOGICAL VARIABLES MEASURED WITH PRECISION DAIRY MONITORING TECHNOLOGIES ASSOCIATED WITH POSTPARTUM DISEASES

I Ching Tsai University of Kentucky, nicky771004@gmail.com Digital Object Identifier: https://doi.org/10.13023/ETD.2017.014

Right click to open a feedback form in a new tab to let us know how this document benefits you.

#### **Recommended Citation**

Tsai, I Ching, "DIFFERENCES IN BEHAVIORAL AND PHYSIOLOGICAL VARIABLES MEASURED WITH PRECISION DAIRY MONITORING TECHNOLOGIES ASSOCIATED WITH POSTPARTUM DISEASES" (2017). *Theses and Dissertations--Animal and Food Sciences*. 69. https://uknowledge.uky.edu/animalsci\_etds/69

This Master's Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Animal and Food Sciences at UKnowledge. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations--Animal and Food Sciences by an authorized administrator of UKnowledge. For more information, please contact UKnowledge@lsv.uky.edu.

### STUDENT AGREEMENT:

I represent that my thesis or dissertation and abstract are my original work. Proper attribution has been given to all outside sources. I understand that I am solely responsible for obtaining any needed copyright permissions. I have obtained needed written permission statement(s) from the owner(s) of each third-party copyrighted matter to be included in my work, allowing electronic distribution (if such use is not permitted by the fair use doctrine) which will be submitted to UKnowledge as Additional File.

I hereby grant to The University of Kentucky and its agents the irrevocable, non-exclusive, and royalty-free license to archive and make accessible my work in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known. I agree that the document mentioned above may be made available immediately for worldwide access unless an embargo applies.

I retain all other ownership rights to the copyright of my work. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of my work. I understand that I am free to register the copyright to my work.

### **REVIEW, APPROVAL AND ACCEPTANCE**

The document mentioned above has been reviewed and accepted by the student's advisor, on behalf of the advisory committee, and by the Director of Graduate Studies (DGS), on behalf of the program; we verify that this is the final, approved version of the student's thesis including all changes required by the advisory committee. The undersigned agree to abide by the statements above.

I Ching Tsai, Student Dr. Jeffrey. M. Bewley, Major Professor Dr. David L. Harmon, Director of Graduate Studies

### DIFFERENCES IN BEHAVIORAL AND PHYSIOLOGICAL VARIABLES MEASURED WITH PRECISION DAIRY MONITORING TECHNOLOGIES ASSOCIATED WITH POSTPARTUM DISEASES

### THESIS

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in the College of Agriculture, Food, and Environment at the University of Kentucky

By

I-Ching Tsai

Lexington, Kentucky

Director: Dr. Jeffrey M. Bewley, Associate Extension Professor of Animal Sciences

Lexington, Kentucky

2016

Copyright © I-Ching, Tsai 2016

#### ABSTRACT OF THESIS

## DIFFERENCES IN BEHAVIORAL AND PHYSIOLOGICAL VARIABLES MEASURED WITH PRECISION DAIRY MONITORING TECHNOLOGIES ASSOCIATED WITH POSTPARTUM DISEASES

The transition period is defined as the three weeks before and three weeks after the cow calves. Transition cow diseases are considered production diseases. Precision dairy monitoring (PDM) technologies measure physiological, behavioral, and production indicators on individual animals to improve management strategies and farm performance. The objective of the first study was to assess how hypocalcemia, hyperketonemia, and metritis affected variables measured by PDM technologies. The objective of the second study was to use variables from multiple commercially available PDM to examine alert performance generated from different analyses.

KEYWORDS: Transition cow, PDM, Metabolic disease, Ca, NEFA

<u>I-Ching, Tsai</u> October 12, 2016

### DIFFERENCES IN BEHAVIORAL AND PHYSIOLOGICAL VARIABLES MEASURED WITH PRECISION DAIRY MONITORING TECHNOLOGIES ASSOCIATED WITH POSTPARTUM DISEASES

By

I Ching, Tsai

Dr. Jeffrey M. Bewley Director of Thesis

<u>Dr. David L. Harmon</u> Director of Graduate Studies

October 12, 2016

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This is the moment to thank everyone in my life who supported me in getting to where I am and who helped me become what I am. The passion you have for what you love about your work is really important. How to get into the dairy industry is still a mystery for me, I just love it and want to be with dairy cows.

First, I would like to thank my major professor, Jeffrey Bewley. I am really thankful for the chance you gave me. You always trust me and guide me in the way. However, I am still surprised that I have to call you by your first name every time without having Dr. in the front. This is so against our culture. For me, you are really like a big brother. We can talk about the problems we have in research and more. You are a really nice professor that cares. I really enjoy all this time working for you. Thank you for trusting this girl who "does not speak English."

Secondly, I would like to thank my family, Mom; you have always been protective and always want me to be around with you. But thank you for giving me this chance to pursue my dream. Although I cried really badly on the first day in the US, you still want me to hang in there and finish everything. You know me well enough that even though I only share the happy things with you, you can always sense my mood. It is a mom thing I guess. I am thankful that we both learn how to let it go, and learn from it. I really love to share your daily stories with everyone, and the relationship between you and dad. It is the way I express that I miss my family to everyone. Thank you for everything. Dad, I know I am always being a bad daughter around you, I think it is because we have the same temper. I know you always say yes to whatever I want and

iii

need. I know you want me to have whatever I like, and I also know that you miss me a lot. It is a man thing to never expresses your emotion, I got it. But don't forget I am your daughter, not your employee. Brother, I know your dream is also being here in the US, and your English is even better than mine. I am sorry I left everything for you to take care of our parents. But I promise I will be back, and I will be there for you. I just want you also love what you have, and have a happy life.

My dear, dear best friends ever, Chieh-Hsiung Li, thank you for being there for me. Even when I had a bad day or fight with you, you were still there and talked to me, and walked me through it. That is why I need you like always, you can calm me down. Although, you are not in the US anymore, thanks to the internet, you will always be right there for me and I for you. Next, thank you for everything. My new roommate, Elizabeth Eckelkamp, I had no idea we have the same level of craziness, I wish I knew that earlier! Thank you for the temporary home, taking care of me, and even helping me with editing my paper. You will be fine in the future, be positive, like I always said. Try to take good care of yourself, eat more, sleep more, and behave. It is never bad to be you, or me. It is lucky to be us. My dear friend, Michele Jones, I always enjoy the time hanging out with you! I still cannot believe we went to Indy car together. You are always calm and funny. You should use this side to cool down people, like I did sometime. I believe they will need it. My old office mate, Derek Nolan, stop stealing my M&Ms, you have wedding planning! If I remember correctly, you might be the first one I was comfortable to talking with when I first got here. You are always so funny, just like me. Do not worry; you will be next to defend. My other old office mate, Karmella Dolecheck, I always think you are super cool and smart. You can always make things on the right track; I bet Jeffrey will

need a lot of your help in the future. Following is Matthew Borchers, I cannot believe you trusted me when you were doing your validation project. At the time, I did not even believe in myself, I tried to be reliable but I was not good. And you are not mean to me at all, thank you. After your project, I started to believe I could do a good job. You are the first one to use the data from the technology I managed. Thank you for believing. Next goes to my project mate, Lauren Mayo, I still remember the first day at the dairy, we were kinds of like trapped at the dairy, trying to figure out what will happen in our project. I felt stupid at that time, I knew nothing, I always ask you stupid questions, I hope you ddin't mind. Now you are on your way to your PhD, I know you will do it well. I have faith in you. Next, Barbara Wadsworth, I felt tense when I first meet you and Amanda. I felt like I knew nothing in front of you guys, because I am just a new master's student. And I did not know how to ask questions. Glad you had experience with international student before, you perfectly guide the way. You will be a really good teacher, you like to ask questions, and know the answer. That is the important thing to be a teacher I think. Last, Amanda Stone, I was a little bit afraid of you and Barb at the beginning, because I know I am really bad. I worried I will drag you all down. But I am glad things did not turn out that way. We work out, and I followed up a little bit. Thanks you for patiently answering my question over and over again. I cannot forget the first American wedding I went to! Good luck on your career. Next, Bettie Kawonga, the most humblest person I have ever met. You are really smart, and every time I have the question about my analysis, you can always walk me through it. Without your help I do not know how I would write my paper. Thank you so much. Now you are back to your hometown, enjoy your time! And do not forget us. Gustavo Mazon, you are back again, I know you

v

love it here. You are a graduate student now. It is tough to be an international student, but let me know if you have any question about anything. I will tell you everything I know. Good luck. Amanda Lee, you work so hard, don't forget to have some rest and enjoy what is around you. Don't take everything too serious, people are really nice and we all want to help. The new graduate students who just join the group, Carissa Truman, Jenna Klefot, and Kevin Zhao. Your graduate school life will be wonderful, I promise. Three years of grad school helped me learn a lot. Keep calm and learn.

Joey Clark, the best dairy manager at UK, I will miss the days we joked around. I am better now; I can do more jokes. Thank you for taking care of a lot of stuff when I was working at the dairy. Please also help me to thank Greg, Chris, and Paden. You are the best! I really enjoy my time working with you. Denise Ray, the former dairy technician. I did not know how to start my project without your help. You are so nice and helped me organize and put everything in order. I really appreciated all the stuff you did. Brittney Core, after you got here, we changed, in a good way. We are more organized and better. Please keep doing this, you make this program better. Thank you to Amelia Fendley, although we did not spend much time working at the dairy. But you are really nice and funny. It is really relaxing to work with you at the dairy. A lot of new people will need this. Keep them feeling welcome! Next I would like to thank the undergraduate helpers, Randi Gray and Lilliann Robertson, who helped to edit my paper over and over again. Sorry to hurt your brain and eyes. I would also like to thank my committee members for their edits, advice, and patience with me throughout this journey.

Last, my TSA friends, thank you for all the company in a hard time. You make me feel like I am at home. Speaking our language is the most relaxing thing ever. However, I

vi

am really lucky to have what I am interested in. Too many friend to thanks and too many things I need to say. If I did not mention your name, I am sorry, but you do mean a lot to me. A lot of my friends remind me that I am so lucky to work in what I love. Also, research helps me a lot, knowing designing a project is really hard, and to learn from the project is totally different. What I love about my project is that I can be around cows every day. All the cows have a different personality, they learn from what you are doing to them, so do I. We should keep learning and trying every day. After all these three years, I found out that I am really in love with cows, the dairy industry, and I do want to make this industry better.

ABSTRACT OF THESIS i
ACKNOWLEDGMENTSiii
TABLE OF CONTENTS viii
LIST OF TABLES xii
LIST OF FIGURESxv
FREQUENTIY USED ABBREVIATIONS xvii
CHAPTER ONE
REWIEW OF LITERATURE1
INTRODUCTION
Dairy cattle physiology and endocrinology in the transition period
Physiological changes
Glucose demand
Calcium demand7
Dry matter intake (DMI)
Non-esterified fatty acids (NEFA)
β-hydroxybutyrate (BHBA)10
Negative energy balance
Cholesterol
Haptoglobin12
β-Carotene
Effects of early postpartum disease14
Metabolic disease
Hypocalcemia (Milk fever)
Hyperketonemia (Ketosis)16
Displaced abomasum (DA) 17
Metritis
Endometritis
Retained placenta (RP)
Body condition score (BCS) change
Precision dairy monitoring (PDM)
Automated detection of health

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Activity, steps, lying time and lying bouts	
Body and rumen temperature	
Milk and blood levels	29
Rumination time and feeding behavior	31
CONCLUSIONS	32
CHAPTER TWO	33
Differences in behavioral and physiological variables measured with precision monitoring technologies associated with postpartum diseases	dairy 33
ABSTRACT	34
INTRODUCTION	36
MATERIALS AND METHODS	37
Animal, Feeding, and Housing	37
Fresh cow exam	38
Blood samples	39
Milk samples	40
PDM	41
Statistical Analyses	42
Data Editing and Analyses	42
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	44
Variables: Changes by diseases	44
Hyperketonemia: lying time and lying bouts	45
Hyperketonemia: steps and activity	46
Hyperketonemia: rumination, feeding time, eating time, and rumen temper	ature 47
Hyperketonemia: milk components	48
Hyperketonemia: milk yield and body weight	49
Hypocalcemia: lying time and lying bouts	50
Hypocalcemia: steps and activity	51
Hypocalcemia: rumination time, feeding time, eating time, and rumen tem	perature 52
Hypocalcemia: milk component	
Hypocalcemia: milk yield and body weight	53
Metritis: lying time and lying bouts	54
Metritis: steps and activity	
1 7	···· - ·

Metritis: rumination time, feeding time, eating time, and rumen temperature 55
Metritis: milk component
Metritis: milk yield and body weight
Serum concentration of Cholesterol, NEFA, milk BHBA, and milk Haptoglobin 57
Cholesterol
NEFA
Milk BHBA
Milk haptoglobin
Future studies
CONCLUSION
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS61
CHAPTER THREE
Postpartum disease detection potential using precision dairy monitoring technologies
ABSTRACT
INTRODUCTION
MATERIALS AND METHODS
Animal, Feeding, and Housing105
Fresh cow exam
Blood samples
PDM
Statistical Analyses
Data Editing and Analyses109
Analysis 1: sensitivity, specificity and accuracy of disease detection based on the 10 <sup>th</sup> or 90 <sup>th</sup> percentiles of each technology variable
Analysis 2: Association between technology and disease status
RESULTS
UNIVARIATE: performance
GENMOD: Odds ratios
GENMOD: MULTIVARIABLE
DISCUSSION
Hyperketonemia
Hypocalcemia129

Metritis	
Overall performance	
Future studies	
CONCLUSION	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
APPENDIX	
REFERENCE	
VITA	

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. Precision dairy monitoring technologies, variables measured, measurement
frequency, and technology abbreviations used in evaluation of hyperketonemia,
hypocalcaemia, and metritis
Table 2.2. Means of variables <sup>1</sup> measured by precision dairy monitoring technologies <sup>2</sup> for
dairy cows from 1 to 21 DIM for all cows (healthy or with disease) and cows with any
transition cow disease <sup>3</sup>
Table 2.3. With the MIXED <sup>1</sup> procedure of SAS 9.3 analysis the change of variables
(positively <sup>2</sup> , negatively <sup>3</sup> change, or $NS^4$ ) that affected by cows with and without
hyperketonemia <sup>4</sup> , hypocalcemia <sup>5</sup> , and metritis <sup>6</sup> during DIM 21
Table 2.4. Hyperketonemia <sup>1</sup> , hypocalcaemia <sup>2</sup> , and metritis <sup>3</sup> detection cut-points for
individual diseases and disease combinations for transition cows (1 to 21 DIM) from
January 2013 to October 2015
Table 2.5. Mean $\pm$ S.D of variables <sup>1</sup> from PDM <sup>2</sup> affected by different diseases
(Hyperketonemia <sup>3</sup> , Hypocalcaemia <sup>4</sup> and Metritis <sup>5</sup> )
Table 3.1. Introductory table outlining the tables and figures associated with disease
occurrence, technology disease alert creation, and alert sensitivity, specificity, accuracy,
and odds ratios by technology(s)
Table 3.2. Precision dairy technologies used in evaluation of transition cow diseases
including: hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis144
Table 3.3. Sensitivity <sup>1</sup> , specificity <sup>2</sup> , and accuracy <sup>3</sup> of precision dairy monitoring
technology's <sup>4</sup> transition cow disease <sup>5</sup> , hyperketonemia <sup>6</sup> , hypocalcaemia <sup>7</sup> , or metritis <sup>8</sup>
detection defined by the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS <sup>9,10,11</sup> 145
Table 3.4 Sensitivity <sup>1</sup> , specificity <sup>2</sup> , and accuracy <sup>3</sup> of AfiAct Pedometer Plus, (Afimilk,
Kibbutz Afikim, Israel) <sup>4</sup> transition cow disease <sup>5</sup> , hyperketonemia <sup>6</sup> , hypocalcaemia <sup>7</sup> , or
metritis <sup>8</sup> detection defined from the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS <sup>9,10,11</sup>
Table 3.5. Sensitivity <sup>1</sup> , specificity <sup>2</sup> , and accuracy <sup>3</sup> of AfiLab Milk Analyzer (Afimilk,
Kibbutz Afikim, Israel) <sup>4</sup> transition cow disease <sup>5</sup> , hyperketonemia <sup>6</sup> , hypocalcaemia <sup>7</sup> , or
metritis <sup>8</sup> detection defined from the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS <sup>9,10,11</sup>
Table 3.6. Sensitivity <sup>1</sup> , specificity <sup>2</sup> , and accuracy <sup>3</sup> of AfiWeigh (Afimilk, Kibbutz
Afikim, Israel) <sup>4</sup> transition cow disease <sup>5</sup> , hyperketonemia <sup>6</sup> , hypocalcaemia <sup>7</sup> , or metritis <sup>8</sup>
detection defined from the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS <sup>9,10,11</sup>
Table 3.7. Sensitivity <sup>1</sup> , specificity <sup>2</sup> , and accuracy <sup>3</sup> of AfiMilk, AfiLab, and AfiWeigh
(Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel) <sup>4</sup> transition cow disease <sup>3</sup> , hyperketonemia <sup>6</sup> ,
hypocalcaemia', or metritis <sup>8</sup> detection defined from the UNIVARIATE procedure in
SAS <sup>9,10,11</sup>
Table 3.8. Sensitivity <sup>1</sup> , specificity <sup>2</sup> , and accuracy <sup>3</sup> of Track a))) cow (ENGS System
Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel) <sup>4</sup> transition cow disease <sup>3</sup> , hyperketonemia <sup>6</sup> ,
hypocalcaemia', or metritis' detection defined from the UNIVARIATE procedure in $S \land S^{9,10,11}$
Table 3.9 Sensitivity <sup>1</sup> specificity <sup>2</sup> and accuracy <sup>3</sup> of DVM (DVM System LLC Greeley
$(\Omega)^4$ transition cow disease <sup>5</sup> hyperketonemia <sup>6</sup> hypocalcaemia <sup>7</sup> or metritis <sup>8</sup> detection
defined from the UNIVARIATE procedure in $S\Delta S^{9,10,11}$ 153
defined from the OTTY ANTATE procedure in SAS

Table 3.10. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of IceQube (IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland)<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> detection defined from the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS<sup>9,10,11</sup>......154 Table 3.11. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of SCR, HR-Tag (Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel)<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> Table 3.12. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of Smartbow (Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse, Austria)<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or Table 3.13. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of CowManager, SensoOr (Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands)<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> detection defined from the UNIVARIATE procedure in Table 3.14. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of All the precision dairy technology's<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> Table 3.15. Odds ratios<sup>1</sup> of cows having any disease<sup>2</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>3</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>4</sup>, or metritis<sup>5</sup> based on variables measured by AfiMilk, AfiLab, and AfiWeigh (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel) for fresh cows from 1 to 21 DIM (GENMOD procedure of Table 3.16. Odds ratios<sup>1</sup> of cows having any disease<sup>2</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>3</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>4</sup>, or metritis<sup>5</sup> based on variables measured by Track a))) cow (ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel) for fresh cows from 1 to 21 DIM (GENMOD procedure of Table 3.17. Odds ratios<sup>1</sup> of cows having any disease<sup>2</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>3</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>4</sup>, or metritis<sup>5</sup> based on variables measured by DVM bolus (DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO) for fresh cows from 1 to 21 DIM (GENMOD procedure of SAS<sup>6</sup>)......162 Table 3.18. Odds ratios<sup>1</sup> of cows having any disease<sup>2</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>3</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>4</sup>, or metritis<sup>5</sup> based on variables measured by IceOube (IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland) for fresh cows from 1 to 21 DIM (GENMOD procedure of SAS<sup>6</sup>). ..... 163 Table 3.19. Odds ratios<sup>1</sup> of cows having any disease<sup>2</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>3</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>4</sup>, or metritis<sup>5</sup> based on variables measured by HR Tag (SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel) for fresh cows from 1 to 21 DIM (GENMOD procedure of SAS<sup>6</sup>)...... 164 Table 3.20. Odds ratios<sup>1</sup> of cows having any disease<sup>2</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>3</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>4</sup>, or metritis<sup>5</sup> based on variables measured by SmartBow (Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse, Table 3.21. Odds ratios<sup>1</sup> of cows having any disease<sup>2</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>3</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>4</sup>, or metritis<sup>5</sup> based on variables measured by CowManager SensoOr (Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands) for fresh cows from 1 to 21 DIM (GENMOD Table 3.22. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of AfiMilk, AfiLab, and AfiWeigh (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel)<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>,

hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> detection created from the GENMOD procedure in SAS<sup>9</sup>. Table 3.23. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of Track a))) cow (ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel)<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> detection created from the GENMOD procedure in SAS<sup>9</sup>. 169 Table 3.24. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of DVM bolus (DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO)<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> Table 3.25. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of IceQube (IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland)<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or Table 3.26. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> HR Tag (SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel)<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> Table 3.27. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> SmartBow (Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse, Austria)<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or Table 3.28. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> CowManager SensoOr (Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands)<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> detection created from the GENMOD procedure in SAS<sup>9</sup>. 

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Depiction of the timing for taking blood samples and uterine score
Figure 2.2. Compare lying/resting time and time not active changed by average all the
cows from DIM 1 to DIM 21 with and without hyperketonemia <sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure
of SAS 9.3
Figure 2.2. (cont.)
Figure 2.3. Compare lying /resting bouts changed by average all the cows from DIM 1 to
DIM 21 with and without hyperketonemia <sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3
Figure 2.4. Compare activity/ steps/ motion changed by average all the cows from DIM 1
to DIM 21 with and without hyperketonemia <sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3 72
Figure 2.4. (cont.)
Figure 2.5. Compare rumination changed by average all the cows from DIM 1 to DIM 21
with and without hyperketonemia <sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3
Figure 2.6. Compare eating time/time around the feed bunk changed by average all the
cows from DIM 1 to DIM 21 with and without hyperketonemia <sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure
of SAS 9.3
Figure 2.7. Compare milk component changed by average all the cows from DIM 1 to
DIM 21 with and without hyperketonemia <sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3
Figure 2.7. (cont.)
Figure 2.8. Compare milk yield / body weight changed by average all the cows from DIM
1 to DIM 21 with and without hyperketonemia <sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3 78
Figure 2.9. Compare lying/resting time and time not active changed by average all the
cows from DIM 1 to DIM 21 with and without hypocalcemina <sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure
of SAS 9.3
Figure 2.9. (cont.)
Figure 2.10. Compare lying/resting bouts changed by average all the cows from DIM 1 to
DIM 21 with and without hypocalcemina <sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3
Figure 2.11. Compare activity/ steps/ motion changed by average all the cows from DIM
1 to DIM 21 with and without hypocalcemina <sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3 82
Figure 2.11. (cont.)
Figure 2.12. Compare rumination changed by average all the cows from DIM 1 to DIM
21 with and without hypocalcemina <sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3
Figure 2.13. Compare eating time/ time around the feed bunk changed by average all the
cows from DIM 1 to DIM 21 with and without hypocalcemina <sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure
of SAS 9.3
Figure 2.14. Compare milk component changed by average all the cows from DIM 1 to
DIM 21 with and without hypocalcemina <sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3
Figure 2.14. (cont.)
Figure 2.15. Compare milk yield / body weight changed by average all the cows from
DIM 1 to DIM 21 with and without hypocalcemina <sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3.

Figure 2.16. Compare lying/resting time and time not active changed by average all the
cows from DIM 1 to DIM 21 with and without metritis <sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS
9.3
Figure 2.16. (cont.)
Figure 2.17. Compare lying/resting bouts changed by average all the cows from DIM 1 to
DIM 21 with and without metritis <sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3
Figure 2.18. Compare activity/ steps/ motion changed by average all the cows from DIM
1 to DIM 21 with and without metritis <sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3
Figure 2.18. (cont.)
Figure 2.19. Compare rumination changed by average all the cows from DIM 1 to DIM
21 with and without metritis <sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3
Figure 2.20. Compare eating time/ time around the feed bunk changed by average all the
cows from DIM 1 to DIM 21 with and without metritis <sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS
9.3
Figure 2.21. Compare milk component changed by average all the cows from DIM 1 to
DIM 21 with and without metrifis' by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3
Figure 2.21. (cont.)
DIM 1 to DIM 21 with and without matritis <sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 0.2
Figure 2.23 Overall disease incidence for 138 transition cows from Jane 2014 to
October 2015 in relation to a) blood serum cholesterol concentration $(mmol/L)$ b) blood
serum non-esterified fatty acid (NEFA) concentration (mmol/L), c) milk β-
hydroxybutyrate (BHBA: Porta BHB strip score <sup>1</sup> ) concentration, and d) milk haptoglobin
concentration (mmol/L).
Figure 2.23. (cont.)
Figure 3.1 Depiction of 5d backward moving maximum <sup>1</sup> alert <sup>2</sup> and disease <sup>3</sup>
Figure 3.2. Analysis 1, Flowchart of how alerts were created using precision dairy
monitoring technologies to detect fresh cow disease in dairy cows within UNIVARATE
procedure of SAS
Figure 3.3. Analysis 2, Flowchart of how alerts were created using precision dairy
monitoring technologies to detect fresh cow disease in dairy cows within GENMOD
procedure of SAS

# FREQUENTIY USED ABBREVIATIONS

- DMI = Dry matter intake
- NEB = negative energy balance
- Ca = calcium
- NEFA = non- esterified fatty acids
- BHBA =  $\beta$  hydroxybutyrate
- BCS = body conditional score
- Hp = haptoglobin
- RP = retained placenta
- PDM = precision dairy monitoring

# **CHAPTER ONE**

# **REWIEW OF LITERATURE**

#### INTRODUCTION

Transition period is defined as the three weeks before and three weeks after cows calved (Drackley, 1999). Management of late lactation, health, and productivity are crucial during this time (Kim and Suh, 2003, Esposito et al., 2014). Because of the dramatic metabolic, immune and endocrine changes, cows are prone to contract more diseases during this time (Bernabucci et al., 2005, Sordillo et al., 2009, Ospina et al., 2010). Transition cow diseases are considered production diseases, and reflect a cow's inability to meet metabolic demands. High incidence rates of these diseases are related to the cost of the treatment. Understanding how cows adapt to the transition period can help producers manage cows through this transition (LeBlanc, 2006). Hormones affect the cow's metabolic system during transition. When the metabolic system is compromised, low dry matter intake (**DMI**) also occurs (Cameron et al., 1998). In addition, herd management and environment change mean cows need to adapt to new feed rations and social hierarchies.

Dairy cow nutrition requirements differ according to the stages of lactation. From pregnancy to lactation, their nutritional requirements alter from nourishing the fetus to producing milk. Nutrient demands in the transition cow period cause a dramatic change. Often, a close-up diet is provided three weeks before calving. From close up to the early stages of lactation, the diet changes dramatically in a short period of time (Goff and Horst, 1997). The change of the diet affects the rumen bacterial populations and absorption ability of the rumen papilla. (Goff and Horst, 1997). Horst et al. (1997) mentioned that ruminal microflora take four weeks to develop and adopt to the changes and rumen papillae take more than five weeks. The key to supporting milk production and fertility is to supply cows with energy and nutrients which can bolster biochemical processes (Khiaosa-ard and Zebeli, 2014).

Also, during this period of time, the secretory mammary epithelium prepares to rebuild and is remodeled for the next cycle of lactation (Strange et al., 1995). Normally, six to eight weeks is sufficient for cows to rest, rebuild, and store energy after lactation. Capuco et al., (1995) indicated that the optimal length of the dry period for dairy cows to get enough rest and renewal of mammary glands was eight weeks. Further, the nutritional requirements of the fetus reach peak levels at three weeks before calving, especially requiring glucose and amino acids for development. Glucose, amino acids, and calcium are needed by the mammary gland following calving in order to meet lactation requirements (Overton and Waldron, 2004). The increase in energy required after calving for milk production coupled with insufficient dry matter intake (**DMI**) could lead to negative energy balance (**NEB**) in early lactation (Ingvartsen and Andersen, 2000, Drackley et al., 2001). The nutritional insufficiency and high nutrient demand resulting from milk production cause cows to experience NEB, which leads to production diseases.

Dry matter intake (**DMI**) consistently decreases before calving (Hayirli et al., 1998, Robinson and Garrett, 1999). Three weeks after calving, DMI typically increases by 1.5 to 2.5 kg per week (Grant and Albright, 1995). Although the nutrient requirements increase, DMI decreases from 10% to 30% (Bell, 1995, Bell et al., 2000). But, increased energy content in the close-up ration could help improve production and health in the early stages of lactation despite the decrease in overall DIM (Grummer, 1995, McNamara et al., 2003, Rabelo et al., 2003). If high energy feed were offered during the far-off dry period, it would increase the possibility of the decline in DMI and negative effects from that decline (Minor et al., 1998, Olsson et al., 1998). Improving energy balance in the transition period decreases the incidence rate of production diseases (Duffield and LeBlanc, 2009).

In early lactation, homeorhetic metabolism utilizes nutrients for milk production instead of body reserves and reproduction (Drackley and Cardoso, 2014). But in the long term, fertility is most affected by dietary imbalance (Zebeli et al., 2015). Thus, after continually lacking sufficient energy, metabolic diseases, such as endometritis, ketosis, displaced abomasum, and retained placenta occur (Drackley, 1999, Duffield, 2000). Metabolic diseases have a major impact on future production and fertility. Preventing metabolic disease is highly preferred over treating it (LeBlanc, 2010). All these diseases are related to increasing culling rates and financial losses (Fetrow et al., 2006). Hadley et al. (2006) analyzed a large amount of data from the United States and found that average culling rate was 31.6%, of which 79.5% were caused by health issues.

Diseases are categorized as clinical or subclinical. Clinical means that cows exhibits an obvious symptom, while subclinical means there are no visual signs of having diseases. Subclinical diseases tend to impact the producer's economic outcomes more than clinical diseases. If producer do not recognize signals of subclinical diseases, cows will go without treatment. Van Saun and Sniffen (2014) showed that costly fresh cow disorders affected productivity and reproductive performance. Incidence rates increased under the combination of high production and modern intensive management system (Pritchard et al., 2013).

The incidence rate of left displaced abomasum was estimated from 3% to 5% (LeBlanc et al., 2005b). In McArt et al. (2012a) the incidence rate of subclinical ketosis ranged from 26% to 56%. The incidence rate of retained placenta was reported at 7.8% by Goff (2006b). Lean et al. (2006) indicated that the mean incidence of hypocalcemia was 21%. Sheldon and Dobson (2004) pointed out that dairy cows had a 10 to 20 % chance of developing metritis after calving. These diseases are important because of their economic impact (McArt et al., 2013). Hypocalcaemia

has been reported at \$335 per case (Guard, 1994) and the loss to a 2,000 dairy cow herd was \$ 12,000 per year (Oetzel and Eastridge, 2013). Subclinical hypocalcemia was \$125 per case (Reinhardt et al., 2011), and a 2,000 cow herd would lose over \$48,750 per year (Oetzel and Eastridge, 2013). The cost of metritis ranged from \$146 to \$175 per case (Mahnani et al., 2015). Ketosis was \$145 per case (McArt et al., 2012a), and subclinical ketosis was \$67 per case (Drackley et al., 2001, Gilbert et al., 2005, Ingvartsen, 2006). Retained placenta was \$285 per case (Kelton et al., 1998). Therefore, reducing the cost of treatment and decreasing the incidence of the diseases is essential. Closely monitoring cows during this critical period is imperative to cow longevity. Systematic observations could provide accurate and efficient early detection of all diseases. With early detection, dairy producers could limit the loss of milk production and the minimize the cost of health problems (LeBlanc, 2010).

#### Dairy cattle physiology and endocrinology in the transition period

#### Physiological changes

When a cow is pregnant, her energy demand and nutrient requirements are used for fetus and mammary gland development. Different stages of the dry period also require different rations. For example, far-off cows are fed feeds high in neutral detergent fiber (Goff and Horst, 1997). The rumen environment is changed during the dry period, the bacterial population switches (Andersen et al., 1999). Fetal demands rapidly increase in the last four weeks of pregnancy. When cows calve, they are switched to a diet with high energy content, which creates a high risk of development of rumen acidosis due to the rapid change (Goff and Horst, 1997). The high-energy feed provides the energy during the transition period to fulfill the demand. Glucose, amino acids, and fatty acids are among the nutrients in high demand at lactation, which affect mineral utilization and immune functions. Bell (1995) showed that the estimated demand

for glucose is tripled at 250 days of gestation, the amino acid demand is doubled in the lactating mammary gland, and fatty acid demand is fivefold of the demand at four days postpartum. The requirement of calcium increases approximately four times more than normal during the time of parturition (Bell et al., 1995). Lactation creates these high nutrient demands and, if the requirements cannot be fulfilled, metabolic diseases are fatty liver occur.

#### **Glucose demand**

The major adaptation of glucose metabolism from the dry cow to the lactating cow is increased hepatic gluconeogenesis (Reynolds, 2006). At the same time, glucose is oxidized from peripheral tissue (Bennink et al., 1972). This directs glucose to the mammary gland for lactose synthesis (Overton and Waldron, 2004). Reynolds et al. (2003) showed that the glucose balance of a cow was zero to nearly negative during the transition and early lactation. If cows cannot satisfy nutrient demands, the unavoidable physiological NEB occurs (Grummer et al., 2004). Glucose is a key factor for regulation of hormones and metabolic processes. A low blood glucose level and infertility are typically found in postpartum dairy cows (Lucy et al., 2013). Glucose in postpartum dairy cows is used to synthesize milk (Bell et al., 1995). Cows can only meet 85% of the glucose requirement during early lactation, and this leaves an estimated 500 grams of daily loss of glucose (Bell, 1995). Although glucose is released by hepatic gluconeogenesis and rapidly increases after calving, the decrease of glucose is unavoidable (Reynolds et al., 2003, Larsen and Kristensen, 2009). In order to obtain an endocrine status favoring less fat mobilization, the nutritional focus should be increasing gluconeogenesis in the liver of prepartum cows for the greatest outcome. Thus, increasing the absorption of glucose in the small intestine could reduce fat mobilization and increase exogenous glucose supply. Cows often undergo

hypoglycemia and hyperketonemia before calving, which potentially negatively impacts their health, production, and overall well-being (Grummer, 1995).

#### Amino acid demand

Homeorhetic processes and lactogenesis are associated with adapting amino acids to sustain and increase demands for the mammary gland (Ingvartsen, 2006). Gluconeogenesis is a slow process during calving and the peak lactation, but the process builds up faster in the first weeks of lactation (Bell et al., 1995). In order to support lactation, protein and fatty acids become mobilized and are used for mammary milk protein synthesis and gluconeogenesis in the liver (Bennink et al., 1972). Collins and Reid (1980) showed that the skeletal muscle is an important source of endogenous amino acids in early lactation. About 25% to 27% of total body protein in dairy cows has the potential to be mobilized at calving (Belyea et al., 1978). Grummer (1995) suggested that transition cows use the reserves from body protein to support lactation. Therefore, by increasing prepartum protein reserves, the possibility of metabolic disorders can be reduced (Grummer, 1995). For milk production, it is important to balance the ratios of specific amino acids'(Rulquin et al., 1973).

#### Calcium demand

Under non-inflammation conditions, regulating serum concentrations of calcium (**Ca**) and phosphate (**P**) are based on endocrine control, the level of intestinal absorption, bone reabsorption or release, renal reabsorption, and milk secretion (Overton and Waldron, 2004). To respond to hypocalcemia in dairy cows, calcium metabolism is regulated by the parathyroid hormone (**PTH**). Ca and P stimulate the bone to release vitamin D because of PTH (Thiede, 1994). Reinhardt et al. (2011) indicated that Ca concentration in the blood differs by age, stage

of lactation, and parity. Serum concentrations of Ca around calving decrease to below 2.0 mM (8.0 mg/dL) in 25% of first lactation heifers, 41% of second lactation cows and up to 54% in fifth lactation cows (Reinhardt et al., 2011). Normal serum concentration of Ca in healthy midlactation cows ranges from 2.1 to 2.8 mmol/L (8.5 and 10 mg/dL) (Goff, 2008). Minimizing the usage of Ca circulation in the blood reserves, increasing absorption from rumen or intestines, mobilization from tissue, and most importantly Ca reserves in bone, are all required to meet the Ca demand (DeGaris and Lean, 2008). Ca concentration of plasma was high in gestation but dramatically decreased at calving. The challenge faced by transition cows is the sudden change of nutrition requirements for milk production. This occurs simultaneously with the DMI and nutrient supply falling behind. In order to support the milk production, galactopoiesis is accompanied with the mobilization of body reserves to meet high demand of nutrients (Grummer et al., 2004, Ingvartsen, 2006).

#### Dry matter intake (DMI)

Despite the greater demands of energy, feed intake decreases in the transition period (Kertz et al., 1991, Bertics et al., 1992, Grant and Albright, 1995, Grummer, 1995). The DMI decreases 35% when cows are close to calving (Marquardt et al., 1977) and feed intake will not return to the peak level until weeks 9 to 13 of lactation (Kertz et al., 1991). The decrease of DMI occurs because of the growth of the fetus that takes up abdominal space and reduces rumen volume (Grant and Albright, 1995). Hormones and physiology also play an important role in the adjustment of feed intake in dairy cows (Grant and Albright, 1995). When intake is insufficient, cows mobilize fat reserves from adipocytes (Grummer, 1995). Therefore, in the transition period – prepartum and postpartum – cows consume less energy than required which leads to NEB. Monitoring DMI would be a useful tool to screen cows for diseases during the transition period

(Huzzey et al., 2007, Goldhawk et al., 2009). Cows with less feed intake are more likely to be diagnosed with metabolic and infectious diseases during the transition period (Marquardt et al., 1977, Zamet et al., 1979). To achieve the goal of early detection, producers can monitor DMI and analyze non-esterified fatty acids (**NEFA**) and  $\beta$ -hydroxybutyrate (**BHBA**) in the blood.

#### Non-esterified fatty acids (NEFA)

Non-esterified fatty acids (NEFA) and  $\beta$ -hydroxybutyrate (BHBA) are considered to be the markers of NEB, due to the relationship between energy demand and energy reserves (Ospina et al., 2010). High amounts of NEFA in the blood from adipose tissue were found in dairy cows from pregnancy to lactation (Bell, 1995). When DMI decreases, NEB occurs and cows compensate by intensive lipolysis, or the breakdown of adipose tissue to maintain the balance between energy requirement and intake (Oldick, 1999). When the adipose tissues are broken down, fatty acids are released into the blood (Kaneene et al., 1997). Factors seen when NEB is present include increased concentration of BHBA (Bell, 1995), decreased concentration of glucose (Vazquez-Anon et al., 1994, Grum et al., 1996), development of fatty liver due to accumulation of triacylglycerol (TAG) (Bertics et al., 1992, Grummer, 1995), and decreased body condition score (**BCS**) (Wildman et al., 1982). If NEFA in the blood is excessive then it could lead to toxicity (Herdt, 1988, Emery et al., 1992, Bell et al., 1995), because of the limited capacity for NEFA metabolism to export TAG from the dairy cows' liver (Adewuyi et al., 2005). When maximum NEFA exists in the blood, which implies maximum TAG in the liver, Acetyl-CoA does not return to the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle to generate glucose. So, acetyl-CoA converts to ketone bodies, acetone, and acetoacetate (Caldari-Torres, 2009), which could be found in the blood, milk, and urine (Grant and Albright, 1995).

Excess TAG in the liver can decrease metabolic capacity in the liver (Shearer, 1992, Byers, 1995, Rukkwamsuk et al., 1999b, Heuer et al., 2000, Jorritsma et al., 2001). When cows experience lipolysis, they could develop fatty liver syndrome (Byers, 1995, Grummer, 1995, Rukkwamsuk et al., 1999b). Fatty liver syndrome normally does not respond well to treatment, and this could cause greater mortality rates in cows (Shearer, 1992). Measuring NEFA and BHBA thresholds can help producers with early detection of NEB, preventing fatty liver syndrome. McArt et al. (2013) pointed out the high correlation between NEFA and BHBA and successful reproduction and milk production. If the NEFA in the blood reaches a maximum level of 1.0 mEq/L in the postpartum period, cows are at greater risk of having diseases. (LeBlanc et al., 2005c, Ospina et al., 2010, Chapinal et al., 2011, Roberts et al., 2012b). Thus, monitoring the concentration of NEFA is crucial to the management of postpartum health in dairy cows.

#### *β-hydroxybutyrate* (*BHBA*)

With decreasing DMI, the cow's body will try to maintain energy balance to satisfy the nutrient requirement by using body fat and breaking down adipose tissue (Oldick, 1999, Rukkwamsuk et al., 1999b). This results in fatty acids in the blood (Herdt, 1988). This mechanism is related to NEFA, meaning it reaches capacity in the liver. A large amount of TAG in the liver and Acetyl-CoA will not transfer back to TCA cycle, therefore, it will convert to ketone bodies. Then a high concentration of BHBA is found in the blood, milk, and urine (Grant and Albright, 1995). McArt et al. (2013) indicated that there is a relationship between energy demands, energy stores, and the metabolic rate between NEFA and BHBA. High NEFA and BHBA in the blood could increase the incidence rates of DA, culling rate, and infertility, and decrease milk production (McArt et al., 2013). Managing transition period cows by monitoring NEFA and BHBA concentrations and DMI could be an easy solution for producers. If BHBA

levels are greater than 1.2 mmol/dl, the chance to have subclinical ketosis rises (LeBlanc et al., 2005c). BHBA maximum is still being debated, but recent results showed that levels greater than 1.4 mmol/dl create a greater possibility of developing metabolic diseases (Duffield, 2000, LeBlanc et al., 2005c, Walsh et al., 2007, Ospina et al., 2010, Roberts et al., 2012b).

#### Negative energy balance

Understanding how NEB affects immune responses relative to transition cow disease may help to reduce the illness in the herd. In order to support the energy requirement, a cow's body switches from nutrient accumulation to rapid production of milk by mobilizing protein and lipid stores (Bell et al., 1995). The long-term effect of NEB and physiological disorders could cause the decrease in milk production and reproductive performance (Bell, 1995). The challenge of the transition cow is the increase of nutrients required to produce milk during the late dry period when the DMI decreases. When energy demand is not met by feed intake, NEB occurs (Bauman and Currie, 1980). Energy demands, energy reserves, and the metabolic association are related to NEFA and BHBA. After body fat was mobilized, NEFA concentration increases, and constantly rises in the prepartum transition period, but with a dramatic boost in the last three days of postpartum. Cows that undergo NEB increase in NEFA and BHBA which were widely used to monitor and prevent of diseases early (LeBlanc et al., 2005c), and for culling after calving (Duffield and LeBlanc, 2009).

#### **Cholesterol**

Fatty liver is a lipid-related metabolic disorder (Grummer, 1993). Particularly during the transition period, lipid metabolism is changed to fulfill the increased demands for energy (Kessler et al., 2014a). Therefore, as lipolysis NEFA increase, the liver struggles to continue

mobilizing or to recycle TAG (Grummer, 1993). When TAG synthesis exceeds the liver capacity and is exported as very low-density lipoprotein (**VLDL**), fatty liver occurs (Goff and Horst, 1997). The rate of TAG synthesis is related to plasma NEFA concentration, and fatty liver occurs while NEFA increases (Grummer, 1993). Additionally, fatty liver could cause clinical spontaneous ketosis (Grummer, 1993). The ratio of liver triglyceride to glycogen could be used to predict ketosis in cows (Grummer, 1993). Therefore, measuring total cholesterol could help to diagnose transition cow diseases (Sommer, 1975). The normal range of cholesterol in six to eight weeks prepartum is between 90 mg/dL and 150 mg/dL (Sommer, 1975, Kweon K, 1986). But Kweon K (1986) and Kessler (2014) had shown that cows with greater levels of cholesterol from 120 mg/dL to 170 mg/dL would have greater than normal milk yield. However, cows could have different ranges of cholesterol in different stages of lactation, milk yield, seasons and around parturition (Kweon K, 1986, Kessler et al., 2014b).

#### Haptoglobin

Haptoglobin (**Hp**), an acute phase protein, is related to uterine infection (Skinner et al., 1991, Smith et al., 1998, Regassa and Noakes, 1999, Sheldon et al., 2001). In veterinary diagnosis, the possibility of using acute phase proteins to diagnose disease has been developed (Åkerstedt et al., 2006). Acute phase proteins are a group of blood proteins that change concentration while under attack, infection, inflammation or trauma (Åkerstedt et al., 2006). The major acute phase protein in cows is Hp. Haptoglobin is produced by different cytokines (Gruys et al., 1994, Murata et al., 2004, Petersen et al., 2004). Serum Hp is an unspecific marker of disease and there are many factors that would cause Hp increase in serum (Åkerstedt et al., 2006). However, milk Hp is not commonly used in commercial farms. When infection occurs in mammary glands, the concentration of acute phase proteins, such as lactoferrin and Hp, can

increase in milk (Molenaar et al., 1996, Eckersall et al., 2006, Thielen et al., 2007). So, Hp could be a biomarker for diagnosing metritis, because the concentration of Hp increases 2 days before showing the clinical signs (Humblet et al., 2006, Huzzey et al., 2007, Silvestre et al., 2011). This provides an early detection method to monitor herds and to help improve management and prevent disease from happening.

#### β-Carotene

β-Carotene is the major precursor of vitamin A and can be found in the feed (Spears and Weiss, 2008). The major role of  $\beta$ -Carotene, similar to vitamin A, is to enhance the host's defense mechanisms. Other functions of β-Carotene are maintaining immunity, reproduction ,and antioxidant status (Engstrom, 2010), which can decrease mastitis (Chew et al., 1982) and the risks of retained placenta (Michal et al., 1994). In the transition period, cows experience the negative energy, calcium, and protein balances, which profoundly impacts steroid hormones, minerals, and vitamins (Goff et al., 2002). One of the important consequences is impaired immune function (Mallard et al., 1998), and the decrease of vitamin A around calving. These deficenses could damage immune function as well (NRC, 2001). Endocrine changes are associated with decreased immune function and intake (Goff and Horst, 1997). The results of vitamin A deficiency are abortion, retained placenta, reduced immune function, and mortality (NRC, 2001). β-Carotene would frequently decrease around dry period because of the formation of colostrum and decreased intake (Johnston and Chew, 1984, Michal et al., 1994, Calderón et al., 2007). Graham (1991) suggested 3.0  $\mu$ g/ml of serum  $\beta$ -Carotene as the beneficial level of supplementation (Graham, 1991). LeBlanc et al. (2004) found 75% of serum β-Carotene used in U.S dairy fram was less than 3.0 µg/ml. Additionally, in Canada, researchers found a mean of 1.12  $\mu$ g/ml of serum  $\beta$ -Carotene from 1,828 samples from cows in the peripartum period

(LeBlanc et al., 2002b). Lotthammer and Hoffmann-La Roche (1979) pointed out that the lack of  $\beta$ -Carotene is associated with a low milk fat percentage. Also, cows receiving greater amounts of  $\beta$ -Carotene supplements have lesser chance of having mastitis (Bian et al., 2007). Therefore, maintaining adequate amounts of vitamin A in feed could help to improve production, immunity, and reproduction.

### Effects of early postpartum disease

#### Metabolic disease

The concept of metabolism involves physical and chemical processes occurring in the living cells and the breakdown or synthesis of necessary organic molecules in the body (Payne J. M., 1989). The processes of metabolism release metabolites which can either build or degrade the body (Payne and Payne, 1987). During this process, cells, organs, and systems pull out energy from nutrients and use them to maintain the body's needs (Payne and Payne, 1987). Therefore, the major role of metabolism is to keep the body functioning normally and to support life. Insufficient energy supply increases the incidence rate of metabolic and microbial related diseases, such as milk fever, endometritis, ketosis, displaced abomasum and retained placenta (Drackley, 1999, Duffield, 2000). Around 30% to 50% of dairy cows develop metabolic diseases or infection around calving (LeBlanc, 2010). Milk fever is a complex metabolic disorder that occurs at the beginning of lactation, and it is related to an increased demand for Ca (LeBlanc, 2010). Ketosis occurs when the cow undergoes NEB in early lactation. Retained placenta (**RP**) occurs when the villi of the fetal cotyledons did not separate from the crypts of the maternal caruncle. Left displaced abomasum (LDA) is a common and economically important problem for producers. In LDA, the abomasum becomes enlarged with gas and fluid, it is displaced from the normal position to the left side, between the rumen and the left lateral abdominal wall

(Coppock, 1974). Cows with a metabolic disease struggle to keep up with the metabolic demands during the high production period (Mulligan and Doherty, 2008).

#### Hypocalcemia (Milk fever)

Hypocalcemia, a metabolic disease, involves the imbalance of Ca concentration at the onset of lactation (Goff and Horst, 1997). Hypocalcemia increases the incidence rate of other parturient diseases and reduces immune cells' abilities to respond to stimuli (Kimura et al., 2006). Additionally, hypocalcemia causes the reduced contraction of smooth muscle in the rumen and abomasum which lead to abomasum displacement, thus reduced feed intake (Goff, 2008). Hypocalcemia causes continuous neuromuscular dysfunction with flaccid paralysis, circulatory collapse, and depression (Oetzel, 2011). Therefore, some hypocalcemia cases showed the sign of hyperesthesia and tetany in early stages. Cows with the symptoms would fall into flaccid paralysis, which worsens until the neuromuscular activity is completely blocked (Oetzel, 2011). In order to increase and generate milk yield for offspring, a cow utilizes Ca for fetal growth and milk production by creating a unique physiologic condition (Ramberg et al., 1984). About 75% of hypocalcemia cases occur 24 hours after calving, and 12% occur 24 to 48 hours after calving (Oetzel, 2011). The incidence rate of clinical hypocalcemia is approximately 5% in the United States (McLaren et al., 2006), and about 50% of periparturient cows suffer from subclinical hypocalcemia with low blood calcium concentration without signs. Low blood Ca concentration is measured between 1.38 and 2.0 mmol/L (5.5 to 8.0 mg/dL) (Goff, 2008). Chapinal et al (2011) showed that total serum Ca for hypocalcemia is below 8.5 mg/dL, which is greater than in the previous studies (Kimura et al., 2006, Chapinal et al., 2011).

Older cows have a greater incidence rate of hypocalcemia, because of the reduction in bone Ca capacity (Van Mosel et al., 1993). Reinhardt et al (2011) pointed out that 25% of the

first lactation heifers,41 % of second-lactation cows, and 54% of fifth- or greater lactation cows that their serum Ca decreased to below 8.0 mg/dL after calving (Reinhardt et al., 2011). Economically, subclinical cases cause greater losses than the clinical cases because of the greater incidence rate: four times greater than the clinical cases (Oetzel, 2011). Subclinical hypocalcemia results in cows with reduced DMI after calving, decreased milk production and fertility, and increased risk of secondary disease (Oetzel, 2011). The economic losses of clinical cases of milk fever include deaths (around 8 % of affected cows), premature culling (around 12%), treatment costs, and decreased milk production in the subsequent or current lactation. Milk fever and subclinical milk fever have a high influence on reducing milk production during lactation, and this increases the risk of other metabolic diseases, such as displaced abomasum.

#### Hyperketonemia (Ketosis)

Ketosis is a metabolic disease that increases the concentration of ketone bodies in the blood, urine, milk, and other fluids (Geishauser et al., 1998). In early lactation, ketone body synthesis in ruminants would be regarded as a physiological process (Herdt et al., 1981, Emery et al., 1992). The major ketone bodies are produced in the liver from acetyl-CoA, and include BHBA, acetoacetate, and acetone (Jorritsma et al., 1998, Ballard et al., 2001). The cause of ketosis is the accumulation of ketone bodies in body tissues, and fluid (Andersson, 1988, Nielen et al., 1994). During ketosis in early lactation, which is a common metabolic change, triacylglycerol accumulates and fatty liver develops (Kronfeld et al., 1960, Gröhn and Lindberg, 1985). Ketosis is classified into two categories, clinical and subclinical: clinical ketosis is defined by greater levels of ketone bodies in the blood, urine, and milk, which combine with other visible signs such as weight loss, and decreased feed intake (Duffield et al., 1997b, Geishauser et al., 1998, Jorritsma et al., 1998). Subclinical ketosis is determined by greater levels
of ketone bodies in the blood, urine, and milk as well, but is different from clinical ketosis as it has no visible clinical signs (Andersson, 1988).

Ketosis normally occurs within two months after calving (Gillund et al., 2001), and subclinical ketosis is a common disease of the transition period in the dairy cattle: about 40 % of lactating cows are affected (McArt et al., 2012a). Ketosis is related to the decrease in milk production, the high incidence rate of left displaced abomasum, metritis, mastitis, cystic ovaries, and resumption of postpartum luteal function (Dohoo and Martin, 1984a, Correa et al., 1993). A threshold value to test blood serum for BHBA for clinical ketosis is greater than 1,400 µmol/L, and subclinical ketosis threshold is 1,200 µmol/L (Duffield et al., 1997b, Geishauser et al., 2001, Oetzel, 2004). Additionally, the economic losses in dairy industry from ketosis are high because of the decreased milk production and lowered reproductive efficiency, which increases involuntary culling and veterinary cost (Geishauser et al., 1998). In order to reduce economic losses, early detection of subclinical ketosis is crucial for the treatment of individual cows and improvement of their diets (Enjalbert et al., 2001). The clinical ketosis incidence rate is 2% to 15% (Erb and Grohn, 1988b, Østergaard and Gröhn, 2000), and the incidence rate of subclinical ketosis is 40%, with about 10% of cases showing signs of central nervous disorders. The economic losses of ketosis are decreased milk production, conception rate, intake, rumen contraction and weight loss, and increased culling rate (Reist et al., 2000).

#### Displaced abomasum (DA)

Displaced abomasum could be on either the left side of abdominal or the dorsal to the right side of the abdominal. If it is on the left side, it is called left displaced abomasum (LDA) and if it is the right side it would be right displaced abomasum (RDA): normally 80 to 90% of displaced abomasum are on the left side (Guard, 1990). Right displaced abomasum can twist the

abomasum which leads to the obstruction of the flow of abomasum digestion and interferes with the blood flow to abomasum (Parish, 2011). Normally 80% of DA occur one month after calving (Parish, 2011). Left displaced abomasum occurs when the abomasum expands with fluid, gas, or both (Coppock, 1974).

In late pregnancy, most of dairy cows experience decreasing intake, decreasing rumen volume, and the uterus pushing against the rumen which will make the abomasum go toward the left side rather than normal position (Niehaus, 2008). The factors that cause DA could be fetus gender, age, season of year (Coppock, 1974, Constable et al., 1992), parity, breed (Erb and Martin, 1978), birth of twins (Markusfeld, 1986), stillbirth (Markusfeld, 1986), dystocia, diseases, and diet (Curtis et al., 1985, Markusfeld, 1986, Correa et al., 1993). In addition, having NEB around time of calving increases the risk of DA (Cameron et al., 1998). The decrease of intake that results in NEB would slow build up after calving (Goff, 2006a). According to Kelton, in studies published between 1982 and 1995, the median incidence rate of LDA was 1.7% in 22 studies. More recent studies show that the incidence rate of LDA has increased from 1% to 7% over ten years (LeBlanc et al., 2005b). There is an association between subclinical ketosis (serum BHBA  $\geq$  1400µmol/L) and increased risk of LDA in the first two weeks postpartum (Geishauser et al., 2001). The risk of LDA increases while serum BHBA is greater than 1.2 mmol/L, NEFA greater than 0.8 mmol/L, and Ca less than 2.2 mmol/L, respectively (LeBlanc et al., 2005b, Roberts et al., 2012b). Additionally, DA is one of the economically important diseases in early lactation cows because of the cost of treatment, culling, lost production, and death (Detilleux et al., 1997). Current treatment per case ranges from \$100 to \$200, and 10% of the herd diagnosed with DA either die or are culled (Gröhn et al., 1998). Further, cows treated with DA produce 350 kg less milk than cows without DA (Gröhn et al., 1998).

#### Metritis

Metritis is a postpartum disease, which involves the growth of unhealthy bacteria in the deep layer and lining of the uterus after cows calve. Metritis severely impacts the future reproductive performance of dairy cows (Sheldon et al., 2009). It is present as an inflammation of the uterus with signs of sickness, which include fever and foul-smelling, red-brown, watery uterus discharge (Sheldon et al., 2006). Normally metritis occurs in the first week after calving. After calving, the uterine environment becomes the ideal place to support the growth of the variety of aerobic and anaerobic bacteria (Sheldon et al., 2008). The incidence rate of metritis is 10.1% to 65.5% in dairy cows (Borsberry and Dobson, 1989). Based on the pathophysiology, researchers found metritis in cows with high NEFA concentration in serum, BHBA serum, serum concentration of Haptoglobin (**Hp**), and low DMI (Hammon et al., 2006). Also, a high concentration of Hp was proven to increase the risk of metritis (Smith et al., 1998, Sheldon et al., 2001, Huzzey et al., 2007).

The factors that increases risks of metritis are dystocia, twins, retained placenta, stillbirth, and abortion (Gröhn et al., 1990, Correa et al., 1993, Kaneene and Miller, 1995). This disease profoundly affects dairy cows in three ways: by reducing milk production, reducing reproduction performance, and shortening longevity, which increases culling rate (Gröhn et al., 2003). The uterine disease affects the time of return to ovarian cyclicity (Sheldon and Dobson, 2004). Early studies showed that the cost to dairy producer with uterine infection was \$106 (Bartlett et al., 1986). Uterine infection could have a big impact on the profitability of the dairy industry (Lewis, 1997). Cows with severe metritis tend to have decreased feed intake, typically 2 to 6 kg less than sound cows 2 to 3weeks prior to exhibiting the clinical signs of metritis (Huzzey et al., 2007). For early metritis detection, amount of time eating and day matter intake could be a variable for

the producer to use, the cow with reduce amount of time eating and dry matter intake before calving would have a greater incidence of metritis (Urton et al., 2005a, Huzzey et al., 2007).

## **Endometritis**

Endometritis is also a uterine inflammation which occurs after 20 days in milk, diagnosed based on the clinical or cytological signs, and reduces reproductive performance (Dubuc et al., 2010). Unlike metritis, endometritis infects the localized lining of uterus instead of the deeper layers of the uterus, evidenced by white pus mixed with mucus discharged from the uterus into the vagina (Sheldon et al., 2008). Subclinical endometritis is an inflammation of the uterus without systemic illness signs and is defined by purulent or mucopurulent discharge or cervical diameter greater than 7.5 cm after 20 days postpartum (LeBlanc et al., 2002a). Cytological endometritis has a high proportion of polymorphonuclear cells (PMN) found in endometrial cytology samples (Kasimanickam et al., 2004), low-volume uterine lavage (Gilbert et al., 2005), or biopsy samples (Bonnett et al., 1993). Subclinical endometritis is defined by the presence of leukocytes within the uterine lumen but without clinical signs of endometritis (Földi et al., 2006).

Endometritis is associated with decreased intake, NEB, and disturbed immune function (Urton et al., 2005a, Hammon et al., 2006, Huzzey et al., 2007). Endometritis could affect reproductive efficiency, culling rate, milk discard, labor, as well as increased cost of treatment. The risk factors of endometritis are RP, twins, dystocia, parity, and season (Markusfeld, 1987, Gröhn et al., 1990, LeBlanc et al., 2002b). Evidence indicates that increased NEFA, BHBA and decreased DMI could be associated with endometritis (Hammon et al., 2006). Increasing Hp concentration in early lactation was linked to increasing the incidence of endometritis (LeBlanc et al., 2002a). Metabolic disorders such as DA, hypocalcemia, and ketosis are associated with the

incidence rate of endometritis (Markusfeld, 1987, Correa et al., 1993, Whiteford and Sheldon, 2005).

#### Retained placenta (RP)

Retained placenta occurs when the placenta fails to pass within 24 hours of live birth (Kelton et al., 1998). Normally, 95% of cows pass their placenta within 12 hours (Van Werven et al., 1992). If RP occurs, the placenta would be retained for seven days on average (Eiler, 1997). Kelton et al. (1998) showed that the mean incidence rate of RP in 50 studies was 8.6% (Kelton et al., 1998), and also mentioned that the risk factors of RP are twins, dystocia, stillborn calf, abortion, milk fever, and older age (Sandals et al., 1979, Correa et al., 1993, Gröhn and Rajala-Schultz, 2000). The cause of RP is the cotyledon-caruncles, which detaches after delivery, and fails to breakdown (LeBlanc, 2008). Other causes of RP are uterine motility (<2% of cases), physical damage such as birth complication, caesarean section, or twisted uterus. These can cause the edema of chorionic villi, and uterine infections caused the cellular dysfunction and necrosis, and more (McNaughton and Murray, 2009, Drillich, 2011).

When cows have greater NEB during prepartum, and thus greater NEFA level, they were 80% more likely to have RP; additionally, lower levels of vitamin E also creates a greater risk of RP (LeBlanc et al., 2004). Seifi et al (2007) found that cows with RP have greater serum concentration of NEFA and BHBA, and low serum concentration of vitamin E and calcium (Seifi et al., 2007). The intracellular Ca plays a crucial part in dairy cows and is linked to hypocalcemia and immune function (Kimura et al., 2006). However, passing the placenta is related to a decrease in the immune system during the end of pregnancy. RP is also related to metritis and endometritis, which impact the reproductive system. The issue has been reported to have a huge economic impact because it can cause other reproductive and productive problems

(Laven and Peters, 1996, Trevisi et al., 2008, Dubuc et al., 2010). The average cost of RP per case, which includes treatment cost, milk loss, and prolonging days open, is around \$285 (Kelton et al., 1998). Around 7.8% of RP cases (range 1.3% to 39.2%) economically impact US dairy cows (Kelton et al., 1998). However, a concentration of NEFA greater than 500  $\mu$ Eq/L was pointed out as indicator of RP (LeBlanc et al., 2004, Ospina et al., 2010, Chapinal et al., 2011).

# Body condition score (BCS) change

In order to provide nutrients for the neonate, mammals metabolize fat and muscle for a period of time after giving birth (Roche et al., 2009). Likewise, to nurture the newborn calf, a dairy cow loses body condition from her tissue stores, for about 40 to 100 days after calving before making up the lost tissue (Bauman and Currie, 1980, Friggens et al., 2004, Roche et al., 2006, Roche et al., 2007, Roche et al., 2009). Body weight could be a variable to indicate body reserves, but body weight alone is not a good indicator. Body weight is affected by parity, stage of lactation, frame size, gestation, and breed (Stockdale, 2001, Berry et al., 2006b). Due to tissue mobilization in early lactation, feed intake increases, but the weight of body tissue decreases. This can be observed by gastrointestinal fill. Thus, body weight changes do not precisely reflect changes in weights of adipose and lean tissue (Berry et al., 2006a, Roche et al., 2006, Roche et al., 2007). Frequent body weight measurement could overcome this issue, but for accuracy adipose and lean tissue measuremedments, body condition score (BCS) is needed (Thorup et al., 2012). Body condition is the ratio of a body's fat and nonfat components (Murray, 1919a). Body condition score varies between countries, but the low score always represents thin cows, and high score indicates obese cows. Most of the metabolic diseases relate to BCS losses, inadequate nutrition, or failure to process the change from calving to lactation. The BCS around calving and the amount of BCS loss is associated with milk production, reproduction, and health. Days to

first service changed from 1.6 d to -5.2 d for cows with a decrease in BCS greater than 1.0, respectively (Pryce et al., 2001). The BCS is an easy and reliable method to assess the nutrition status and feed system for dairy producers (Edmonson et al., 1989, Chamberlain and Wilkinson, 1996).

#### **Precision dairy monitoring (PDM)**

Precision dairy monitoring (**PDM**) technologies measure physiological or behavioral production in individual animals as an indicator to help dairy farmers improve management strategies and overall efficiency (Bewley, 2010). These variables include daily milk yield, number of steps, temperature, milk conductivity, and body weight which can help producers monitor each cow (Bewley, 2010). Since these variables can be monitored, producers can improve their farm performance, management, and efficiency by using PDM technologies (El-Osta and Morehart, 2000). Devices were developed to measure a health indicator, and devices could be in or on an individual cow (Hogeveen et al., 2010).

Sensors fall into two categories, attached and non-attached. Attached sensors would be the sensor on or inside the cow's body. Non-attached sensors would be off a cow's body measuring as a cow walks past or through the devices, or a sample taken to run an analysis. The developed sensor systems are divided into four different levels, (**I**) capability of measuring behavior about the cow (e.g. activity); (**II**) interpreting and summarizing the change of sensor data (e.g. increase in activity) in order to provide information of cow status (e.g. estrus); (**III**) combining information (e.g. economic information) and produce advice (e.g. whether to inseminate a cow or not); (**IV**) making decision autonomously of producers or sensors (e.g. the inseminator is called) (Rutten et al., 2013). The Web of Science database indicated that from January 2002 to June 2012, most studies concerned the detection of mastitis (25%), fertility

(33%), and locomotion problem (30%), but comparatively few studies (16%) related to the detection of metabolic problems (Rutten et al., 2013).

Recently, technologies have been improved and perform better; there are more variables and monitor systems on the market. So, dairy producers have more options to implement in their own farming system. But few of them understand the information that technologies provide (Russell and Bewley, 2013). In other words, dairy producers have a little understanding about technologies that are available and how best to adapt their system. Around 25% of US farmers are aware that technologies are not adapted well, but only 5% of them are adapting some aspects of the technologies (Daberkow and McBride, 2003).

However, the best indicators are those with both high sensitivity and high specificity. The accuracy test should rarely show false positives (type I error; test shows positive when the animal is actually healthy) or false negatives (type II error; test shows negative when the animal is actually sick) (Weary et al., 2009). The high accuracy combined with high sensitivity (the ratio of true positives to the total of true positives and false negatives), and high specificity (the ratio of true negatives to the total of false positives and true negatives), can lead to identifying sick animals correctly. (Weary et al., 2009).

The trend of technologies being applied in the dairy industry is unstoppable and moving toward larger farms. The trend of the technologies is a big impact of structural advancement (Cochrane, 1965, Musser and White, 1975). The innovative technologies involved in the dairy industry, and influences financial opportunities, innovations, and potential capital (Boehlje, 1992). To have PDM is an important investment and a challenge for producers to implement and might be used for several years (Borchers and Bewley, 2015). In order to choose a PDM, producers take long-term decision making (Boehlje and Schiek, 1998), financial scale and

demographic in consideration (Khanal et al., 2010). In order to build up a well- managed and efficient environment, this study will help producers to understand the importance of the information that technologies provide. This could benefit producer profits and cows well-being. For producers, technologies can detect low physical activity, low feed intake or low temperature, which are the sign of sickness. For economic purposes, using technologies can help producers find ailing cows, and reduce possible medical treatment cost. Easy access to this data could help them understand about cows' health status sooner. In order to prevent transition cow diseases, PDM could be an important tool for reducing the loss or cost of treatment. More research is necessary, but for cow health and management, more technologies will become available. In the future, producers will have smart ways to manage their herds.

#### Automated detection of health

Metabolic disorders have a major impact in transition cows that affect their future performance. During this time cow's experience a series of changes in nutrition, physiology, and social environment, which leave cows vulnerable and developing metabolic diseases (Goff and Horst, 1997). Economic losses increase because of premature culling, decreased milk yield or milk quality, and increased treatment or labor (González et al., 2008). Traditional methods for detecting diseases are visual observation followed by additional tests, using blood, urine, or milk sample (Sepulveda-Varas et al., 2014b). It is unclear which indicators are the best reflection of metabolic disorders (Rutten et al., 2013). Weary et al. (2009) explained that changing behavior can point out pain and illnesses which are related to health, and could also predict the risk for diseases. These indicators could be positive, such as an increased frequency when cows are sick, or negative, such as a decreased frequency when cows are ill (Weary et al., 2009). Take feeding behavior as an example, the cow with the onset of ketosis, acute locomotion problems, and

lameness changes their feeding behavior (González et al., 2008). Further, the radio frequency technology could identify a sick cow 4 days earlier than visual detection by measuring the time spent at the feed bunk (Quimby et al., 2001).

Health could be detected by behavioral signs— inconsistent feeding, drinking, and a decrease in activity (Weary et al., 2009). These variables could help producers understand a cow's health status instantly. In turn, early detection of the signs that indicate illnesses, or physiological and behavioral changes, could help to reduce the loss of milk yield and treatment costs. In this decade, the increase of milk yield and subsequent production stress raise the incidence rate of having disease (Fleischer et al., 2001). Although veterinary treatment and management have become more efficient, the early detection of sick animals could improve animal welfare and reduce costs of treatment (González et al., 2008). Research showed that daily monitoring of ruminating, eating, and activity could assist with individual cows' health and productivity (Liboreiro et al., 2015b). There are several technologies that have been developed on the market: activity (Roelofs et al., 2005), feeding (Rutter et al., 1997, Kononoff et al., 2002), and rumination monitors (Schirmann et al., 2009a, Burfeind et al., 2011a, Goldhawk et al., 2013). Therefore, PDM technologies could help aid decision making and improve producers' profit and production (Van Asseldonk et al., 1999).

#### Activity, steps, lying time and lying bouts

In the last several decades, animal behavior has been linked with animal health (Fox, 1968). The discussion has changed to recognize and solve the problems of animal behavior (McKeown and Luescher, 1988). Several technologies are able to detect the behavioral changes by different animal movement. Activity monitors attached around the neck are one example, such as Alpro (DeLeval, Sweden), Heatime (SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel), HeatPhone

(Medria, Châteaubourg, France), and MooMonitor (DairyMaster, Tralee, Ireland). Standing and lying time monitors attached to the leg, such as IceTag3D (IceRobotics Ltd, Edinburgh, Scotland), AfiAct Pedometer Plus (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel), CowScout S Leg (Gea Farm Technologies GmbH, Bönen, Germany), and IceQube (IceRobotics Ltd, Edinburgh, Scotland) are the main examples of today's activity monitoring systems (Jónsson et al., 2011). Physical injuries and diseases can lead to body malfunctions whether cows feel sick or not. And their physical clumsiness could be hard to distinguish from feeling ill (Huzzey et al., 2014b).

Researchers contend that many behavioral signs shown by sick animals indicate the start of an action to fight off disease (Hart, 1988, Dantzer, 2004). Behavior is a crucial indicator that is affected by energy expenditure. Huzzey et al. (2014a) indicated that behavior declines could provide a long-term observation method, and body temperature could provide the short-term. Monitoring standing time for early of detection illness in dairy cows has been developed. Ill cows increase resting time to conserve energy for fever response and activation of the immune system instead of eating and engaging in normal activities (Hart, 1988). Lying behavior could vary by stage of lactation, for example, lying time and lying bouts would increase as DIM increases (Munksgaard et al., 2005, Vasseur et al., 2012, Ito et al., 2014) and decrease as cows produce more milk (Fregonesi and Leaver, 2001, Norring et al., 2012). Further, lying behavior could be affected by health, for example, and lame cows would have longer lying time and lying bouts (Chapinal et al., 2009, Ito et al., 2010). However, lying time could benefit cows recovering from illness (Hart, 1988, Johnson, 2002). Researchers indicated that the average lying time for a cow is approximately 12 to 13 hours per day, which is the target for a lactating dairy cow in the freestall housing (Drissler et al., 2005, Fregonesi et al., 2007, Gomez and Cook, 2010). Changes in standing and lying behavior could be useful for detection of health problems in the transition

period, such as lameness (Proudfoot et al., 2010, Calderon and Cook, 2011a), dystocia (Proudfoot et al., 2009), and subclinical hypocalcemia (Jawor et al., 2012a).

#### Body and rumen temperature

Poikalainen et al. (2012) and Risco et al. (2005) suggested that temperature could be used to identify cows' illnesses and estimate their physiological status. Many different diseases affect dairy cow physiology, such as metritis, mastitis, acidosis, retained placenta, left placed abomasum, hypocalcemia, and lameness (Kelton et al., 1998, Kristula et al., 2001, Adams et al., 2013). Among these diseases, metritis, mastitis, and lameness have been proven to increase body temperature above normal (Schutz and Bewley, 2009). Researchers, producers, and veterinarians agree that using rectal temperature to monitor health and disease could be a successful tool (Risco et al., 2005). Rectal temperature is the most common approach for dairy producers to classify and monitor sick cows because the operation is easy and the cost is low (Hicks et al., 2001, Aalseth, 2005, Burfeind et al., 2010). Continuously measuring rectal temperature 5 to 10 days after calving could easily catch the cow that needs attention. Most importantly, this operation has been integrated into fresh cow management and disease prevention (Kristula et al., 2001). Studies showed that the threshold value for body temperature is 39.4 to 39.7 °C (Smith and Risco, 2005, Benzaquen et al., 2007, Wagner et al., 2007). All of these diseases would cause economic losses to dairy producers by reducing milk yield, increasing veterinary treatment costs, and increasing culling rate (LeBlanc et al., 2002a, Juarez et al., 2003).

Rumen temperature is a remote method for monitoring a cow's core temperature by a rumen bolus. Comparatively, rumen temperature is easy to use and is less labor intensive. A rumen bolus is given to a cow orally using a bolus gun. After a bolus is placed, no other labor is needed. The bolus stays in the cow's rumen and transmits temperature information continuously

(Adams et al., 2013). According to researchers, there was no significant difference between body temperature readings obtained by rectal temperature or the implanted sensors (Hicks et al., 2001). Also, there was a strong correlation between rectal temperature and reticulum temperature (r = 0.645), reticulum temperature was approximately  $0.45 \pm 0.33^{\circ}$ C greater than rectal temperature (Bewley et al., 2008a). However, ambient temperature, stage of lactation, estrus, feed and water intake, and overall health of the cow would affect reticulum temperature (Wrenn et al., 1960, Lefcourt et al., 1999, Bewley et al., 2008b, Schutz and Bewley, 2009). Overall, using temperature could benefit both producers and cows.

#### Milk and blood levels

Homeorhetic mechanisms change dramatically during peripartum, in order to meet the demands of mammary gland for milk production (Bauman and Currie, 1980). So during the transition period, cows are prone to develop possible metabolic diseases, such as hypocalcemia (Mulligan and Doherty, 2008). In study by Fourichon et al. (1999), they indicated metabolic and digestive disorders affect milk yield. Also, these metabolic disorders influence cows' health and production in the lactation period. Goff (2008) showed that the decrease of milk yield after calving is related to the occurrence of health disorder following metabolic stress. However Rajala-Schultz et al. (1999) found that before a diagnosis of clinical ketosis, milk yield decreased and continually fell for at least two weeks after diagnosis. Further, according to researchers, cows lose 4 to 10 kg milk per day with clinical ketosis, and 1 to 3 kg per day with subclinical ketosis (King, 1978, Dohoo and Martin, 1984b, Deluyker et al., 1991a). With a diagnosis of LDA 250 to 800 kg milk is lost during 305 days of lactation (Martin et al., 1978, Deluyker et al., 1991a). Therefore, measuring daily milk production in the first few weeks of lactation could help to determine if the cow is suffering health problems or not. A decrease in

milk production often points out clinical diseases. Daily milk yield measurement combined with activity monitoring could be useful for early detection of cows' health problems (Edwards and Tozer, 2004a).

The concentration of NEFA, BHBA, and glucose responded to the adaptation of energy balance (LeBlanc, 2006). Monitoring NEFA in the week before calving and the first week after calving could help detect displaced abomasum (Cameron et al., 1998, LeBlanc, 2006, Ospina et al., 2010). Additionally, elevated NEFA before calving could be related to retained placenta and uterine diseases (LeBlanc et al., 2004, Hammon et al., 2006, Quiroz-Rocha et al., 2010a). For detection of post calving disorder, prepartum NEFA level with the highest sensitivity and spceificity was from 0.3 mEq/L to 0.5 mEq/L (Ospina et al., 2010, Chapinal et al., 2011, Roberts et al., 2012a). The postpartum NEFA level to predict health problem is 0.07 to 1.0 mEq/L (LeBlanc et al., 2005b, Ospina et al., 2010, Roberts et al., 2012b), but the thresholds were different by the different stages of lactation, and different type of disease. So depending on the disease, the cut point varies. Although, the threshold being debated provide an idea for producers to identify cows with a NEB.

Blood BHBA at the first week after calving could be associated with displaced abomasum (Cameron et al., 1998, LeBlanc, 2006, Ospina et al., 2010), and ketosis. According to LeBlanc et al. (2005a) at BHBA concentrations greater than 1.2 mmol/dl, the chance to have subclinical ketosis is greater. BHBA cut point is still being debated, but the recent studies show that at BHBA levels greater than 1.4 mmol/dl, the possibility to develop metabolic disorder would be greater (Duffield, 2000, LeBlanc et al., 2005c, Walsh et al., 2007, Ospina et al., 2010, Roberts et al., 2012b). However, several studies showed that the Ca level in blood is different by age and stage of lactation. Serum concentration of Ca around cow calving always decreases

below 2.0 mM (8.0 mg/dL). Normal Ca concentration in healthy mid-lactation cows is 2.1 to 2.8 mmol/L (8.5 and 10 mg/dL), but is less during the week after calving, < 2mmol/L (8 mg/dL) (Goff, 2008). The percent of cows with low Ca levels variers by parity: 25% of heifers, 41% of second lactation cows and up to 54% of fifth lactation cows (Reinhardt et al., 2011).

#### Rumination time and feeding behavior

Dry matter intake, rumination time and feeding time are important variables for detecting illness. In order to increase milk production, energy requirements must be met. Researchers indicated that disturbances of fermentation and rumen activity can lead to subclinical and clinical diseases (Nocek, 1997, Maekawa et al., 2002). Consistently monitoring feeding behavior is a tool for tracking the health status of the whole herd or individual cows (Hansen et al., 2003). During the transition period, cows experience decreased feed intake and NEB. So, early detection of disease is the goal for producers. Urton et al (2005) indicated that feed intake during this time is crucial. Weary et al. (2009) found that ill animals appeared depressed, lethargic, or off feed. Cows which have lesser intake have a high possibility to be diagnosed with metabolic and infectious disease (Urton et al., 2005a). For dairy cows, the time spent eating and the pattern of meals could affect intake (Grant et al., 2000). Therefore, changes in intake and feeding behavior are good indicators for researchers to use to understand dairy nutrition (DeVries et al., 2003).

Rumination is a natural behavior for cows utilized to break down the feed particle size and create a greater concentration of bacteria for fermentation (Russell and Rychlik, 2001). Rumination also helps to increase saliva secretion and to improve rumen function by using saliva as a buffer (Soriani et al., 2012). Rumination is associated with health in dairy cows (Radostits et al., 2006). Lately, it has been applied to assessing dairy cows' acute stressors (Bristow and Holmes, 2007, Burfeind et al., 2011b) and diseases (DeVries et al., 2003). But, rumination

monitored by visual observation (Krause et al., 1998, Couderc et al., 2006) or from video (Lindström et al., 2001) is labor intensive and can only monitor a few cows at once. So, scientists and researchers built a monitoring device that can determine rumination by jaw movement, which is attached to or inside a halter (Luginbuhl et al., 1987, Matsui and Okubo, 1991, Dado and Allen, 1993). These devices help the producer monitor rumination remotely. Many studies show that jaw movement is related to chewing and ruminating (Beauchemin et al., 1989, Matsui and Okubo, 1991, Dado and Allen, 1993). Less rumination time during the first 10 days in milk would indicate a cow prone to health disorders (Soriani et al., 2012).

#### CONCLUSIONS

Early detection of diseases would be a crucial improvement to reduce dairy cows' treatment cost and stress. In the market, precision dairy technologies are available for monitoring and detecting behavior as it relates to disease. Many factors could influence the accuracy of the detection system, such as management, environment (Lightning, wild animals, and storms) etc. Every herd's management and environment are different and specific. The behavior of cows would be the easiest way to detect diseases; however, other variables measured by precision dairy technologies may provide efficiently detect illness as well.

# **CHAPTER TWO**

# Differences in behavioral and physiological variables measured with precision dairy monitoring technologies associated with postpartum diseases

I.C. Tsai<sup>\*</sup>, L.M. Mayo<sup>\*</sup>, B.W. Jones<sup>\*</sup>, A.E. Stone<sup>\*</sup>, D. L. Ray<sup>\*</sup>, J.D. Clark<sup>\*</sup>, H. M. White<sup>†</sup>, S. A. Janse<sup>‡</sup>, Y. M. Chang<sup>§</sup>, and J.M. Bewley<sup>\*</sup>

\*University of Kentucky, Lexington, Kentucky 40546, Department of Animal and Food Sciences †University of Wisconsin-Madison Department of Dairy Science

<sup>‡</sup>Department of Statistics, University of Kentucky, Lexington, 40546

<sup>§</sup>Research Support Office, The Royal Veterinary College, London, United Kingdom

#### ABSTRACT

Precision dairy monitoring (PDM) technologies are used to measure physiological, behavioral, and production variables on individual animals to improve management strategies and farm performance. The objective of this study was to assess PDM measured variable effects on 3 transition cow diseases: metritis (MET), hyperketonemia (KET), and hypocalcemia (CAL). The PDM variables included: lying time (AfiAct Pedometer Plus, Track a))) cow, IceQube, SmartBow), step count (AfiAct Pedometer Plus, Track a))) cow, IceQube), lying bouts (AfiAct Pedometer Plus, Track a))) cow, IceQube), rumination time (HR tag, CowManager SensoOr, SmartBow), eating time (CowManager SensoOr), time at the feed bunk (Track a))) cow), reticulorumen temperature (DVM bolus), milk yield (AfiMilk MCP), milk conductivity (AfiMilk MCP), milk fat % (AfiLab), milk protein % (AfiLab), milk fat:protein (AfiLab), milk lactose % (AfiLab), and body weight (AfiWeigh). A physical examination was conducted for MET at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 17, 19, and 21 DIM using a MetriCheck device. A scoring system of 1 to 3 was used (Sterrett et al., 2014) with a score  $\geq 2$  classified as MET. A blood sample was collected on 3, 7, 14, and 21 DIM for detection of KET ( $\beta$ -hydroxybutyrate concentration  $\geq 1.2$  mmol/L of blood) and CAL (calcium concentration  $\leq$  8.6 mg/dL of blood serum). The relationships between each technology variable and disease status were analyzed individually using the MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3. Variables were compared with disease status (Yes (Y) or No (N)) for MET, KET, or CAL. Through the MIXED procedure, variables that were significant predictors of MET, KET, or CAL, DIM was as a covariate. For days with significant differences in cows with diseases (P < 0.05), MET cows experienced greater milk fat (Y: 4.42  $\pm 0.10$  vs. N: 3.95  $\pm 0.12$  %/d), greater fat: protein (Y:  $1.35 \pm 0.05$  vs. N:  $1.18 \pm 0.09$  fat:protein), lesser step count (Y:  $2,125 \pm 1,215$  vs. N: 2,689  $\pm$  1,637 steps/d), and lesser rumination time (Y: 473  $\pm$  29 vs. N: 537  $\pm$  35 min/d). For

days with significant differences (P < 0.05), KET cows experienced greater lying time (Y: 10.9 ± 1.7 vs. N: 9.8 ± 1.6 h/d), greater milk fat (Y: 4.44 ± 0.26 vs. N: 4.14 ± 0.25 %/d), greater body weight in multiparous cows (Y: 750 ± 18 vs. N: 710 ± 12 kg), lesser step count (Y: 3,137 ± 121 vs. N: 3,685 ± 72 steps/d), lesser neck activity (Y: 359 ± 13 vs. N: 407 ± 16 units of movement/d), lesser rumination time (Y: 471 ± 34 vs. N: 520 ± 40 min/d), and lesser milk yield (Y: 31.4 ± 3.8 vs. N: 37.8 ± 4.3 kg/d). For days with significant differences (P < 0.05), CAL cows experienced greater lying time (Y: 9.4 ± 1.0 vs. N: 8.2 ± 1.1 h/d), greater fat:protein (Y: 1.37 ± 0.05 vs. N: 1.25 ± 0.05 fat:protein), lesser step count (Y: 2,490 ± 1,097 vs. N: 2,856 ± 1,180 steps/d), lesser neck activity (Y: 376 ± 19 vs. N: 447 ± 15 units of movement/d), lesser rumination time (Y: 485 ± 37 vs. N: 531 ± 31 min/d), lesser milk yield for primiparous cows (Y: 22.6 ± 4.0 vs. N: 26.3 ± 4.1 h/d), and lesser milk yield for multiparous cows (Y: 32.8 ± 5.4 vs. N: 37.3 ± 4.7 kg/d). Dairy producers could use PDM variables to identify transition cows for closer examination or treatment of MET, KET, and CAL.

Key words: transition cow, precision dairy monitoring (PDM), metabolic disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcemia, metritis

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The transition period is defined as the three weeks before and three weeks after the cow calves. Transition cow diseases are considered production diseases. Metabolic disease, a specific type of production disease, reflects a cow' inability to meet metabolic demands. Negative energy balance (**NEB**) occurs in the early stages of lactation, when cows tend to mobilize body fat reserves to balance insufficient energy (Ingvartsen and Andersen, 2000, Drackley et al., 2001). The metabolic, immune, and endocrine systems dramatically change which makes cows more susceptible to disease (Bernabucci et al., 2005, Sordillo et al., 2009, Ospina et al., 2010).

Adaptations in energy, protein, and mineral metabolism are keys to a successful transition into a new lactation (Bell, 1995, Grummer, 1995, Horst et al., 1997, Drackley, 1999, Drackley et al., 2001). Maintaining proper nutrition and management improves dairy cow health, fertility, and productivity, which allows producers to save on labor and increase profitability (Mulligan and Doherty, 2008). Systematic observations may provide accurate and efficient indicators of transition diseases.

Precision dairy monitoring (**PDM**) technologies measure physiological, behavioral, production variables on individual animals. The technology allows dairy farmers to improve management strategies and overall efficiency (Bewley, 2010). De Koning (2010) reported that producers who used PDM could save 29% on labor; especially on large dairies. Sensors have been developed with the capability to measure variables for individual cows (Rutten et al., 2013). Variables include: daily milk yield, lying time, number of steps, body temperature, milk components, milk electrical conductivity, milk color sensors (Grummer, 1995), acceleration sensors (Bertics et al., 1992, Rukkwamsuk et al., 1999a, Sato et al., 1999), pH sensors (Adewuyi et al., 2005), and body weight (Bewley, 2010).

Behavioral signs could be used in the detection of various health problems. These signs could include inconsistent feeding, drinking, and activity. Easy access to frequently recorded data could help to understand a cow's health status. Increased resting time may be indicative of disease, as ill cows prioritize rest over other activities such as eating in order to conserve energy for the fever response (Hart, 1988, Dantzer, 2004). Cows' reactions and behaviors are crucial indicators of their energy expenditure (Hart, 1988). Decreased rumination (Calamari et al., 2014), activity (Titler et al., 2015), and feeding behavior (Bikker et al., 2014), and increased temperature, rumen temperature (AlZahal et al., 2009), number of steps, and lying time (Sepulveda-Varas et al., 2014a) may be signs that aid in the detection of metabolic diseases.

The objective of this study was to assess different commercial PDM that measured variables potentially affected by hypocalcemia, hyperketonemia, and metritis. Understanding and assessing how these variables change relative to disease may help determine how PDM measured variables could be applied as disease indicators.

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

This experiment was part of a larger study designed to quantify physiological and behavioral changes associated with mastitis, lameness, estrus, and postpartum diseases, using multiple PDM. All studies were performed with the approval of the University of Kentucky Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC protocol number: 2013-1199). *Animal, Feeding, and Housing* 

One hundred and thirty-eight lactating Holstein cows at the University of Kentucky Coldstream Dairy (Lexington, KY, USA) were enrolled in this study from June 2014 to October 2015. Cows were enrolled in the protocol after they calved. Lactating cows were housed in two freestall barns, one barn with 54 dual chamber waterbeds (Advanced Comfort technology, Inc., Reedsburg, WI) and the other equipped with 54 rubber-filled mattresses, both surfaces covered with sawdust. Prepartum cattle were housed in a 9.15 x 21.34 m straw bedded-pack with constant access to 3.64 hectares of pasture. A total mixed ration was delivered once daily to dry cows. Before and throughout the study, cows were balanced between barns by DIM and parity. Calving dates, breeding dates, and DIM were obtained from PCDART management software (Dairy Records Management Systems, Raleigh, NC). Parity ranged from 1 to 7. The mean parity for the herd was  $2.10 \pm 1.27$ . Percent of cows in parities 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 were 37%, 37%, 10%, 10%, 2%, 2%, and 2%, respectively. A weather station (HOBO U23 Pro v2 External Temperature/Relative Humidity Data Logger - U23-002, Onset, Bourne, MA) was located inside each freestall barn that measured relative humidity and temperature every 15 minutes. Temperature humidity index (**THI**) was computed using the following formula (NOAA and Administration, 1976): THI = temperature ( $^{0}$ F) - [0.55 – (0.55 × relative humidity/100)] × [temperature ( $^{0}$ F) – 58.8].

Cows were provided ad libitum access to water in each barn and shared a feedbunk between barns. Lactating cows were fed the same ration at 0600 and 1330 daily. Dry cows were fed a different ration at 0600 once daily. The lactating diet consisted of forage, alfalfa hay, mineral and vitamin supplement, concentrate mix, whole cottonseed, and alfalfa haylage. Dry cow diet consisted of Orchard grass hay, cotton seed, mineral mix, wheat straw, biochlor, and hay. Cows were milked two times per d at 0430 and 1530.

#### Fresh cow exam

Cows were monitored every day after morning milking from 0700 to 0900 for the first 21 d of lactation. Rectal temperature and behavioral score were monitored daily for the first 21 DIM (Figure 2.1). Rectal temperature was measured with a GLA thermometer (GLA Agricultural

Electronics, San Luis Obispo, CA). Cows were measured while standing still in the freestall barn. A MetriCheck (Simcro Tech Ltd, Hamilton, New Zealand) device (50- cm-long stainless steel rod with a 4-cm hemisphere of silicon at the end for vaginal insertion) was used to obtain a uterine discharge sample and scored on 3, 5, 7, 9, 11, 14, 17, 19, and 21 DIM (Figure 2.1). A uterine discharge scoring system (Sterrett et al., 2014) was used, based on visual appearance of sample; score 1: thick, viscous discharge, clear, opaque or red to brown in color, no odor or mild, non-offensive odor; score 2: white or yellow pus, moderate to thick discharge, mild odor; score 3: pink, red, dark red, or black watery discharge, detectable offensive odor, possibly intolerable. Cows with at least one uterine discharge score  $\geq 2$  were classified as clinical metritis cases. *Blood samples* 

β-carotene level from blood plasma was collected once from a range of  $15 \pm 5$  d before calving, and at 3 DIM (Figure 2.1). β-carotene was measured using iCheck (ROVIMIX® β-Carotene, Heerlen, Netherlands) which is a spectrophotometer that interpreted color absorbency. Blood samples were obtained by caudal venipuncture on days 3 and 7 DIM. One 10 ml EDTA purple-top Vacutainer® (Becton, Dickinson and Company, New Jersey) for β-carotene, retinol and biochemical analysis and sterile 10 ml tubes containing 200 µl stabilizer solution (0.3 m EDTA, 1% acetyl salicylic acid, pH 7.4) for hormonal analysis were used. The sample was centrifuged for 20 min at 2500 RPM to obtain the plasma from the purple top tube, and plasma was used to mix with the solution that the company provided into cuvettes. The measurement was described previously by Schweigert et al. (2007). Ca level from blood serum and ketone level from blood was collected on 3, 7, 14, and 21 DIM (Figure 2.1). One 10 ml red-top Vacutainer® (Becton, Dickinson and Company, New Jersey) tube containing no anticoagulant was required for Ca diagnosis test. Samples were spun down in a centrifuge for 20 min at 2500

RPM to obtain the serum, and samples were split into 3 tube. The first subsample of serum was sent to the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory within 1 d. Calcium was analyzed using a Calcium-Arsenazo assay (ACE Alera, Alfa Wassermann Diagnostic Technologies, LLC, West Caldwell NJ). Hypocalcemia was defined as a serum Ca level < 8.6mg/dL (Chapinal et al., 2011). The second serum sample was sent to the University of Wisconsin-Madison: Wisconsin, Dr. Heather White (1675 Observatory Drive, Rm 934B) and analyzed by Wako (Wako pure Chemical Industries Ltd, Japan) NEFA-C test (ACS-ACOD method) to evaluate NEFA. The third vial of serum was used in Konelab<sup>™</sup> 20XT Clinical Chemistry Analyzer (Thermo Electron Oy, Finland) to analyze cholesterol level. On days 3, 7, and 14, BHBA concentration was measured in a whole-blood sample left over from the blood drawn for the Ca test (Figure 2.1). A Precision Xtra electronic handheld device (Abbott Laboratories, Chicago, IL, USA), validated by Iwersen et al. (2009), was used with ketone test strips and 1.5  $\mu$ L of blood drawn into a sample well. Cows with BHBA  $\geq$  1.2 mmol/L were classified as having hyperketonemia (Geishauser et al., 1998, McArt et al., 2012c, Kaufman et al., 2016).

# Milk samples

Milk haptoglobin was measured on 3 and 7 DIM (Figure 2.1) by eProCheck (Frim Tes, Germany) which is based on enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Composite milk samples were collected into clear, 90 ml polypropylene resin vials (Capitol Vial, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Hudson, New Hampshire) from each cow at both 3 and 7 DIM. A 5µl composite milk sample was used as described in Blödow et al. (1988). The rest of the milk sample was used with the PortaBHB<sup>TM</sup> Milk Ketone Test (PortaCheck Inc., Moorestown, NJ). One drop of milk from the milk sampler was deposited on the end of a ketone test strip for PortaBHB<sup>TM</sup> Milk Ketone

Test (PortaCheck, Moorestown, NJ). The semi-quantitative dipstick changed color after one drop of milk was added and the result was compared to the color chart. The level of BHB concentration in milk was categorized as follows: normal (-) 0-99 μmol/L, questionable (+/-) 100 to 199 μmol/L, positive (+) 200 to 499 μmol/L, and positive (++) 500+ μmol/L.

## PDM

Each cow was equipped with each PDM before being enrolled in the study to allow for an adjustment period of at least two weeks. The AfiAct Pedometer Plus (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel) sensors recorded total lying time. This device was validated for dairy cattle use by Mattachini et al. (2013), the lying time ( $R^2 > 0.94$ ) and lying bouts ( $R^2 > 0.71$ ) were highly related with HOBO Pendant G logger. DVM Bolus (DVM Systems, LLC, Greeley, CO) recorded reticulorumen temperature. HR Tag (SCR Engineers Ltd, Netanya, Israel) sensors recorded total rumination time which was validated for dairy cattle use by Schirmann et al. (2009b), and high correlation ( $R^2 = 0.87$ ) with human observation was found. CowManager SensoOr (Agis Autimatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands) sensors recorded total active, time not active, eating and rumination. IceQube (IceRobotics Ltd, Edinburgh, Scotland) sensors recorded total daily lying time and lying time per bouts which was validated for daily cattle use by McGowan et al. (2007). SmartBow (Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse, Austria) recorded rumination time, lying time, time active, and time not active. Track a))) cow (ENGS, Hampshire, UK) recorded time around the feed bunk, number of steps, lying time and lying bouts, which was validated for dairy cattle use by Wolfger et al. (2015). The result of comparison of Track a))) cow and HOBO Pendant G logger, the moderately concordance correlation coefficients (CCC) of lying bouts (CCC = 0.71) and the highly correlated lying time (CCC = 0.98) were found. However, Borchers et al. (2016) found visually recorded rumination behavior was strongly

correlated with Smartbow (r = 0.97, CCC = 0.96), and weakly correlated with CowManager SensoOr (r = 0.69, CCC=0.59). In addition, visually recorded lying behaviors were strongly correlated with AfiAct Pedometer Plus (r > 0.99, CCC > 0.99), IceQube (r > 0.99, CCC > 0.99), and Track a))) cow (r > 0.99, CCC > 0.99).

Leg devices were placed on the legs, and each cow received an individual tag. Time around the feed bunk was measured by Track a))) cow that records how long does cow spend around the feed bunk. DVM boluses, which were activated before insertion in the rumen, and inserted into the reticulorumen orally, using a bolus gun. Ear tags were positioned using an ear tagger, provided by each technology company to fit the respective device. Ear tags that measured time not active means that cows were doing nothing, which could happen either standing or lying.

The AfiMilk MPC Milk Meter (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel) was used to collect individual milk yield and milking time for each milking. Body weights were recorded by AfiWeigh (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel), placed in a common exit alley. Cows were sorted into their respective groups using AfiSort (Afimilk, Kibbutz, Afikim, Israel) after each milking. All computer clocks were set to synchronize with NIST Internet Time Service (NIST, Gaithersburg, MD, USA) automatically, and time was checked on all computers manually on a weekly basis. The software recorded raw data, including measurements and recordings of behavioral and physiological parameters, daily.

#### Statistical Analyses

## Data Editing and Analyses

Statistical analyses were conducted using SAS Version 9.3 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary,

NC). Milk yields < or > 4 standard deviations from the previous week's average milk yield were removed, presumably caused by technology error. To account for decreased reticulorumen temperature caused by water bouts, DVM reticulorumen temperatures were removed if  $< 38.3^{\circ}$ C or if they were less than 4 standard deviations from the previous week's average temperature. Milk yield was sum (milked twice per day) and body weight was averaged (weight twice per day) to create one value per variable per cow per day. IceQube bout duration was each averaged to create one value per variable per cow per day. IceQube lying bouts, IceQube standing time, IceQube motion, IceQube lying time, HR rumination, HR activity, CowManager SensoOr no active, CowManager SensoOr rumination, CowManager SensoOr feeding time, CowManager SensoOr active, CowManager SensoOr high active, SmartBow lying time, SmartBow inactive, SmartBow high active, SmartBow rumination, Track a))) cow lying time, Track a))) cow time around feed bunk, and Track a))) cow feed buck visit were each summed to create one value per variable per cow per day. If the measurement for any variable was 0 for the day, that variable was set as missing for that cow on that day. Cow days were removed if < 90%of each day's data was recorded, but if a cow generated > 99% of each day's data, that linear interpolation was used to include the missing 1% from that day. Cow days were between 90% and 99% were stay the same. And the cows day 90 % was selected, because the less impact on influence the entire data. In cases where less than 24 hours of data were available, the percentage lying for that period was used to calculate the percentage lying within 24 hours.

Blood Ca levels  $\leq 8.6$  mg/dL were classified as hypocalcemia (Chapinal et al., 2011). Blood ketone levels  $\geq 1.2$  mmol/l were classified as hyperketonemia (McArt et al., 2012b). Metritis scores  $\geq 2$  was classified as metritis (Sterrett et al., 2014). The numbers of clinical diseases cases were combined with the numbers of subclinical disease cases because of the small number of clinical cases. The MEANS procedure was used to calculate the mean and standard deviation of each variable. The FREQ procedure was used to calculate the number of disease cases. Cows were classified as having hypocalcemia, metritis, hyperketonemia, and any combination of the three. The MIXED procedure was used to determine the significance (P < 0.0.5) among the cows with disease and the variable measured throughout the experiment's duration. The MIXED procedure of SAS was comparing the disease or combinations with other diseases throughout the 21 DIM, and the interaction between cows with and without the disease. The P < 0.05 was considered as a significant difference between cows with and without the disease.

## **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

## Variables: Changes by diseases

The description and summary of each PDM are reported in Table 2.1. Means for each PDM variable are displayed in Table 2.2 and appendix Tables 2.1 to 2.2. Appendix Table 2.1 to 2.2 include the variables of the whole herd average, cows without any disease, cows with only one disease (hypocalcemia and metritis), cows with two different diseases (hyperketonemia and hypocalcemia, hypocalcemia and metritis, and hyperketonemia and metritis), and cows all three diseases. Cows in this study were housed in outdated freestall facilities, which may have altered lying times (Wadsworth, 2014). Table 2.3 is the overall variable changed by different diseases, the plus and minus sign represents the positive or negative affect by different diseases. The number of cows with diseases was displayed in Table 2.4. Cows were categorized with only one disease, with two different diseases, and with all diseases. The total number of cows enrolled in the study 138, but during the study, data for some cows was missing because of lightning, snow, human error, and power outages. So, not all the 138 cows have fully recorded data. No cows

were found with only hyperketonemia in the study. The percentage of cows having hyperketonemia and hypocalcemia in 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM is displayed in appendix Table2.3. *Hyperketonemia: lying time and lying bouts* 

Dairy cattle lying time has been reported between 10.5 and 11 hours per cow/d (10.7  $\pm$ 0.7 h/d in BC,  $10.6 \pm 0.9 \text{ h/d in the US}$  (Ito et al., 2010, von Keyserlingk et al., 2012), but individual cows lying times vary from 4.2 to 19.5 h/d and 2.8 to 20.5 h/d in BC and US (von Keyserlingk et al., 2012). Previous study results were greater than the mean of the lying time in this study (IceQube lying time was  $9.03 \pm 1.73$  h/d, Track a))) cow lying time was  $8.94 \pm 2.1$  h/d, and AfiAct Pedometer Plus was  $8.42 \pm 1.94$  h/d) in this study. Cows diagnosed with hyperketonemia had lying times greater than the cows without the disease (Figure 2.2). Cows without hyperketonemia laid down 9.8 h/d, and cows with hyperketonemia lied 10.9h/d (P <(0.05) (Appendix Table 2.2). The average lying time of the herd was less than 10 h/d and number of lying bout was around 14.6 time/d from 1 to 21 DIM (Appendix Table 2.2). Itle et al. (2015) suggested that cows with subclinical hyperketonemia had decreased lying time after calving, but this was contradictory with the result in this paper. Greater lying ti,e was possible when disease occurred because cows diagnosed with NEB also suffered from lesser blood glucose level (Duffield et al., 1997a). With insufficient glucose, and decrease of dry matter intake, less energy was generated. Thus, greater lying time was possible when disease occurs. This concept was mentioned by Herdt (1988), who reported that an increase in lying time was an energy conserving response to the sickness. Sepúlveda-Varas et al. (2014b) stated that cows with multiple diseases (metabolic diseases and lameness) exhibited a greater increase in lying time than cows with only one disease. In this study, most cows had more than one disease, so cows in the analysis often had multiple diseases. The average lying bouts measurements varied among

technologies likely due to differences in proprietary algorithms (Figure 2.3) (AfiAct :  $11 \pm 4$ bouts/d, IceQube:  $19 \pm 7$  bouts/d, and Track a))) cow:  $14 \pm 5$  bouts/d). Further, Calderon and Cook (2011b) reported that cows increase lying bouts on the day before calving (11.2 to peak 17.7 time/d) and decreased in the duration of each lying bout. Although cows diagnosed with hyperketonemia experienced greater number of lying bouts (cow with hyperketonemia, AfiAct:  $9 \pm 4$  bouts/d, IceQube:  $17 \pm 6$  bouts/d, and Track a))) cow:  $11 \pm 7$  bouts/d; cow without hyperketonemia, AfiAct:  $10 \pm 3$  bouts/d, IceQube:  $15 \pm 5$  bouts/d, and Track a))) cow:  $11 \pm 2$ bouts/d) than cows without hyperketonemia but no numerical difference was recorded. In addition, Hart (1988) found cows diagnosed as ill that exhibited an increase in lying time were considered to be showing energy conserving behaviors. The results of this study agree with Sepúlveda-Varas et al. (2014a) that lying behavior could be an indicator of detection common transition disease in dairy cows.

# Hyperketonemia: steps and activity

The number of steps and the activity varied based on the different technologies and the locations of each technology on the cow's body (Figure 2.4). In cows with hyperketonemia, the average number of steps was  $3137 \pm 121$  steps/d, and cows without hyperketonemia was  $3685 \pm 72$  steps/d (P < 0.05). In cows with hyperketonemia, the average neck activity was  $359 \pm 13$  unit motion/d, and cows without hyperketonemia was  $407 \pm 16$  unit motion/d (P < 0.05). Activity value varied because of the position of the tags on the cows. Ear, leg and neck tags were used in this study. Although steps were significantly different (P < 0.05) in cows diagnosed with hyperketonemia when measured with AfiAct Pedometer Plus leg tag ( $3137 \pm 121$  steps/d vs  $3685 \pm 72$  steps/d , P < 0.05), no difference was measured with the IceRobotics IceQube ( $1114 \pm 343$  steps/d vs  $1142 \pm 357$  steps/d) and ENGS Track a))) cow ( $1948 \pm 480$  steps/d vs  $2011 \pm 557$ 

steps/d) leg tag for number of steps. Cows that were diagnosed with hyperketonemia recorded less neck activity (cows with hyperketonemia were  $359 \pm 13$ ; cows without hyperketonemia was  $407 \pm 16$  units of movement/d, P < 0.05). Edwards and Tozer (2004b) found cows with the metabolic disorder would exhibit less activity than healthy cows on DIM  $10 \pm 8.2$  (P < 0.05). Cows in this study with hyperketonemia may also suffer from other metabolic disorders. No cows with only hyperketonemia were found in this study, so cows with hyperketonemia were affected by other metabolic diseases.

#### Hyperketonemia: rumination, feeding time, eating time, and rumen temperature

Cows with hyperketonemia had lesser rumination time than cows without hyperketonemia (Figure 2.5) (cows with hyperketonemia were  $471 \pm 34$  min/d; cows without hyperketonemia were  $520 \pm 40 \text{ min/d}$ , P < 0.05). However, both cows with and without hyperketonemia experienced less rumination in the first 7 days (cows with hyperketonemia were  $423 \pm 107$ ; cows without hyperketonemia were  $468 \pm 103 \text{ min/d}$ ). Cows with hyperketonemia were 469.7  $\pm$  126; cows without hyperketonemia were 506.8  $\pm$  108.8 min/d in the first 7 DIM (P < 0.05). Overall herd rumination time was 560  $\pm$  66 min/d. One possible reason for the decreased rumination at the beginning of the lactation was that cows changed groups on the day of calving. Cows experience environmental, calving, and social change during this period. But rumination time slowly increased after 7 DIM (cows diagnosed as sick 313 min/d v.s cows not sick 368 min/d, P < 0.01), which was as suggested by Liboreiro et al. (2015b). Huzzey et al. (2007) suggested that cows that were defined as ill during the transition period spent less time eating and at the feed bunk during the first week after calving. The results of the previous studies and the present study agreed that rumination time decreased when cows were diagnosed with diseases.

Previous studies demonstrated that cows with hyperketonemia spent less time at the feed bunk during the first week after calving, up to 28% less when cows were diagnosed with hyperketonemia (P < 0.05) (Goldhawk et al., 2009, Itle et al., 2015). Also, cows diagnosed with hyperketonemia spend more time standing and waiting (cows with hyperketonemia 14.3 ± 0.6, and cows without hyperketonemia 12.0 ± 0.7 h/d, P=0.06). Although, the decrease of eating time and time around the feed bunk did show in the result, there are no differences between cows with and without hyperketonemia (Figure 2.6) (eating time: 198 ± 93 min/d vs 224 ± 106 min/d and time around the feed bunk: 149.1 ± 80.6 min/d, and cows without hyperketonemia 168.1 ± 73.3 min/d, P > 0.05). No significant difference (P > 0.05) was found in reticulorumen temperature between cows with and without hyperketonemia (Figure 2.7) (39.5 ± 0.3 °C/d vs 39.6 ± 0.4 °C/d).

#### Hyperketonemia: milk components

The average milk fat was significantly greater when cows were diagnosed with hyperketonemia (Figure 2.7) (cows with hyperketonemia  $4.09 \pm 0.81\%$  vs cows without hyperketonemia  $3.88 \pm 0.42\%$ ). The milk fat: protein was also significantly greater in cows with hyperketonemia than without  $(1.42 \pm 0.23 \text{ vs } 1.29 \pm 0.18)$  (P < 0.01). Duffield et al. (1997a) reported that cows were at greater risk for having hyperketonemia if their milk fat increased and milk protein deceased. Milk protein and milk fat in early lactation were used as markers for measuring nutritional status (Duffield et al., 1997b). In this study, the same result was reported. Cows with hyperketonemia produced milk with a greater milk fat content less milk protein (3.05  $\pm 0.27\%$  vs  $3.12 \pm 0.21\%$ ). Further, in research conducted by Richardt (2004), a value of fat:protein (above 1.5), was associated with a high incidence of hyperketonemia (3.5 times)

compared with cows without. Routine recording of milk fat and protein could provide new insight into metabolic diseases

#### Hyperketonemia: milk yield and body weight

For analysis of milk yield and body weight, cows were classified as primiparous and multiparous. First lactation cows would have less milk and bodyweight than the second or higher lactation cows. Thus, categorize cows with primiparous and multiparous to separate the difference. In primiparous cows, there is no significant differences in milk yield between cows with and without hyperketonemia (P > 0.05). However, the milk yield was significant different within 21 DIM in multiparous cows between cows with and without hyperketonemia (cows with hyperketonemia  $31.4 \pm 3.8$ , cows without hyperketonemia  $37.8 \pm 4.3$  kg/d, P < 0.05). Also, the body weight was significant different within 21 DIM in multiparous cows between communication in multiparous cows between communication and without hyperketonemia  $710 \pm 12$  kg, P < 0.05). The result in this study matches the results of Edwards and Tozer (2004b), which concluded that sick cows recorded lesser milk yield than heathy cows (15kg/d less than healthy cows). And Rajala-Schultz et al. (1999) reported that the milk loss varied, from 3 kg/d to 5.3 kg/d, and depended on the parity.

As a good indicator of body reserve, body weight alone was not enough (Roche et al., 2013). In early lactation, body tissue mobilized while feed intake increased (Roche et al., 2007, Roche et al., 2013), but the weight of the tissue decrease which cannot be detected because the rumen is filled (Stockdale, 2001, Berry et al., 2006b). This weight change does not accurately reflect the change of adipose and weight of lean tissue (Roche et al., 2013). Thus, to measure the accurate adipose and lean tissue, measuring body condition is needed. Body condition is the ratio of body fat to non-fat components in the body as defined by (Murray, 1919b). In cows with BCS

> 3.5 around calving, the risk of developing hyperketonemia was 2 times more than in cows with BCS 3.25 (Gillund et al., 2001). Wright and Russel (1984) and Otto et al. (1991) reported the highly correlate between BCS and body fat (r=0.83), and the correlation between BCS and body weight were 0.62 in US Holstein cows (Otto et al., 1991). Further, with one unit change in BCS, the corresponding body weight changed from 21 to 110 kg (Otto et al., 1991, Berry et al., 2006a). In a recent study, Roche et al. (2015) found that cows with greater body weight have a greater chance of liver fat infiltration, increased risk of having metabolic diseases, and greater loss of BCS.

# Hypocalcemia: lying time and lying bouts

Lying time and not active time are displayed in Figure 2.9. Not active time was an ear tag variable which measured cows when the cows' heads were not moving, which could occur while standing or lying. Cows with hypocalcemia experienced greater lying time  $(9.4 \pm 1 \text{ h/d})$  than cows without hypocalcemia  $(8.2 \pm 1 \text{ h/d})$  (*P*>0.01). Jawor et al. (2012a) found that cows with hypocalcemia spent more time lying down on the first week after calving (16.5 h/d, P=0.03). However, Huzzey et al. (2005) indicated that lying time decreased 1.1 h/d during the transition period. But Jawor et al. (2012b) indicated that cows with subclinical hypocalcemia would standing 3h longer during the 24h period before calving, this could suggest that cows experienced the discomfort. Jawor et al. (2012b) showed no lying bout difference between the 7d before and the 7d after cow calved (prepartum: 12.2 vs postpartum 10.7, *P*=0.9). Cows with hypocalcemia spent more time lying down to save energy, so lying time increased. Inadequate blood Ca would cause cows reduce the ability to walk and impaired muscle function. In addition, hypocalcemia reduce muscle contraction, which lead to the downer cow syndrome. Although different PDM were used in this study and recorded different times, overall lying time increased

when cows suffered from hypocalcemia (AfiAct:  $517.2 \pm 113.3 \text{ min/d vs } 480 \pm 119.1 \text{ min/d}$ ; IceQube:  $563.9 \pm 95.9 \text{ min/d vs } 498.3 \pm 103.7 \text{ min/d}$ ; Track a))) cow:  $551.8 \pm 120.8 \text{ min/d vs}$  $502.9 \pm 129 \text{ min/d}$ ). However, no difference was observed in lying bouts for cows with and without hypocalcemia (Figure2.10). Sepúlveda-Varas et al. (2014b) also reported no recordable difference existed in lying bouts between cows with and without metabolic diseases. Because of the lack of change on lying bouts, lying time could be used instead as a useful indicator of hypocalcemia.

## *Hypocalcemia: steps and activity*

Steps and activity are displayed in Figure 2.11. Only AfiAct Pedometer Plus and SCR HR tags could detect the difference between cows with and without hypocalcemia in steps and activity. Cows with hypocalcemia took  $2490 \pm 1180$  steps/d and cows without hypocalcemia took  $2856 \pm 1180$  steps/d (P < 0.05) in AfiAct Pedometer Plus. The neck activity was  $376 \pm 19$  when cows had hypocalcemia, and  $447 \pm 15$  in cows without hypocalcemia (P < 0.05). No difference was found in IceQube and Track a))) cow. Overall, activity was affected by the disease, and cows with metabolic diseases was showed less active in Edwards and Tozer (2004b). The position of the tags, the algorithm used to calculate the steps or activity had affected on the results. Leg tags needed to be faced out, but when cows were lying down or walking, tags could shift to a different side, which could influence the data. A study by Stangaferro et al. (2016b) linked activity and rumination time with metabolic detection (sensitivity 93%, 95%CI: 89, 98). Whether or not cows suffered from hypocalcemia did affect activity and rumination in this study.

Although six technologies, which can detect activity or steps, were used in this study, few of them can detect the change caused by disease. This was due to missing data, which missing

during this study because of lightning, snow, human error, and power outages. Thus, some PDM technologies had more fully recorded data than others. In Edwards and Tozer (2004a), Afikim computerized dairy management system (Kibbutz Afikim, Israel) was used, and in this study, the updated version was used. Technologies that updated their system and tags often provided more information and accurate data. Therefore, activity could be an indicator of hypocalcemia.

## Hypocalcemia: rumination time, feeding time, eating time, and rumen temperature

No differences were identified in reticulorumen temperature and feeding time during the transition period (Figure 2.12 and 2.13). But rumination time decreased when a cow was diagnosed with hypocalcemia ( $485 \pm 37 \text{ vs.} 531 \pm 31 \text{ min/d}$ , *P* < 0.05). The result matched the previous study Liboreiro et al. (2015b), which showed that cows diagnosed with hypocalcemia had decreased rumination time after calving from 1 to 3 DIM (P < 0.01). Depending on the Ca levels, the ability of smooth muscle and skeletal contraction changed (Murray, 2008). Minimizing the usage of Ca circulation from the blood reserves could increase absorption from the rumen or intestines, and most importantly, the Ca reserves from bone (DeGaris and Lean, 2008).

No difference was recorded between eating time and time around the feed bunk for cows with and without hypocalcemia. Jawor et al. (2012a) concluded that cows with hypocalcemia increased intake during the 2 weeks after calving. However, Huzzey et al. (2005) mentioned that cows spent less time on eating after calving. In the Huzzey et al. (2005) study, the decrease of eating time from pre-calving to post-calving was 87 to 62 min/d. According to the result and contradicting evidence, the relationship between feeding time and disease was unknown, and more research is needed. In this study, no difference in feeding time was recorded for cows with
and without hypocalcemia. However, rumination time could be an indicator useful in the detection of hypocalcemia.

#### Hypocalcemia: milk component

Milk component is displayed in Figure 2.14. A significant difference was displayed in cows with and without hypocalcemia in milk conductivity, fat, lactose and fat: protein (P < 0.05). Cows with hypocalcemia had greater milk fat: protein ( $1.37 \pm 0.05$  vs.  $1.25 \pm 0.05$ , P < 0.05). Cows with hypocalcemia had greater milk conductivity ( $8.12 \pm 0.27$  vs.  $7.64 \pm 0.17$  %, P < 0.05). Cows with hypocalcemia had greater milk fat ( $4.5 \pm 0.1$  vs.  $4.05 \pm 0.07$  %, P < 0.05). Cows with hypocalcemia had greater milk fat ( $4.5 \pm 0.1$  vs.  $4.05 \pm 0.07$  %, P < 0.05). Cows with hypocalcemia had lesser milk lactose ( $4.34 \pm 0.55$  vs.  $4.52 \pm 0.48$  %, P < 0.05). A previous study showed no difference between milk fat in cows with hypocalcemia (Chamberlin et al., 2013). However, cows with hypocalcemia also had other metabolic diseases, which means hypocalcemia may not have a direct effect on the milk component.

#### Hypocalcemia: milk yield and body weight

Milk yield and body weight were separated by parity, primiparous and multiparous cows and display in Table 2.15. First lactation cows have less milk and bodyweight than the second or higher lactation cows. Thus, categorize cows from primiparous and multiparous to separate the difference. In primiparous and multiparous cows, there is a significant different in milk yield between cows with and without hypocalcemia from 1 to 21 DIM (P < 0.05). Cows with hypocalcemia produced less milk yield (primiparous: 23.89 ± 4.63 kg/d vs 27.18 ± 4.13 kg/d; multiparous: 33.72 ± 9.56 kg/d vs 39.9 ± 8.56 kg/d, P < 0.05). But, Gröhn et al. (1995) suggested that cows with hypocalcemia had a greater milk lactation in previous lactation. However, during this study, PDM measured daily milk yield, which was different than the previous study results. And Deluyker et al. (1991b) indicated that milk yield would temporarily or continuously drop

because of having hypocalcemia. Also, multiparous cows' milk loss could be a risk factor for other diseases (Erb and Grohn, 1988a, Klerx and Smolders, 1997). In this study, results showed cows with hypocalcemia exhibited lesser milk yield. However, less milk yield was expected during the transition period because feed intake affects production and feed intake was low during the transition period. No numerical difference in body weight was recorded. Østergaard and Gröhn (1999) suggested that multiparous cows with a greater body weight would have an increased risk of developing hypocalcemia during the first week after calving. The same study explained that the body weight was not different between healthy cows and cows with hypocalcemia. The results of this study matched those from Østergaard and Gröhn (1999) in that multiparous cows recorded greater body weights, but no difference was recorded in cows with and without hypocalcemia.

#### Metritis: lying time and lying bouts

Lying time and lying bouts are displayed in Figure 2.16. No difference in lying time and lying bouts were found between cows with and without metritis. Huzzey et al. (2007) indicated that cows with metritis would change their behavior, lying bouts, and time spent at the feed bunk. Huzzey et al. (2007) and Liboreiro et al. (2015b) mentioned that cow behavior would change after the cow was diagnosed with metabolic diseases. And Titler et al. (2013) pointed out that less rumination time, steps, activity, and lying bout could be found 1 to 3 d before cows were diagnosed with metritis. Therefore, the change is should be detectable using PDM. Liboreiro et al. (2015a) mentioned that less activity and rumination would be found when cows were diagnosed with metritis. But the results of this study cannot confirm the results from the previous studies.

#### Metritis: steps and activity

Figure 2.18 shows the significant difference (P > 0.01) in the decrease of steps and activity for cows with and without metritis. Cows with metritis recorded activity than the cows without metritis ( $2125 \pm 1215$  steps/d vs  $2689 \pm 1637$  steps/d). Although the decrease of steps and activity vary, change can be detected between cows with and without metritis. Previous studies suggested that cows with metritis may have longer standing time, which could correlate to more steps (Huzzey et al., 2005). But in this study, less steps were found, this pointed that cow might experience illness, and not willing to walk or be active. Also, cows with metritis, could have other metabolic disease at the same time, which could have affected the results.

#### Metritis: rumination time, feeding time, eating time, and rumen temperature

Less rumination was recorded for cows diagnosed with metritis  $(473 \pm 29 \text{ vs. } 537 \pm 35 \text{ min/d})$ . Liboreiro et al. (2015b) reported that cows with metritis had less rumination time 415.9 ± 101.1 min/d when cows had metritis and 441.0 ± 5.2 min/d when cows did not have metritis. Further, time around the feed bunk and eating time were not significantly different between cows with metritis and without (time around the feed bunk:  $160.6 \pm 60.4 \text{ vs} 131.3 \pm 57.6 \text{ min/d}$ ; eating time:  $210.1 \pm 102.4 \text{ vs} 245.1 \pm 100.9 \text{ min/d}$ , P > 0.1). Urton et al. (2005b) found that cows with metritis spent less time around the feed bunk. In this study, cows with metritis visited the feed bunk more often, contrary to the previous studies. Although Liboreiro et al. (2015b) stated that feeding behavior was a useful measurement for the risk of metritis, and in this study no difference was recorded. In the Liboreiro et al. (2015b) study, the sample size was big, and the cows with metritis were only diagnosed with metritis, which contrasts the present study. Cows in the present study with metritis also were diagnose with other metabolic diseases. This could account for the difference in the result. Reticulum temperature is displayed in Figure 2.26, but no significant difference was found in cows with and without metritis (P > 0.9). However, several

studies demonstrated that rectal and reticular temperature was useful in the detection of sick cows (Edwards and Tozer, 2004a). Sheldon et al. (2006) pointed out that cows with temperatures greater than 39.5 °C generated a greater risk of contracting metritis. Adams et al. (2013) and the present study reported that temperature would not be affected whether the cows had metritis or not.

#### Metritis: milk component

Milk composition is displayed in Figure 2.21. Fat and fat: protein was significantly different in cows with and without metritis (P < 0.01). Cows with metritis had greater fat: protein than the cows without metritis ( $1.35 \pm 0.05$  vs.  $1.18 \pm 0.09$  fat:protein). Cows with metritis had greater milk fat percent than cows without metritis ( $4.42 \pm 0.1$  vs.  $3.95 \pm 0.1$  %). Previous research pointed out that fat:protein could be a potential indicator of NEB, because of the lack of energy supply reflects on milk component (Duffield et al., 1997b, Heuer et al., 2000). If the fat:protein was greater than 1.5, energy insufficiency was reported (Duffield et al., 1997b). Also, if fat:protein was greater than 1.5, the chances of having a metabolic disease was greater (Heuer et al., 2000). Toni et al. (2011) found that if the fat:protein was greater than 2.0, the chance to develop metritis was great. However, protein and lactose were not affected by metritis status

#### Metritis: milk yield and body weight

Milk yield and body weight were separated by parity, primiparous and multiparous cows, and display in Table 2.22. The significant difference was found in multiparous cows' body weight. Multiparous cows with metritis have a lesser body weight (P < 0.05). Compared with the results from Østergaard and Gröhn (1999), metritis cows loss body weight (23 kg on primiparous, and 16 kg on multiparous) before diagnosis. Østergaard and Gröhn (1999) reported that the body weight of cows with RP, metritis, and other metabolic disease was lower after

diagnosis. However, milk yield was not found to be affected by a metritis diagnosis, which confirms the results of Rajala and Gröhn (1998). At the early stage of development, metritis was found associated with milk loss. Cows in first lactation with RP were associated with milk loss (1.4 kg/d during the first 2 week). For cows in different stages of lactation and parity, milk was reduce because of metritis or other metabolic diseases, but no significant difference was found in this study or the previous studies (Lucey et al., 1986, Rowlands and Lucey, 1986, Rajala and Gröhn, 1998).

# Serum concentration of Cholesterol, NEFA, milk BHBA, and milk Haptoglobin Cholesterol

Blood cholesterol concentration is displayed in Figure 2.26a). Cows having varying disease as well as a varying number of disease affected blood cholesterol concentration. A lower level of cholesterol ( $167 \pm 5.3 \text{ mg/dl}$ ) was associated with a greater loss of BCS during the first month of lactation (P < 0.05) (Kim and Suh, 2003). The relation between of low cholesterol and illness after calving is not certain, but researchers suggested that the relation could be related to DMI and energy balance after calving (Cavestany et al., 2005, Guretzky et al., 2006). Kessler et al. (2014b) found the milk cholesterol in milk fat decreased from the first week ( $248.33 \pm 18.27$  mg of cholesterol / 100g of fat) to fourth week ( $171.55 \pm 14.67$  mg of cholesterol / 100g of fat) after calving. Ruegg et al. (1992) and Kim and Suh (2003) linked BCS loss with a decrease in cholesterol, and concluded that lower cholesterol and greater BCS loss may be associated with greater mobilization of body reserves during early lactation. Also, Quiroz-Rocha et al. (2010b) found that NEFA and cholesterol were related to the risk of developing RP. Sepúlveda-Varas et al. (2015) indicated that cows with a low concentration of cholesterol would have an increased risk of experiencing fatty liver. Cows with multiple diseases and that experienced NEB recorded

a lesser cholesterol level. Cows with a greater cholesterol level suffered from NEB less often. Sepúlveda-Varas et al. (2015) reported that for every 0.4 mmol/L decrease in cholesterol level cows were twice as likely to develop metritis or other metabolic disease. In the same study, Sepúlveda-Varas et al. (2015) found cholesterol level was less in cows with severe metritis during the 2 weeks after calving (P < 0.001).

#### NEFA

Blood serum NEFA is displayed in Figure 2.26 b). Because of budget constraints, NEFA concentration was only measured on 3 DIM. But, a greater NEFA concentration was produced when cows exhibited multiple diseases. The result reflected previous study results in that NEFA concentration increased after calving. The results also matched with research that stated NEFA concentration could be used as a marker of NEB (Chapinal et al., 2011). Large amounts of fat mobilization in cows was linked with clinical endometritis and immunosuppression (Ospina et al., 2010). Ospina et al. (2010) reported that if NEFA concentration was greater than 0.7 mEq/L, then the chance of developing the metabolic disease was great. The greater concentration of NEFA during the last week before calving could be a risk indicator of metabolic diseases(Bicalho et al., 2017). But in the Qu et al. (2014) study, plasma NEFA was no different in cows with and without RP (P = 0.48). Although the standard value of NEFA is still being debated, in this study high NEFA indicated disease to an existing.

#### Milk BHBA

Milk BHBA is displayed in Figure 2.26 c). Most the previous research used blood BHBA to detect hyperketonemia. Geishauser et al. (1998) used a milk ketone test, and compared the results with 50 and 100  $\mu$ mol of BHBA/L in milk with the milk ketone test. The 92% sensitivity and 72% specificity was found for the detection of hyperketonemia in Geishauser et al. (1998)

research. In this study, hyperketonemia is not separated from other diseases, because hyperketonemia was highly related to other metabolic diseases. But the results of this study indicated that high milk BHBA detected metabolic diseases. More research is needed with milk BHBA to detect only hyperketonemia.

#### Milk haptoglobin

Milk haptoglobin is displayed in Figure 2.26 d). No difference was found between milk haptoglobin concentration and metabolic diseases. In a previous study, a greater blood concentration of haptoglobin was found when cows were diagnosed with clinical metritis (P < .001) (Chan et al., 2010). The acute puerperal metritis was defined in the previous study, which was when a cow had fetid watery red-brown uterine discharge associated with signs of systemic illness and fever > 39.51C within 3 days after calving (Chan et al., 2010). Also, Huzzey et al. (2009) found cows with  $\geq 1$  g/L blood Hp 3d after calving were 6.7 times more likely to develop severe or milk metritis, with 50% sensitivity and 87% specificity. However, milk haptoglobin was used in this study and could be different from the previous study. And Humblet et al. (2006) found Hp could be a marker of inflammation in the week after calving, but this was stated with caution because more works need to be done. Hiss et al. (2009) mentioned that little information linked serum haptoglobin and metabolic stress. But greater milk Hp could be associated with greater NEFA level (Hiss et al., 2009). The greater concentration of haptoglobin could be caused by the circulating haptoglobin in milk (Thielen et al., 2007). During this study, cows always had multiple diseases, which created difficulty defining if milk haptoglobin was increased because of metritis or not. Also, during the study, milk samples were only collected on 3 and 7 DIM, and 25% of the milk samples were missing. Thus, the missing samples could affect the result. Also, this study was not looking at cow's comparison, not the level between cows. Cows naturally

have different levels of haptoglobin in their system, and that could have influenced the results. he relationship between metabolic and haptoglobin was not clear, and more research is needed. *Future studies* 

The following are potential opportunities for improvements for future studies. Learning from experiences during the study, there are many errors. Human error, maintenance and study design are the three main areas. People training is an important part of having fully recorded data. Before using technology, people should be trained and understand who to go to and how to troubleshot the problem. People who are responsible for taking care of the technology should double-check the system every week at least to make sure is well functioning. The system should be backed up the system every month, as this could make sure the company technicians have a resource to check the system if there is something wrong. Beside the PDM, during the fresh cow exam, training people could also affect the result. People who were trained to do fresh cow everyday need a reminder, in case of the missing data. No one is perfect, but with an effective reminder system, the chance of missing data could be reduced.

Second is maintenance the maintenance when the system was damaged by natural factors that cause system malfunction. The system was not housed inside but exposed out in the field. When the receiver was placed outside, under the severe weather, the receiver could be damaged. Natural factors include lightning, snow, and raccoons. The tag was designed to fit on the dairy cows' leg, neck or ear, but the data receiver needed to fit in with the natural environment. Thus, the location of the technology's receiver was crucial. Wild animals were the other natural factor, with the open feeding space for cows; raccoons were attracted to the feed. Thus, raccoons showed up on the farm and cheed the cable. During the study, raccoons damaged a few PDM receivers and wiring.

Next, change could be made in the study design. When intensively monitored dairy cows from 1 to 21 DIM, more samples could be taken. For blood BHBA, Ca, and NEFA, more samples could be taken. Instead of taking samples on DIM 3, 7, 14, and 21, the blood sample should be taken the intensively during first 7d, because daily fresh cow exams were already conducted, blood samples could also be taken simultaneously. Also, milk samples of BHBA and haptoglobin could be taken more often.

#### CONCLUSION

In this study, PDM provided the possibility of finding how change in physical activity, rumination time and temperature could indicate diseases. These variables provide producers the opportunity to implement the technology in their operations. Decreasing rumination, eating time, activity, body weight, and increasing lying time, milk fat could indicate the development of disease. Technology manufacturers should continue to seek ways to monitor multiple variables at once and to improve upon the variables they already monitor. The PDM used in this study have progressed from the time of this study and may be better able to predict disease than they were at this time. Beyond refinements in what information is collected within each technology, actually collecting that data consistently is very important. Missing data from both technology and human error required variables to be excluded from models, which may have provided better results if those variables had been included. Using PDM to predict hypocalcemia, hyperketonemia, and metritis is promising, but needs additional comparative work is needed.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank the University of Kentucky Coldstream dairy staff, and the undergraduate students who helped with fresh cow exam. Special thanks to the undergraduates who helped with eding the paper, Randi Gray and Lilliann Robertson. Aslo

specially thanks to, Elizabeth Eckelkamp who helped to structure the paper. Thank you to Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel; DVM Systems, LLC, Greeley, CO; SCR Engineers Ltd, Netanya, Israel; Agis Autimatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands; IceRobotics Ltd, Edinburgh, Scotland; Smartbow GmbH , Jutogasse, Austria, and ENGS, Hampshire, UK company for donating the technologies used in this study, and especially for the technical support during the entire process. Lastly, thank you to the University of Kentucky graduate students who edited and contributed to this manuscript.

# Table 2.1. Precision dairy monitoring technologies, variables measured, measurement frequency, and technology abbreviations used in evaluation of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis.

Precision dairy monitoring technology	Variables measured	reporting data
AfiAct Pedometer Plus, Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel	Activity (steps/d) Lying time (min/d) Lying bouts (bouts/d)	Continuously/ per hour
AfiLab Milk Analyzer, Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel	Protein (%) Fat (%) Lactose (%)	Each milking/ End of milking
AfiMilk MPC Milk Meter Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel	Milk yield (kg/d) Milk conductivity (%)	Each milking/ End of milking
AfiWeigh, Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel	Body weight (kg/d)	Each milking/ End of milking
CowManager SensoOr, Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands	Rumination time (min/d) Eating time (min/d) Time not active (min/d) Time active (min/d) Time high active (min/d)	Every minute/ Every hour
DVM bolus, DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO	Reticulorumen temperature (°C)	Every 5 minutes/ Hourly
HR Tag,	Neck activity (units/d)	Continuously /
Netanya, Israel	Rumination time (min/d)	Every 2 hours
IceQube, IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland	Rumination time (min/d) Lying time (min) Steps (number/d) Motion index Lying bouts (bouts/d) Bout duration (unit/d)	Continuously/ Continuously/ 15 minute intervals
IceQube, IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland Track a))) Cow, ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel	Rumination time (min/d) Lying time (min) Steps (number/d) Motion index Lying bouts (bouts/d) Bout duration (unit/d) Steps (number/d) Lying time (min) Lying bouts (bouts/d) Time spent at feed bunk (min/d) Feed bunk visit time (number/d)	Continuously/ Every 2 hours Continuously/ 15 minute intervals Continuously/ Every 5 minutes





<sup>1</sup>Blood was collected from coccygeal vein while cow was standing still in the freestall.

<sup>2</sup>BHBA level was measured by Precision Xtra (Abbott Laboratories, Chicago, IL, USA).

<sup>3</sup>Ca was measured by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory.

<sup>4</sup>Metricheck device was used to score vaginal discharge on a scale of 1 to 3 with 1 being no metritis and >1 being metritis (Sterrett et al., 2014).

<sup>5</sup>Milk sample was taken for measuring milk haptoglobin by eProCheck (Frim Tes, Germany) and milk BHBA PortaBHB<sup>TM</sup> Milk Ketone Test (PortaCheck Inc., Moorestown, NJ).

<sup>6</sup>β-carotene level was measured by iCheck (ROVIMIX® β-Carotene, Heerlen, Netherlands).

Table 2.2. Means of variables<sup>1</sup> measured by precision dairy monitoring technologies<sup>2</sup> for dairy cows from 1 to 21 DIM for all cows (healthy or with disease) and cows with any transition cow disease<sup>3</sup>.

X7	T	Mean ± SD			
variable	riable <sup>1</sup> I echnology <sup>2</sup>		N <sup>4</sup>	Disease <sup>3</sup>	<b>N</b> <sup>4</sup>
Activity (steps/d)	AfiAct pedometer Plus	$3593 \pm 850$	131	$3347\pm713$	34
Activity (steps/d)	Track a)) Cow	$1988 \pm 534$	114	$1948 \pm 487$	29
Activity (steps/d)	IceQube	$1133\pm354$	135	$1085\pm350$	34
Motion index	IceQube	$3877 \pm 1243$	135	$3616 \pm 1231$	34
Active time (min/d)	SensoOr	$68 \pm 19$	90	$62 \pm 20$	23
High activity (min/d)	SensoOr	$71 \pm 42$	90	$66 \pm 44$	23
Neck activity (unit/d)	HR Tag	$396 \pm 113$	106	$344 \pm 92$	28
Active time (min/d)	Smartbow	$924 \pm 87$	90	$876\pm92$	22
High activity (min/d)	Smartbow	$138\pm79$	90	$116 \pm 63$	22
Lying time (min/d)	AfiAct pedometer Plus	$506 \pm 117$	131	$539 \pm 120$	34
Lying bouts (#/d)	AfiAct pedometer Plus	$11 \pm 4$	131	$12 \pm 5$	34
Lying time (min/d)	IceQube	$542 \pm 104$	135	$597\pm94$	34
Lying bouts (#/d)	IceQube	$19 \pm 7$	135	$21 \pm 8$	34
Bout duration (min/bout)	IceQube	$542 \pm 104$	135	$597 \pm 95$	34
Time not active (min/d)	SensoOr	$507 \pm 161$	90	$577 \pm 199$	23
Lying time (min/d)	Track a)) Cow	$536 \pm 126$	114	$595\pm104$	29
Lying bouts (#/d)	Track a)) Cow	$14 \pm 5$	114	$15 \pm 5$	29
Time not active (min/d)	Smartbow	$378\pm95$	90	$449 \pm 106$	22
Lying time (min/d)	Smartbow	$727 \pm 127$	90	$770 \pm 101$	22
Rumination time (min/d)	SensoOr	$583 \pm 118$	90	$538 \pm 157$	23
Rumination time (min/d)	HR Tag	$479\pm95$	106	$442 \pm 112$	28
Rumination time (min/d)	Smartbow	$535\pm79$	90	$492\pm87$	22
Eating time (min/d)	SensoOr	$215\pm103$	90	$201 \pm 96$	23
Intake visits (#/d)	Track a)) Cow	$8\pm 2$	114	$8 \pm 2$	29
Time at feedbunk (min/d)	Track a)) Cow	$157 \pm 61$	114	$144 \pm 70$	29
Mean rectal temperature (°C)	GLA thermometer	$38.6\pm0.2$	138	$38.6\pm0.2$	36
Reticulorumen temperature (°C)	DVM bolus	$39.6\pm0.4$	97	$39.6\pm0.3$	20
Milk yield (kg/d)	AfiMilk MPC Milk Meter	$31.6\pm9.6$	131	$27.3\pm9.2$	34
Milk fat (%)	AfiLab Milk Analyzer	$4.1\pm0.6$	131	$4.4 \pm 0.7$	34
Milk protein (%)	AfiLab Milk Analyzer	$3.1 \pm 0.2$	131	$3.0 \pm 0.3$	34
Milk fat protein ratio	AfiLab Milk Analyzer	$1.3 \pm 0.2$	131	$1.5 \pm 0.2$	34
Milk lactose (%)	AfiLab Milk Analyzer	$4.7 \pm 0.2$	131	$4.6 \pm 0.3$	34
Milk conductivity (%)	AfiMilk MPC Milk Meter	$8.0 \pm 0.8$	131	$8.2 \pm 0.6$	34
Body weight (kg)	AfiWeigh	$695 \pm 84$	131	$717 \pm 87$	34

<sup>1</sup>Variables were measured from the corresponding precision dairy monitoring technology. For example, AfiAct Pedometer Plus recorded activity (steps/d), lying time (min/d), and lying bouts (#/d).

<sup>2</sup>Precision dairy monitoring technologies included: AfiAct Pedometer Plus, Afimilk, AfiLab, AfiWeigh (Kibbutz Afikim, Israel); Track a))) cow (ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel); DVM bolus (DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO); IceQube (IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland); HR Tag, SCR (Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel); SmartBow (Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse, Austria); and CowManager SensoOr (Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands).

<sup>3</sup>Disease included any animals with hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any combination of diseases.

<sup>4</sup>N referred to the total number of cows in each row and column.

Table 2.3. With the MIXED<sup>1</sup> procedure of SAS 9.3 analysis the change of variables (positively<sup>2</sup>, negatively<sup>3</sup> change, or NS<sup>4</sup>) that affected by cows with and without hyperketonemia<sup>4</sup>, hypocalcemia<sup>5</sup>, and metritis<sup>6</sup> during DIM 21

	Disease			
Variables	Hyperketonemia	Hypocalcemia	Metritis	
Milk yield (kg)	-	-	NS	
Steps	-	-	-	
Lying time	+	+	+	
Lying bouts	+	+	NS	
Body Weight	+	NS	NS	
Fat: protein	+	+	+	
Fat (%)	+	+	+	
Temperature	-	-	+	
Rumination (min)	-	-	-	
Time around the feed bunk (min)	-	NS	NS	

<sup>1</sup>MIXED procedure of SAS was compared the average of cow from cows with and without disease from 1 to 21 DIM.

<sup>2</sup>Positively change, after MIXED procedure of SAS, the variable was increased because of having disease, would mark as "+" in the column.

<sup>3</sup>Negatively change, after MIXED procedure of SAS, the variable was decrease because of having disease, would mark as "-" in the column.

<sup>4</sup>NS, after MIXED procedure of SAS, the variable was not change because of having disease, would mark as "NS" (Not significant) in the column.

<sup>3</sup>Hyperketonemia was identified on 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM by using Precision Xtra (Abbott Laboratories, Chicago, IL, USA) with coccygeal vein blood. N referred to cows without subclinical or clinical hyperketonemia at each DIM.

<sup>4</sup>Hypocalcaemia was identified on 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM by University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory using coccygeal vein blood serum. N referred to cows without subclinical or clinical hypocalcaemia at each DIM.

<sup>5</sup>Metricheck device was used to score vaginal discharge on a scale of 1 to 3 with 1 being no metritis and >1 being metritis (Sterrett et al., 2014).

Disease	Cut point	Numbers of cows
Only hyperketonemia <sup>1</sup>	$\geq$ 1.2 mmol/L	0
Only hypocalcaemia <sup>2</sup>	$\leq$ 8.6 mg/dL	5
Only metritis <sup>3</sup>	MetriCheck	26
Combination 1		
Hypocalcaemia <sup>2</sup> + Metritis <sup>3</sup>		48
Combination 2		
Hyperketonemia <sup>1</sup> + Hypocalcaemia <sup>2</sup>		4
Combination 3		
Hyperketonemia <sup>1</sup> + Metritis <sup>3</sup>		9
Combination 4		
Hyperketonemia <sup>1</sup> + Hypocalcaemia <sup>2</sup> + Metritis <sup>3</sup>		36
No diseases		10
Total individual cases <sup>5,6</sup>		138
<sup>1</sup> Hyperketonemia was identified on 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM by using Prec	cision Xtra (Abbott Laboratori	es, Chicago, IL, USA) with
coccygeal vein blood.		
<sup>2</sup> Hypocalcaemia was identified on 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM by University vein blood serum.	of Kentucky Veterinary Diagn	ostic Laboratory using coccygeal
<sup>3</sup> Metricheck device was used to score vaginal discharge on a scale of	1 to 3 with 1 being no metritis	and >1 being metritis (Sterrett et
al., 2014).		
<sup>4</sup> No hyperketonemia cases occurred without a case of either metritis,	hypocalcaemia, or both.	
<sup>5</sup> Only 10 animals of the 138 animals on the study did not have metrit	is, hypocalcaemia, hyperketon	emia, or a combination of diseases
from January 2013 to October 2015.		
<sup>6</sup> Although 138 animals were on the study, and 128 animals were posi	tive for a case of metritis, hype	ocalcaemia, hyperketonemia, or

Table 2.4. Hyperketonemia<sup>1</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>2</sup>, and metritis<sup>3</sup> detection cut-points for individual diseases and disease combinations for transition cows (1 to 21 DIM) from January 2013 to October 2015.

<sup>6</sup>Although 138 animals were on the study, and 128 animals were positive for a case of metritis, hypocalcaemia, hyperketonemia, or combination. Multiple diseases were possible for an individual cow, resulting in a greater total individual disease incidence than the number of individual cows.

Table 2.5. Mean ± S.D of variables<sup>1</sup> from PDM<sup>2</sup> affected by different diseases (Hyperketonemia<sup>3</sup>, Hypocalcaemia<sup>4</sup>and Metritis<sup>5</sup>)

			Disease			
Variable <sup>1</sup>	Non	Hyperketonemia <sup>3</sup>	Non	Hypocalcaemia <sup>4</sup>	Non	Metritis <sup>5</sup>
	Hyperketonemia <sup>6</sup>		Hypocalcaemia <sup>7</sup>		metritis <sup>8</sup>	
Lying time (h)	$9.8 \pm 1.6$	$10.9\pm1.7$	$8.22\pm1.0$	$9.4 \pm 1.0$		
Milk fat (%)	$4.1\pm0.2$	$4.4\pm0.2$	$4.1\pm0.1$	$4.5\pm0$	$3.9\pm0.1$	$4.4 \pm 0.1$
BW (parity $> 2$ ) (kg)	$710 \pm 12$	$750\pm18$				
Activity (steps)	$3685\pm72$	$3137 \pm 121$	$2856 \pm 1180$	$2490 \pm 1097$	$2689 \pm 1637$	$2125 \pm 1215$
Activity (neck)	$407 \pm 16$	$359 \pm 13$	$447\pm15$	$376\pm19$		
Rumination time (min)	$520 \pm 40$	$471 \pm 34$	$531 \pm 31$	$485\pm37$	$537 \pm 35$	$473\pm29$
Milk yield (parity > 2) (kg)	$37.8\pm4.3$	$31.4\pm3.8$	$26.3\pm4.1$	$22.6\pm4.0$		

<sup>1</sup>Variables, same variables that detected from different technology, in this table would be lying time (AfiAct Pedometer Plus, Track a))) cow, IceQube), milk fat (AfiLab), body weight (AfiWeigh), activity (AfiAct Pedometer Plus, Track a))) cow, IceQube, SmartBow, CowManager SensoOr and HR Tag, SCR), rumination time (SmartBow, CowManager SensoOr and HR Tag, SCR) and milk yield (AfiLab).

<sup>2</sup>Precision dairy monitoring (PDM) technologies included: AfiAct Pedometer Plus, Afimilk, AfiLab, AfiWeigh (Kibbutz Afikim, Israel); Track a))) cow (ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel); IceQube (IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland); HR Tag, SCR (Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel); SmartBow (Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse, Austria); and CowManager SensoOr (Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands).

<sup>3</sup>Hyperketonemia was identified on 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM by using Precision Xtra (Abbott Laboratories, Chicago, IL, USA) with coccygeal vein blood. N referred to cows without subclinical or clinical hyperketonemia at each DIM.

<sup>4</sup>Hypocalcaemia was identified on 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM by University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory using coccygeal vein blood serum. N referred to cows without subclinical or clinical hypocalcaemia at each DIM.

<sup>5</sup>Metricheck device was used to score vaginal discharge on a scale of 1 to 3 with 1 being no metritis and >1 being metritis (Sterrett et al., 2014).

<sup>6</sup>Non Hyperketonemia was the cows that considered not having hyperketonemia during 1 to 21 DIM.

<sup>7</sup>Non Hypocalcaemia was the cows that considered not having hypocalcaemia during 1 to 21 DIM.

<sup>8</sup>Non Metritis was the cows that considered not having metritis during 1 to 21 DIM.

Figure 2.2. Compare lying/resting time and time not active changed by average all the cows from DIM 1 to DIM 21 with and without hyperketonemia<sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3.



## Figure 2.2. (cont.)

<sup>1</sup>Hyperkeonemia was detected by Precision Xtra (Abbott Laboratories, Chicago, IL, USA) BHBA, when blood BHBA was  $\geq 1.2 \text{ mmol/L}$  at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. <sup>2</sup>a) AfiAct Pedometer Plus (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel, b) IceQube (IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland), c) Track a))) cow (ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel), d) and e) SmartBow (Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse, Austria), and f) CowManager SensoOr (Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands) <sup>3</sup> † P < 0.1, \* P < 0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P < 0.001



Figure 2.3. Compare lying /resting bouts changed by average all the cows from DIM 1 to DIM 21 with and without hyperketonemia<sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3.

<sup>1</sup>Hyperkeonemia was detected by Precision Xtra (Abbott Laboratories, Chicago, IL, USA) BHBA, when blood BHBA was  $\geq 1.2 \text{ mmol/L}$  at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. <sup>2</sup>a) AfiAct Pedometer Plus (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel), b) IceQube (IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland), c) Track a))) cow (ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel)

<sup>3</sup>  $\dagger$  *P* < 0.1, \* *P* < 0.05, \*\* *P* < 0.01, \*\*\* *P* < 0.001



Figure 2.4. Compare activity/ steps/ motion changed by average all the cows from DIM 1 to DIM 21 with and without hyperketonemia<sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3.

#### Figure 2.4. (cont.)



<sup>1</sup>Hyperkeonemia was detected by Precision Xtra (Abbott Laboratories, Chicago, IL, USA) BHBA, when blood BHBA was greater than 1.2 mmol/L at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. <sup>2</sup>a) AfiAct Pedometer Plus (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel), b) Track a))) cow (ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel), c) and d) IceQube (IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland), e) and f) SmartBow (Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse, Austria), g) and h) CowManager SensoOr (Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands), i) HR Tag (SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel).

<sup>3</sup>  $\dagger$  *P* < 0.1, \* *P* < 0.05, \*\* *P* < 0.01, \*\*\* *P* < 0.001





<sup>1</sup>Hyperkeonemia was detected by Precision Xtra (Abbott Laboratories, Chicago, IL, USA) BHBA, when blood BHBA was  $\geq 1.2 \text{ mmol/L}$  at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. <sup>2</sup>a) HR Tag (SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel), b) SmartBow (Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse, Austria), c) CowManager SensoOr (Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands). <sup>3</sup> † P < 0.1, \* P < 0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P < 0.001

Figure 2.6. Compare eating time/time around the feed bunk changed by average all the cows from DIM 1 to DIM 21 with and without hyperketonemia<sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3.



<sup>1</sup>Hyperketonemia was detected by Precision Xtra (Abbott Laboratories, Chicago, IL, USA) BHBA, when blood BHBA was  $\geq 1.2 \text{ mmol/L}$  at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. <sup>2</sup>a) CowManager SensoOr (Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands), b) and c) Track a))) cow (ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel) <sup>3</sup> † P < 0.1, \* P < 0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P < 0.001









# Figure 2.7. (cont.)

<sup>1</sup>Hyperketonemia was detected by Precision Xtra (Abbott Laboratories, Chicago, IL, USA) BHBA, when blood BHBA was  $\geq 1.2 \text{ mmol/L}$  at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. <sup>2</sup>AfiLab Milk Analyzer, AfiMilk MPC Milk Meter (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel) <sup>3</sup> † *P* < 0.1, \* *P* < 0.05, \*\* *P* < 0.01, \*\*\* *P* < 0.001





<sup>1</sup>Hyperketonemia was detected by Precision Xtra (Abbott Laboratories, Chicago, IL, USA) BHBA, when blood BHBA was  $\geq 1.2 \text{ mmol/L}$  at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. <sup>2</sup> a) and b)AfiLab Milk Analyzer, AfiMilk MPC Milk Meter (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel), c) and d) AfiWeigh (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel). <sup>3</sup> † P < 0.1, \* P < 0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P < 0.001

Figure 2.9. Compare lying/resting time and time not active changed by average all the cows from DIM 1 to DIM 21 with and without hypocalcemina<sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3.



## Figure 2.9. (cont.)

<sup>1</sup>Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum concentrations  $\leq 8.6$  mg/dL by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>2</sup>a) AfiAct Pedometer Plus (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel), b) IceQube (IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland), c) Track a))) cow (ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel), d) and e) SmartBow (Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse, Austria), and f) CowManager SensoOr (Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands)

<sup>3</sup>  $\uparrow P < 0.1$ , \* P < 0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P < 0.001





<sup>1</sup>Hyocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>2</sup>a) AfiAct Pedometer Plus (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel), b) IceQube (IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland), c) Track a))) cow (ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel) <sup>3</sup>  $\dagger P < 0.1$ , \* P < 0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P < 0.001



Figure 2.11. Compare activity/ steps/ motion changed by average all the cows from DIM 1 to DIM 21 with and without hypocalcemina<sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3.

#### Figure 2.11. (cont.)



<sup>1</sup>Hypocalcemia was defined as any blood serum concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>2</sup>a) AfiAct Pedometer Plus (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel), b) Track a))) cow (ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel), c) and d) IceQube (IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland), e) and f) SmartBow (Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse, Austria), g) and h) CowManager SensoOr (Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands), i) HR tag (SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel) <sup>3</sup> † P < 0.1, \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01, \*\*\*P < 0.001





<sup>1</sup>Hypocalcemia was defined as any blood serum concentrations ≤ 8.6 mg/dL by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. <sup>2</sup>a) HR tag (SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel), b) SmartBow (Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse, Austria), c) CowManager SensoOr (Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands)

<sup>3</sup>  $\dagger$  *P* < 0.1, \* *P* < 0.05, \*\* *P* < 0.01, \*\*\* *P* < 0.001

Figure 2.13. Compare eating time/ time around the feed bunk changed by average all the cows from DIM 1 to DIM 21 with and without hypocalcemina<sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3.



<sup>1</sup>Hypocalcemia was defined as any blood serum concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>2</sup>a) CowManager SensoOr (Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands), b) and c) Track a))) cow (ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel) <sup>3</sup>  $\dagger P < 0.1$ , \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01, \*\*\*P < 0.001





# Figure 2.14. (cont.)

<sup>1</sup>Hypocalcemia was defined as any blood serum concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. <sup>2</sup>AfiLab Milk Analyzer, AfiMilk MPC Milk Meter (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel) <sup>3</sup> † P < 0.1, \* P < 0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P < 0.001





<sup>1</sup>Hypocalcemia was defined as any blood serum concentrations  $\leq 8.6$  mg/dL by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>2</sup> a) and b)AfiLab Milk Analyzer, AfiMilk MPC Milk Meter (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel), c) and d) AfiWeigh (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel) <sup>3</sup>  $\Rightarrow P < 0.1 \Rightarrow P < 0.05 \Rightarrow P < 0.01 \Rightarrow P < 0.01$ 

<sup>3</sup>  $\uparrow P < 0.1, *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001$
Figure 2.16. Compare lying/resting time and time not active changed by average all the cows from DIM 1 to DIM 21 with and without metritis<sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3.



## Figure 2.16. (cont.)

<sup>1</sup>Metritis was diagnosed by vaginal discharge evaluation with the MetriCheck device (Simcro Tech Ltd, Hamilton, New Zealand). A uterine discharge scoring system (Sterrett et al., 2014) was used, based on discharge visual appearance. Score 1: thick, viscous discharge, clear, opaque or red to brown in color, no odor or mild, non-offensive odor; score 2: white or yellow pus, moderate to thick discharge, mild odor; score 3: pink, red, dark red, or black watery discharge, detectable offensive odor, possibly intolerable. Cows with at least one uterine discharge score 2 were classified as clinical metritis cases.

<sup>2</sup>a) AfiAct Pedometer Plus (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel), b) IceQube (IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland), c) Track a))) cow (ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel), d) and e) SmartBow (Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse, Austria), and f) CowManager SensoOr (Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands).

<sup>3</sup>  $\dagger$  *P* < 0.1, \* *P* < 0.05, \*\* *P* < 0.01, \*\*\* *P* < 0.001





<sup>1</sup> Metritis was diagnosed by vaginal discharge evaluation with the MetriCheck device (Simcro Tech Ltd, Hamilton, New Zealand). A uterine discharge scoring system (Sterrett et al., 2014) was used, based on discharge visual appearance. Score 1: thick, viscous discharge, clear, opaque or red to brown in color, no odor or mild, non-offensive odor; score 2: white or yellow pus, moderate to thick discharge, mild odor; score 3: pink, red, dark red, or black watery discharge, detectable offensive odor, possibly intolerable. Cows with at least one uterine discharge score 2 were classified as clinical metritis cases.

<sup>2</sup>a) AfiAct Pedometer Plus (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel), b) IceQube (IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland), c) Track a))) cow (ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel)  ${}^{3}$ † P < 0.1, \* P < 0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P < 0.001





### Figure 2.18. (cont.)



<sup>1</sup>Metritis was diagnosed by vaginal discharge evaluation with the MetriCheck device (Simcro Tech Ltd, Hamilton, New Zealand). A uterine discharge scoring system (Sterrett et al., 2014) was used, based on discharge visual appearance. Score 1: thick, viscous discharge, clear, opaque or red to brown in color, no odor or mild, non-offensive odor; score 2: white or yellow pus, moderate to thick discharge, mild odor; score 3: pink, red, dark red, or black watery discharge, detectable offensive odor, possibly intolerable. Cows with at least one uterine discharge score 2 were classified as clinical metritis cases.

<sup>2</sup>AfiAct Pedometer Plus (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel), b) Track a))) cow (ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel), c) and d) IceQube (IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland), e) and f) SmartBow (Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse, Austria), g) and h) CowManager SensoOr (Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands), i) HR tag (SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel) <sup>3</sup> † P < 0.1, \* P < 0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P < 0.001





<sup>1</sup>Metritis was diagnosed by vaginal discharge evaluation with the MetriCheck device (Simcro Tech Ltd, Hamilton, New Zealand). A uterine discharge scoring system (Sterrett et al., 2014) was used, based on discharge visual appearance. Score 1: thick, viscous discharge, clear, opaque or red to brown in color, no odor or mild, non-offensive odor; score 2: white or yellow pus, moderate to thick discharge, mild odor; score 3: pink, red, dark red, or black watery discharge, detectable offensive odor, possibly intolerable. Cows with at least one uterine discharge score 2 were classified as clinical metritis cases.

<sup>2</sup>a) HR tag (SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel), b) SmartBow (Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse, Austria), c) CowManager SensoOr (Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands) <sup>3</sup>† P < 0.1, \* P < 0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P < 0.001

Figure 2.20. Compare eating time/ time around the feed bunk changed by average all the cows from DIM 1 to DIM 21 with and without metritis<sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3.



<sup>1</sup>Metritis was diagnosed by vaginal discharge evaluation with the MetriCheck device (Simcro Tech Ltd, Hamilton, New Zealand). A uterine discharge scoring system (Sterrett et al., 2014) was used, based on discharge visual appearance. Score 1: thick, viscous discharge, clear, opaque or red to brown in color, no odor or mild, non-offensive odor; score 2: white or yellow pus, moderate to thick discharge, mild odor; score 3: pink, red, dark red, or black watery discharge, detectable offensive odor, possibly intolerable. Cows with at least one uterine discharge score 2 were classified as clinical metritis cases.

<sup>2</sup>a) CowManager SensoOr (Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands), b) and c) Track a))) cow (ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel)

<sup>3</sup>† P < 0.1, \* P < 0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P < 0.001



Figure 2.21. Compare milk component changed by average all the cows from DIM 1 to DIM 21 with and without metritis<sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3.

## Figure 2.21. (cont.)

<sup>1</sup>Metritis was diagnosed by vaginal discharge evaluation with the MetriCheck device (Simcro Tech Ltd, Hamilton, New Zealand). A uterine discharge scoring system (Sterrett et al., 2014) was used, based on discharge visual appearance. Score 1: thick, viscous discharge, clear, opaque or red to brown in color, no odor or mild, non-offensive odor; score 2: white or yellow pus, moderate to thick discharge, mild odor; score 3: pink, red, dark red, or black watery discharge, detectable offensive odor, possibly intolerable. Cows with at least one uterine discharge score 2 were classified as clinical metritis cases.

<sup>2</sup>AfiLab Milk Analyzer, AfiMilk MPC Milk Meter (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel) <sup>3</sup>† P < 0.1, \* P < 0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P < 0.001



Figure 2.22. Compare milk yield / body weight changed by average all the cows from DIM 1 to DIM 21 with and without metritis<sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3.

<sup>1</sup>Metritis was diagnosed by vaginal discharge evaluation with the MetriCheck device (Simcro Tech Ltd, Hamilton, New Zealand). A uterine discharge scoring system (Sterrett et al., 2014) was used, based on discharge visual appearance. Score 1: thick, viscous discharge, clear, opaque or red to brown in color, no odor or mild, non-offensive odor; score 2: white or yellow pus, moderate to thick discharge, mild odor; score 3: pink, red, dark red, or black watery discharge, detectable offensive odor, possibly intolerable. Cows with at least one uterine discharge score 2 were classified as clinical metritis cases.

<sup>2</sup> a) and b)AfiLab Milk Analyzer, AfiMilk MPC Milk Meter (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel), c) and d) AfiWeigh (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel) <sup>3</sup> $\uparrow$  *P* < 0.1, \* *P* < 0.05, \*\* *P* < 0.01, \*\*\* *P* < 0.001

Figure 2.23. Overall disease incidence for 138 transition cows from Jane 2014 to October 2015 in relation to a) blood serum cholesterol concentration (mmol/L), b) blood serum non-esterified fatty acid (NEFA) concentration (mmol/L), c) milk  $\beta$ -hydroxybutyrate (BHBA; Porta BHB strip score<sup>1</sup>) concentration, and d) milk haptoglobin concentration (mmol/L).



# Figure 2.23. (cont.)

<sup>1</sup>Porta BHB strip score: The semi-quantitative dipstick changed color after one drop of milk was added, and compared the result with the color chart. The level of BHB concentration in milk is separated into four catalogs, normal (-) 0-99  $\mu$ mol/L, questionable (+/-) 100 to199  $\mu$ mol/L, positive (+) 200 to 499  $\mu$ mol/L, and positive (++) 500+  $\mu$ mol/L.

<sup>2</sup>No, cows during 21 DIM were diagnosed without any diseases.

<sup>3</sup>Hypocalcaemia, referred to the cows with hypocalcaemia.

<sup>4</sup>Metritis, referred to the cows with metritis.

<sup>5</sup>Hyperketonemia and hypocalcaemia referred to the cows with hyperketonemia and hypocalcaemia.

<sup>6</sup>Hyperketonemia and metritis referred to the cows with hyperketonemia and metritis.

<sup>7</sup> Hypocalcaemia and metritis referred to the cows with hypocalcaemia and metritis.

<sup>8</sup>All referred to cows with all three all three possible types of diseases (hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis).

## **CHAPTER THREE**

# Postpartum disease detection potential using precision dairy monitoring technologies

I.C. Tsai<sup>\*</sup>, L.M. Mayo<sup>\*</sup>, B.W. Jones<sup>\*</sup>, A.E. Stone<sup>\*</sup>, D.L. Ray<sup>\*</sup>, J.D. Clark<sup>\*</sup>, H.M. White<sup>†</sup>, S.A. Janse<sup>‡</sup>, Y.M. Chang<sup>§</sup>, and J.M. Bewley<sup>\*</sup>

<sup>\*</sup>University of Kentucky, Lexington, Kentucky 40546, Department of Animal and Food Sciences

<sup>†</sup>University of Wisconsin-Madison Department of Dairy Science

<sup>‡</sup>Department of Statistics, University of Kentucky, Lexington, 40546

<sup>§</sup>Research Support Office, The Royal Veterinary College, London, United Kingdom

### ABSTRACT

Precision dairy monitoring (PDM) technologies are used to measure physiological or behavioral, and production variables on individual animals to improve management strategies and farm performance (Bewley, 2010). Seven different commercial PDM devices were used to monitor cows from 1 to 21 DIM. The UNIVARIATE and GENMOD procedures of SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc., Raleigh, NC) were used and compared the 5d (5D) moving range of actual disease occurrence (metritis, hyperketonemia, and hypocalcemia) with the alert that analysis generated from PDM variable changes. Three metabolic diseases (metritis, hyperketonemia, and hypocalcemia) and the combination of the three diseases (DIS) were covered in this study. An odds ratios analysis of developing transition cow diseases was also included in this study. Base on one standard deviation (SD) different from the whole herd as the unit. Overall disease detection performance varied by PDM technology, ranging from 62 to 90% sensitivity, 66 to 85% specificity, and 73 to 83% accuracy. The 5D moving range combined with each PDM improved sensitivity, specificity, and accuracy compared to other PDM studies (Stangaferro et al., 2016b). One SD increase in milk fat: protein (0.2) increased the odds of developing DIS by 1.48 to 1.75 (P < 0.01). If lying time increased one SD (137 to 164 min/d), the odds of developing DIS increased by 1.27 to 1.32 (P < 0.01). One SD decrease in rumination time (96 to 110 unit/d) increased the odds of developing DIS by 1.38 to 1.54 (P < 0.01). These results demonstrate the possibility of detecting disorders by monitoring physical activity, eating behavior, and temperature. Incorporating PDM into a management system could be a useful tool for identifying cows with metabolic disorders, and increasing producer's profitability and animal's well-being.

Keywords: Precision dairy monitoring (PDM), transition cow disease, sensitivity

### INTRODUCTION

The transition period is defined as the three weeks before and after calving. Transition cow diseases are considered to be production diseases. Metabolic disease, a specific type of production disease, reflects cows' inability to maintain metabolic demands. Insufficient energy supply increases the incidence rate of metabolic diseases such as milk fever, endometritis, ketosis, displaced abomasum, and retained placenta (Drackley, 1999, Duffield, 2000). Around 30% to 50% of dairy cows developed metabolic diseases or infections around calving (LeBlanc, 2010). McArt et al. (2012a) showed the incidence rate of subclinical hyperketonemia was between 26 to 56% (Drackley et al., 2001, Gilbert et al., 2005, Ingvartsen, 2006), and the cost was \$67 per case. Lean et al. (2006) indicated that the mean incidence of hypocalcemia was 21% and the cost was \$335 per case (Liang, 2013). Sheldon and Dobson (2004) pointed out that dairy cows had a 10 to 20% chance of developing metritis after calving, and the cost ranged from \$146 to \$176 per case (Mahnani et al., 2015). Thus, closely monitoring cows during this critical period is imperative to cow longevity. Systematic observations could provide accurate and efficient early detection for hyperketonemia, hypocalcemia, and metritis.

Precision dairy monitoring (**PDM**) technologies measure physiological, behavioral, production variables on individual animals which can help dairy farmers improve management strategies and overall efficiency (Bewley, 2010). With PDM, producers could improve farm performance, management, efficiency (El-Osta and Morehart, 2000), and reduce labor and costs. This is especially true in the large dairy operations, where producers could save 29% on labor (De Koning, 2010). Recently, technologies have been improved, thus monitoring systems could measure more variables than systems on the market than in the past. Variables included: daily milk yield, step number, temperature, milk electrical conductivity, milk color sensors (Grummer,

1995), accelerometer sensors (Bertics et al., 1992, Rukkwamsuk et al., 1999, Sato et al., 1999), rumen pH (Adewuyi et al., 2005), and body weight which could help producers monitor individual cows (Bewley, 2010).

Behavior monitoring with PDM of dairy cows has been used to understand health status, management, and cows' welfare (Mattachini et al., 2013). Changes in standing and lying behavior could also be useful for the detection of health problems in the transition period, such as lameness (Proudfoot et al., 2010, Calderon and Cook, 2011), dystocia (Proudfoot et al., 2009), and subclinical hypocalcemia (Jawor et al., 2012). Precision dairy monitoring also had the potential to detect disease early, maximizing individual animal performance. Disease detection has relied on producers observing clinical signs, but once clinical signs have been displayed, it is often too late to act effectively. Clinical signs were often preceded by physiological changes that were undetectable with human senses, but may be observable with PDM and could allow producers to intervene sooner (Bewley, 2012). With early detection, producers could decrease culling rates and increase animal well-being. With an alert provided by the system, producers could identify cows with disorders. Improved sensor performance to increase the detection accuracy is needed. One major concern with technologies is the large number of false positive alerts (Hogeveen et al., 2010). With improved detection models and sensors, PDM could flag cows with disorders and producers could react much faster. For producers, easy access to PDM data and a reliable alert system could greatly assist in understanding the herd status.

To the authors' knowledge, no study using multiple commercial PDM for early detection of metabolic diseases has been published. The objective of this study was to use variables from multiple commercially available PDM to exam alert performance generated from different analyses and define the odds ratio of having a disease. The first analysis examined behavioral

changes with the UNIVARIATE procedure of SAS to generate alerts to compare with disease occurrence. The second analysis used the GENMOD procedure of SAS to generate disease probabilities and created alerts based on probability thresholds. Both analyses utilized the EXPAND procedure of SAS to create a 5d backward moving window for the alerts and disease occurrences.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

This experiment was part of a larger study designed to quantify physiological and behavioral changes associated with mastitis, lameness, estrus, and postpartum diseases, using multiple PDM. All studies were performed with the approval of the University of Kentucky Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC protocol number: 2013-1199).

## Animal, Feeding, and Housing

One hundred and thirty-eight lactating Holstein cows at the University of Kentucky Coldstream Dairy (Lexington, KY, USA) were enrolled in this study from June 2014 to October 2015. Cows were enrolled in the protocol after they calved. Lactating cows were housed in two freestall barns, one barn with 54 dual chamber waterbeds (Advanced Comfort technology, Inc., Reedsburg, WI) and the other equipped with 54 rubber-filled mattresses, both surfaces covered with sawdust. Prepartum cattle were housed in a 9.15 x 21.34 m straw bedded-pack with constant access to 3.64 hectares of pasture. A total mixed ration was delivered once daily to dry cows. Before and throughout the study, cows were balanced between barns by DIM and parity. Calving dates, breeding dates, and DIM were obtained from PCDART management software (Dairy Records Management Systems, Raleigh, NC). Parity ranged from 1 to 7. The mean parity for the herd was  $2.10 \pm 1.27$ . Percent of cows in parities 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 were 37%, 37%, 10%, 10%, 2%, 2%, and 2%, respectively. A weather station (HOBO U23 Pro v2 External Temperature/Relative Humidity Data Logger - U23-002, Onset, Bourne, MA) was located inside each freestall barn that measured relative humidity and temperature every 15 minutes. Temperature humidity index (**THI**) was computed using the following formula (NOAA and Administration, 1976): THI = temperature ( $^{0}$ F) - [0.55 – (0.55 × relative humidity/100)] × [temperature ( $^{0}$ F) – 58.8].

Cows were provided ad libitum access to water in each barn and shared a feedbunk between barns. Lactating cows were fed the same ration at 0600 and 1330 daily. Dry cows were fed a different ration at 0600 once daily. The diet consisted of corn silage, alfalfa hay, mineral and vitamin supplement, concentrate mix, whole cottonseed, and alfalfa haylage. Dry cow diet consisted of Orchard grass hay, cotton seed, mineral mix, wheat straw, biochlor, and hay. Cows were milked two times per d at 0430 and 1530.

## Fresh cow exam

Cows were monitored every day after morning milking from 0700 to 0900 for the first 21 d of lactation. Rectal temperature and behavioral score were monitored daily for the first 21 DIM (Figure 2.1). Rectal temperature was measured with a GLA thermometer (GLA Agricultural Electronics, San Luis Obispo, CA). Cows were measured while standing still in the freestall barn. A MetriCheck (Simcro Tech Ltd, Hamilton, New Zealand) device (50- cm-long stainless steel rod with a 4-cm hemisphere of silicon at the end for vaginal insertion) was used to obtain a uterine discharge sample and scored on 3, 5, 7, 9, 11, 14, 17, 19, and 21 DIM (Figure 2.1). A uterine discharge scoring system (Sterrett et al., 2014) was used, based on visual appearance of sample; score 1: thick, viscous discharge, clear, opaque or red to brown in color, no odor or mild, non-offensive odor; score 2: white or yellow pus, moderate to thick discharge, mild odor; score

3: pink, red, dark red, or black watery discharge, detectable offensive odor, possibly intolerable. Cows with at least one uterine discharge score  $\geq 2$  were classified as clinical metritis cases. Blood samples

 $\beta$ -carotene level from blood plasma was collected once from a range of  $15 \pm 5$  d before calving, and at 3 DIM (Figure 2.1). β-carotene was measured using iCheck (ROVIMIX® β-Carotene, Heerlen, Netherlands) which is a spectrophotometer that interpreted color absorbency. Blood samples were obtained by caudal venipuncture on days 3 and 7 DIM. One 10 ml EDTA purple-top Vacutainer® (Becton, Dickinson and Company, New Jersey) for β-carotene, retinol and biochemical analysis and sterile 10 ml tubes containing 200  $\mu$ l stabilizer solution (0.3 m EDTA, 1% acetyl salicylic acid, pH 7.4) for hormonal analysis were used. The sample was centrifuged for 20 min at 2500 RPM to obtain the plasma from the purple top tube, and plasma was used to mix with the solution that the company provided into cuvettes. The measurement was described previously by Schweigert et al. (2007). Ca level from blood serum and ketone level from blood was collected on 3, 7, 14, and 21 DIM (Figure 2.1). One 10 ml red-top Vacutainer® (Becton, Dickinson and Company, New Jersey) tube containing no anticoagulant was required for Ca diagnosis test. Samples were spun down in a centrifuge for 20 min at 2500 RPM to obtain the serum, and samples were split into 3 tube. The first subsample of serum was sent to the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory within 1 d. Calcium was analyzed using a Calcium-Arsenazo assay (ACE Alera, Alfa Wassermann Diagnostic Technologies, LLC, West Caldwell NJ). Hypocalcemia was defined as a serum Ca level < 8.6 mg/dL (Chapinal et al., 2011). The second serum sample was sent to the University of Wisconsin-Madison: Wisconsin, Dr. Heather White (1675 Observatory Drive, Rm 934B) and analyzed by Wako (Wako pure Chemical Industries Ltd, Japan) NEFA-C test (ACS-ACOD

method) to evaluate NEFA. The third vial of serum was used in Konelab<sup>TM</sup> 20XT Clinical Chemistry Analyzer (Thermo Electron Oy, Finland) to analyze cholesterol level. On days 3, 7, and 14, BHBA concentration was measured in a whole-blood sample left over from the blood drawn for the Ca test (Figure 2.1). A Precision Xtra electronic handheld device (Abbott Laboratories, Chicago, IL, USA), validated by Iwersen et al. (2009), was used with ketone test strips and 1.5 µL of blood drawn into a sample well. Cows with BHBA  $\geq$  1.2 mmol/L were classified as having hyperketonemia (Geishauser et al., 1998, McArt et al., 2012c, Kaufman et al., 2016).

### PDM

Each cow was equipped with the PDM before being enrolled in the study to allow for an adjustment period of at least two weeks for cows to get used to the PDM with AfiAct pedometer Plus (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel) sensors recorded total lying time which was validated for dairy cattle use by Mattachini et al. (2013). DVM Bolus (DVM Systems, LLC, Greeley, CO) recorded reticulorumen temperature. HR Tag (SCR Engineers Ltd, Netanya, Israel) sensors recorded total rumination time which was validated for dairy cattle use by Schirmann et al. (2009b). CowManager SensoOr (Agis Autimatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands) sensors recorded total time active, time not active, eating and rumination which was validated for dairy cattle use by Wolfger et al. (2015). IceQube (IceRobotics Ltd, Edinburgh, Scotland) sensors recorded total daily lying time and lying time per bouts which was validated for daily cattle use by McGowan et al. (2007). SmartBow (Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse, Austria) recorded rumination time, lying time, time active, and time not active. Track a))) cow (ENGS, Hampshire, UK) recorded time around the feed bunk, number of steps, lying time and lying bouts (Table2.1). The technologies were found correlated for dairy cattle by Borchers et al. (2016).

Leg devices were placed on the legs, and each cow received an individual tag. Resting time (or lying time) was measured by leg tags. Lying bouts, measured by leg tags, recorded the number of times that a cow lied down. Number of steps was measured by leg tags that recorded how many steps cows took per day. Time around the feed bunk was measured by leg tag that recorded how long cows spent around the feed bunk. DVM boluses, which were active before insertion in the rumen, were inserted into the reticulorumen orally, using a bolus gun. Ear tags were positioned using an ear tagger, provided by each technology company to fit the respective device. Ear tags that measured time not active recorded the time that cows were hanging their head in the air but doing nothing which could mean the cow was either standing or lying.

The AfiMilk MPC Milk Meter (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel) was used to collect individual milk yield and milking time for each milking. Body weights were recorded by AfiWeigh (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel), placed in a common exit alley. Cows were sorted into their respective groups using AfiSort (Afimilk, Kibbutz, Afikim, Israel) after each milking. All computer clocks were set to synchronize with NIST Internet Time Service (NIST, Gaithersburg, MD, USA) automatically, and time was checked on all computers manually on a weekly basis. The software recorded raw data, including measurements and recordings of behavioral and physiological parameters, daily.

#### Statistical Analyses

## Data Editing and Analyses

Statistical analyses were conducted using SAS Version 9.3 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC). Milk yields < or > 4 standard deviations from the previous week's average milk yield were removed, presumably caused by technology error. To account for decreased reticulorumen

temperature caused by water bouts, DVM reticulorumen temperatures were removed if < 38.3°C or if they were less than 4 standard deviations from the previous week's average temperature. Milk yield was sum (milked twice per day) and body weight was averaged (weight twice per day) to create one value per variable per cow per day. IceQube bout duration was each avergaed to create one value per variable per cow per day. IceQube lying bouts, IceQube standing time, IceQube motion, IceQube lying time, HR rumination, HR activity, CowManager SensoOr no active, CowManager SensoOr rumination, CowManager SensoOr feeding time, CowManager SensoOr active, CowManager SensoOr high active, SmartBow lying time, SmartBow inactive, SmartBow high active, SmartBow rumination, Track a))) cow lying time, Track a))) cow time around feed bunk, and Track a))) cow feed buck visit were each summed to create one value per variable per cow per day. If the measurement for any variable was 0 for the day, that variable was set as missing for that cow on that day. Cow days were removed if < 90%of each day's data was recorded, but if a cow generated > 99% of each day's data, that linear interpolation was used to include the missing 1% from that day. Cow days were between 90% and 99% were stay the same. And the cows day 90 % was selected, because the less impact on influence the entire data. In cases where less than 24 hours of data were available, the percentage lying for that period was used to calculate the percentage lying within 24 hours.

The UNIVARIATE procedure was used on these variables and the 1<sup>st</sup> and 99<sup>th</sup> percentile of all variables were removed. In the analysis, disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcemia, metritis, and any of their combinations. Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration  $\geq$ 1.2 mmol/L identified by Precision Xtra at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. Hypocalcemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq$  8.6 mg/dL by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. Metritis was

defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\geq 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM.

Analysis 1: sensitivity, specificity and accuracy of disease detection based on the 10<sup>th</sup> or 90<sup>th</sup> percentiles of each technology variable.

The UNIVARIATE procedure was used on each variable from each technology to identify the overall 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentiles. The 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentiles was generate from Tsai et al. (2016) and display in Table 3.4. When examining Tsai et al., 2016 any individual variables that were decreased (or were elevated) due to hyperketonemia, metritis, or hypocalcaemia would be conducted value  $< 10^{\text{th}}$  percentile (or  $> 90^{\text{th}}$  percentile) and result in an alert (Alert1). For ecample, the 90<sup>th</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup> percentile for AfiAct pedometer plus lying time were 711 and 315 min/d (Table 3.4). Cows with hypocalcemia had greater lying time, so if cows' lying time was >  $90^{\text{th}}$  (711 min/d), then an alert was created as alert (1). If the lying time was < 711 min/d then an alert was not created (0). And all the Alert1s for each variable were added together for each technology into an overall alert (Alert2). For instance, AfiAct Pedometer Plus measures 3 variables activity, lying time and lying bouts. Individual variables generated an Alert1 for activity, lying time, and lying bouts were added together as one technology to create Alert2. The UNIVARIATE procedure was conducted twice after Alert2 was generated to create the final alert (Alert3). The 50<sup>th</sup> percentile or greater of Alert2 was used to create Alert3. Different percentile of the Alert3 were tried, and only the percentile higher than 50% showed the greater results. If Alert2 was  $> 50^{\text{th}}$  percentile, Alert3 was generated (1); if Alert2 was  $< 50^{\text{th}}$  then Alert3 was not generated (0). To increase alert robustness, Alert3 and disease occurrence were increased to a 5d backward moving maximum (5D) with the EXPAND procedure of SAS. This created a 5D detection window that allowed detection on Day 0 (day event identified), Day<sub>-1</sub>,

Day<sub>-2</sub>, Day<sub>-3</sub>, or Day<sub>-4</sub>. Different days of backward moving were tried, but only the 5D backward show the greater results.

Correctly identified disease events were considered true positives (**TP**), non-alerted events were false negatives (**FN**), non-alerted non-events were true negatives (**TN**), and alerted non-events were false positives (**FP**; Firk et al., 2002). True positives were identified when alerts and diseases occurred at the same time within the 5D window. True negatives were identified when no alerts or diseases occurred at the same time within the 5D window. False positives were identified when alerts and no diseases occurred at the same time within the 5D window. False negatives were identified when diseases and no alerts occurred at the same time within the 5D window.

Specificity is the probability that a negative sample is from a disease-negative cow. Sensitivity is the probability that a positive alert is a true indicator of a disease (Hamann and Zecconi, 1998, Sherlock et al., 2008, Hogeveen et al., 2010). Because sensitivity and specificity are interdependent, thresholds should be set to optimize both (Hogeveen et al., 2010). Accuracy can account for the prevalence of a disease whereas sensitivity and specificity cannot. Accuracy depends on how strongly and closely the measured parameters are associated with the event, how accurately the technology measures the parameters, and how well the manufacturer algorithm processes the data to create useful alerts (Dolecheck et al., 2015). Sensitivity, specificity, and accuracy for each final multivariate model were determined using Equation. 3.1, 3.2, and 3.3 (Sherlock et al., 2008, Hogeveen et al., 2010).

Specificity = 
$$TN / (TN + FP) \times 100$$
 Equation 3.1

Sensitivity =  $TP / (TP + FN) \times 100$ 

**Equation 3.2** 

Accuracy = [(TP + TN) / (TP + TN + FP + FN) X 100]Equation 3.3

Analysis 2: Association between technology and disease status

The previous day's data was used for each technologies' variables to account for the timing of data availability to producers (**d** -1). A moving baseline was created for each cow and each variable through a 5D backwards mean. The baseline used data from d -2 (yesterday), d -3, d -4, d -5, and d -6. The percent change for each day was calculated using Equation. 3.4 and that data was used in all models. Where d-1 was the "current" day and baseline was the 5 previous days.

Percent change = 
$$(d-1 - baseline) / baseline x 100$$
 Equation 3.4

Models were analyzed with the GENMOD procedure with binomial distributions with cows as repeated subject and metabolic disease status as the dependent variable (yes or no for having hyperketonemia, hypocalcemia, or metritis). Metabolic disease status was expanded to a 5D rolling backward maximum to a wider window for compare. The single variable GENMOD procedure was used to screen all the variables to include in the multivariate models. Nonsignificant variables ( $P \ge 0.05$ ) were not accounted for in any further analysis. The previous day's data (d -1) and percent change were examined independently for all variables. Variables significant in each of these individual models were then included in the multivariate models (P < 0.05).

Odds ratios were generated within GENMOD procedure of SAS, using one standard deviation different of variable's feature in the regression model. Standard deviation was

generated from the whole herd average and calculated. The odds ratios were from separate models to avoid highly related variables in the same model. The LOGISTIC procedure of SAS was used to calculate receiver operator characteristic (ROC) curves and determine probabilities of disease for each cow each day using all of the GENMOD identified variables. The ROC curves were created by sensitivity (y- axis) and 1- specificity (x-axis). Based on area under the curve (AUC), means the magnitude of the quantity that is obtained by the product of the quantities signified by the 1- specificity and the sensitivity axes. If AUC was > 0.7, the accurate performance of technology would be found (Swets, 1988). The GENMOD procedure of SAS was used to create probabilities for alert thresholds. Instead of using the threshold created from the AUC, probability was used to calculate the performance of PDM. Probability is the predicted value of the mean or the predicted probability that the response variable is less than or equal to the value in the model. In this study, probability was generated from GENMOD procedure, and represented the predicted value that response to the variables on cows with or without diseases. When the dataset probability for a particular cow on a particular day was greater than the GENMOD probability threshold, an alert was created for that cow on that day. All alerts and disease events were expanded to the 5D window using the EXPAND procedure of SAS. True positives, FN, TN, and FP were identified within the 5D window. Sensitivity (Equation 3.1), specificity (Equation. 3.2), and accuracy (Equation. 3.3) were calculated for each variable's probability threshold (Table 3.24 to Table 3.30).

#### RESULTS

A summary of all the tables is displayed in Table 3.1. Two main types of analysis were used, the UNIVARIATE and GENMOD procedures of SAS. The description of the EXPAND procedure 5D backward moving window is depicted in Figure 3.1. After an alert was created

from either UNIVARIATE or GENMOD, a 5D backward moving maximum was conducted. The EXPAND procedure with a 5D backward moving maximum was used to determine the timing of disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcemia, and metritis diagnosis.

All variables were examined within the UNIVARIATE procedure (Figure 3.2) from each technology and individual variables were selected according to Tsai et al. (2016). Selected variables from the UNIVARIATE procedure were used in the GENMOD procedure (Figure 3.3). Data from the previous day was used as an indicator in both models. The percent change of the variables affected by the cows with and without disease is displayed in Table 3.3. In the GENMOD procedure, the percent change of each variable was considered as an indicator, and that percent was considered as a predicted value.

### UNIVARIATE: performance

Overall PDM performance is displayed in Table 3.5. All the tables were separated by disease (disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcemia or metritis). Disease catalog was created by cows with any kind of diseases (either hyperketonemia, hypocalcemia or metritis). Technologies were separated by leg tags, neck tags, ear tags, the parlor analyzer, and the body weight measurement. Table 3.6 to Table 3.16 were the performance of individual PDM within the UNIVARIATE procedure, and Table 3.16 was the performance of all the PDM combination.

Table 3.6 iS the performance of AfiAct Pedometer Plus within UNIVARIATE procedure. Activity, lying time and lying bouts were conducted in the model. The disease detection performance was 71% sensitivity, 82% specificity, and 78% accuracy. The hyperketonemia detection performance was 78% sensitivity, 68% specificity, and 67% accuracy. The hypocalcemia detection performance was 77% sensitivity, 71% specificity, and 72% accuracy. The metritis detection performance was 72% sensitivity, 77% specificity, and 76% accuracy.

In Table 3.7, the performance of AfiLab Milk Analyzer within UNIVARIATE procedure was displayed. Milk protein, fat, lactose, fat: protein, conductivity, milk yield, and milking time were conducted in the model for detection. The disease detection performance was 82% sensitivity, 78% specificity, and 80% accuracy. The hyperketonemia detection performance was 78% sensitivity, 84% specificity, and 84% accuracy. The hypocalcemia detection performance was 79% sensitivity, 82% specificity, and 81% accuracy. The metritis detection performance was 76% sensitivity, 79% specificity, and 78% accuracy.

Table 3.8 is the performance of the body weight (AfiWeigh). The disease detection performance was 33% sensitivity, 80% specificity, and 94% accuracy. The hyperketonemia detection performance was 61% sensitivity, 90% specificity, and 90% accuracy. The hypocalcemia detection performance was 49% sensitivity, 92% specificity, and 88% accuracy. The metritis detection performance was 28% sensitivity, 81% specificity, and 81% accuracy.

Table 3.9 is the combination of all the Afi systems, which included all the variables above. The disease detection performance was 78% sensitivity, 81% specificity, and 80% accuracy. The hyperketonemia detection performance was 74% sensitivity, 90% specificity, and 89% accuracy. The hypocalcemia detection performance was 71% sensitivity, 86% specificity, and 88% accuracy. The metritis detection performance was 70% sensitivity, 82% sensitivity, and 79% accuracy.

In Table 3.10, the performance of Track a))) cow within UNIVARIATE procedure was displayed. The measurement combined lying time, lying bout, steps, time around the feed bunk, and feed bunk visit time. The disease detection performance was 79% sensitivity, 79% specificity, and 79of accuracy. The hyperketonemia detection performance was 79% sensitivity, 74% specificity, and 74% accuracy. The hypocalcemia performance detection was 74%

sensitivity, 78% specificity, and 78% accuracy. The metritis detection performance was 75% sensitivity, 78% specificity, and 78% accuracy.

The performance of DVM bolus was displayed in Table 3.11. Reticulorumen temperature was the only variable included in the model. The disease detection performance was 35% sensitivity, 92% specificity, and 79% accuracy. The hyperketonemia detection performance was 32% sensitivity, 94% specificity, and 92% accuracy. The hypocalcemia detection performance was 31% sensitivity, 95% specificity, and 90% accuracy. The metritis detection performance was 41% sensitivity, 93% specificity, and 85% accuracy.

In Table 3.12, the performance of IceQube was evaluated base on the variables of lying time, number of lying bouts, number of steps, motion index, and lying bout duration. The disease detection performance was 71% sensitivity, 84% specificity, and 80% accuracy. The hyperketonemia detection performance was 70% sensitivity, 78% specificity, and 77% accuracy. The hypocalcemia detection performance was 70% sensitivity, 82% specificity, and 80% accuracy. The metritis detection performance was 72% sensitivity, 80% specificity, and 78% accuracy.

The performance of HR tag is displayed in Table 3.13. Only neck activity and rumination were evaluated in the model. The disease detection performance was 42% sensitivity, 96% specificity, and 82% accuracy. The hyperketonemia detection performance was 70% sensitivity, 83% specificity, and 82% accuracy. The hypocalcemia detection performance was 68% sensitivity, 87% specificity, and 84% accuracy. The metritis detection performance was 54% sensitivity, 88% specificity, and 81% accuracy.

The performance of Smartbow and CowManager SensoOr ear tags is displayed in Table 3.13 and Table 3.15. Smartbow included lying time, rumination, time not active, and activity in

the model. The disease detection performance was 53% sensitivity, 90% specificity, and 79% accuracy. The hyperketonemia detection performance was 70% sensitivity, 81% specificity, and 81% accuracy. The hypocalcemia detection performance was 64% sensitivity, 74% specificity, and 73% accuracy. The metritis detection performance was 61% sensitivity, 78% specificity, and 74% accuracy.

CowManager SensoOr included rumination, time not active, and active a eating time in the model. The disease detection performance was 56% sensitivity, 91% specificity, and 81% accuracy. The hyperketonemia detection performance was 71% sensitivity, 81% specificity, and 81% accuracy. The hypocalcemia detection performance was 62% sensitivity, 83% specificity, and 81% accuracy. The metritis detection performance was 57% sensitivity, 87% specificity, and 80% accuracy.

In Table 3.16, all the PDMs were combined in the model. The disease detection performance was 81% sensitivity, 83% specificity, and 82% accuracy. The hyperketonemia detection performance was 80% sensitivity, 83% specificity, and 83% accuracy. The hypocalcemia detection performance was 81% sensitivity, 81% specificity, and 81% accuracy. The metritis detection performance was 79% sensitivity, 77% specificity, and 78% accuracy. As more variables were included in the model, more indicators were counted. The combination of PDM produced a visibly greater performance.

### GENMOD: Odds ratios

The GENMOD procedure of SAS was conducted from all the PDM individual variables to obtain significant variables (P< 0.05). The PDM variables were compared with cows with diseases or not to make sure the variable was significant affected by diseases. In this analysis, the variable that was significantly different would be the used as the odds ratio analysis. The odds

ratios were from separate models to avoid including highly related variables in the same model. Unit in the model was calculated with one standard deviation different from the herd average. Table 3.17 is selected after GENMOD, and only the variables from AfiLab Milk Analyzer had significant effects on having disease (P < 0.05). With every .7% milk fat increase, the odds of developing any disease increased 1.33 times. Every .3% milk protein decrease, the odds of developing any disease increased 1.20 times. With every .2 of milk fat: protein increase, the odds of developing disease increased 1.61 times. With every .3% of milk lactose increase, the odds of developing disease increased 1.22 times. With every 1.9 min of milking time decrease, the odds of developing disease increased 1.25 times. With every 10 kg of milk yield decrease, the odds of developing disease increased 1.25 times.

However, for hyperketonemia separate models were created and included milk fat, milk fat: protein, milk conductivity, and body weight. With every .7% of milk fat increase, the odds of developing hyperketonemia increased 1.76 times. With every .2 of milk fat: protein increase, the odds of developing hyperketonemia increased 1.75 times. With every .9% of milk conductivity increase, the odds of developing hyperketonemia increased 1.21 times. With every 87kg of body weight increase, the odds of developing hyperketonemia increased 1.21 times. The follow up disease was hypocalcemia, which included milk fat, milk protein, milk lactose, milk fat: protein, milk yield, milk conductivity, milking time, body weight, and resting time in the separate models. With every .7% of milk fat increase, the odds of developing hypocalcemia increased 1.87 times. With every .3% of milk protein increase, the odds of developing hypocalcemia increased 1.40 times. With every .3% of milk lactose decrease, the odds of developing hypocalcemia increased 1.48 times. With every 10 kg of milk yield decrease, the

odds of developing hypocalcemia increased 2.21 times. With every 1.9 min of milking time decrease, the odds of developing hypocalcemia increased 1.46 times. With every 87 kg of body weight decrease, the odds of developing hypocalcemia increased 2 times. With every 153 min of resting time increase, the odds of developing hypocalcemia increased 1.15 times.

Lastly, Afi system was used to detect metritis. Milk protein, milk lactose, milk fat: protein ratio and milk conductivity were including in the models. With every .3% of milk protein decrease, the odds of developing metritis increased 1.62 times. With every .3% of milk lactose increase, the odds of developing metritis increased 1.48 times. With every .2 of milk fat: protein ratio increase, the odds of developing metritis increased 1.48 times. With every .9% of milk conductivity increase, the odds of developing metritis increased 1.48 times. With every .9% of milk

The odds ratio of Track a))) cow variables that affected any diseases, hyperketonemia, hypocalcemia, and metritis are displayed in Table 3.18. Only significant variables were included in the final model (P < 0.05). In cows with any disease, every 76 min of time around the feed bunk decrease increased the odds of developing disease 1.19 times. Every 679 steps decrease increased the odds of developing disease 1.23 times. Every 164 min of lying time increase increased the odds of developing disease 1.16 times. No variables that are significantly different (P < 0.05) from Track a))) cow detected the variable changes between cows with and without hyperketonemia. One variable, time around the feed bunk, differed between cows with and without hypocalcemia. Every 76 min of time decrease around the feed bunk increased the odds of developing disease 1.65 times. Number of steps differed between cows with and without metritis (P < 0.01). Every 679 steps, decrease increased the odds of developing disease 1.24 times.

The odds ratio for DVM bolus reticulorumen temperature is displayed in Table 3.19. No significant difference was found with hyperketonemia, hypocalcemia, and metritis. In cows with 0.8°C of reticulorumen temperature increase, the odds of developing disease increased by 1.18 times (P = 0.04).

Odds ratios of having any disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcemia, and metritis from IceQube are reported in Table 3.20. Cows with the disease, recorded an affect in lying time and bout duration, respectively. With every 142 min of lying time increase, the odds of developing the disease increased 1.18 times (P < 0.01). And with every 142 min of bout duration increase, the odds of developing disease increased 1.18 times (P < 0.01). Cows with hyperketonemia had the same results as cows without the disease. With every 142 min increase in lying time, the odds of developing hyperketonemia increased by 1.27 times (P = 0.02). And with every 142 min increase of bout duration, the odds of developing hyperketonemia increased 1.27 times (P =0.02). Cow with hypocalcemia could be detected by the changing of lying time, bout duration, and steps, respectively. With every 142 min increase of lying time, the odds of developing hypocalcemia increased 1.26 times (P < 0.01). With every 142 min increase of bout duration, the odds of developing hypocalcemia increased 1.26 times (P < 0.01). And with every 474 steps increase, the odds of developing hypocalcemia increased 1.17 times (P = 0.04). Last, cow with metritis could be detected by the changing of steps and motion. With every 474 steps decrease, the odds of developing metritis increased 1.29 times (P < 0.01). And with every 1667 motion decrease, the odds of developing metritis increased 1.32 times (P < 0.01).

Table 3.21 is displayed with odds ratios from HR tags. Neck activity reported a significant difference in disease detection (P < 0.01). For every 119 unit of neck activity decrease, the odds of developing the disease increased 1.39 times. Neck activity produced similar

results in cows with hyperketonemia as a significant difference was found in the model (P<.0.01). For every 119 neck activity decrease, the odds of developing hyperketonemia increased 2.72 times. Cows with hypocalcemia could be detected by both neck activity and rumination, respectively. For every 119 neck activity decrease, the odds of developing hypocalcemia increased 1.96 times and with every 110 min rumination decrease, the odds of developing hypocalcemia increased by 1.54. Last, rumination time was significantly different in the metritis model (P<.0.01). For every 110 min increase of rumination, the odds of developing metritis increased 1.31 times.

Odds ratios from Smartbow variables are displayed in Table 3.22. Cows with the disease could be detected with lying time and time not active. For every 107 min increase of time not active, the odds of developing disease increased 1.20 times (P = 0.03). And with every 137 min of lying time increase, the odds of developing disease increased 1.32 times (P < 0.01). When cows have hyperketonemia, time not active, lying time, and rumination were affected, respectively. With every 107 min increase of time not active, the odds of developing hyperketonemia increased by 1.64 times (P < 0.01). With every 137 min of lying time increase, the odds of developing hyperketonemia increased 1.51 times (P = 0.02). And with every 96 min of rumination decrease, the odds of developing hyperketonemia increased 1.62 times (P < 0.01). Cows with hypocalcemia could be identified by detecting time not active and rumination time. For every 107 min of time not active increase, the odds of developing hyperketonemia increased 1.42 times (P < 0.01). And with every 96 min of rumination decrease, the odds of developing hyperketonemia increased 1.42 times (P < 0.01). And with every 96 min of rumination decrease, the odds of developing hyperketonemia increased 1.42 times (P < 0.01). And with every 96 min of rumination decrease, the odds of developing hyperketonemia increased 1.43 times (P < 0.01).

Odds ratios of CowManager SensoOr are displayed in Table 3.23. Variables that were listed as significant were affected by any disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcemia, and metritis

(P<0.05). A decrease of eating time was found in cows with the disease. For every 113 min decrease in eating time, the odds of developing disease increased 1.33 times (P = 0.02). A significant increase in time not active was recorded in cows with hypocalcemia (P<0.01). With every 172 min increase of time not active, the odds of developing hyperketonemia increased 1.58 times (P < 0.01). Hypocalcemia was detected by changes in time not active, rumination, and eating time. With every 172 min increase in time not active, the odds of developing hypocalcemia increased 1.47 times (P < 0.01). With every 120 min decrease in rumination time, the odds of developing hypocalcemia increased 1.30 times (P = 0.05). And with every 113 min decrease in eating time, the odds of developing hypocalcemia increased 1.43 times (P < 0.01). Cows with metritis were detected though the significant change was active time and rumination time (P<0.01). With every 23 min decrease of activity, the odds of developing metritis increased 1.21 times (P = 0.02). And with every 120 min of rumination increase, the odds of developing metritis increased 1.33 times (P < 0.01).

### GENMOD: MULTIVARIABLE

According to the univariable above, any variables from each technology that were significantly different in GENMOD were added into the multivariable model (P < 0.05). Also, any significant value from percent change in GENMOD univariable was selected in the multivariable as well (P < 0.05). Table 3.24 to Table 3.30 were separated by disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcemia, and metritis. Sensitivity, specificity, and accuracy were reported from 90% sensitivity, 90% specificity, and the equal value of sensitivity and specificity. Probability and ROC curve were generated from GENMOD procedure of SAS. Probability represents the predicted value of the mean of the response, or the predicted probability that the response from the data was used. Thus, the probability was used to set the threshold and calculate the performance of the technologies. After the select cut-point of probability, an alert was created. The performance was generated from the comparison of the alert and the timing of disease diagnosed.

Table 3.24 reports the performance of AfiAct Pedometer Plus, Afimilk, AfiLab, and AfiWeigh in combination. In disease detection, if the probability was greater than 0.5, then cows were considered sick in the multivariable model of GENMOD. The performance of the disease detection was 80% sensitivity, 85% specificity, and 83% accuracy. In hyperketonemia detection, if the probability was greater than 0.05, then cows were considered to have hyperketonemia in the multivariable model of GENMOD. Sensitivity was 80%, specificity was 79%, and the accuracy was 79% in hyperketonemia detection. If the probability were greater than 0.16 in the multivariable model of GENMOD, cows would consider as having hypocalcemia. The performance of hypocalcemia detection was 82% sensitivity, 80% specificity, and 80% accuracy. If the probability of metritis was greater than 0.45, the cows were considered to have metritis in the multivariable model of GENMOD. The performance of detection metritis was 83% sensitivity, 80% specificity and 81% accuracy.

The performance of Track a))) cow with GENMOD procedure is displayed in Table 3.25. For disease detection, if the probability was greater than 0.59, the disease detection performance was 80% sensitivity, specificity was 81%, and the accuracy was 81%. In hyperketonemia detection, if the probability was greater than 0.81, then the performance was 77% sensitivity, 70% specificity, and 71% accuracy. For hypocalcemia were considered to have the disease if the probability was greater than 0.75, and the disease detection performance was 62% sensitivity, 66% specificity, and 65% accuracy. For metritis, cows were considered to have the disease if the
probability was greater than 0.48 and the disease detection performance was 73% sensitivity, 76% specificity, and 75% accuracy.

DVM bolus performance with GENMOD procedure is displayed in Table 3.26. To detect disease, if the probability was greater than 0.5, then the performance of sensitivity was 70%, specificity would be 77%, and accuracy would be 75%. In hyperketonemia detection, if the probability was greater than 0.02, then the performance was 69% sensitivity, 78% specificity, and 77% accuracy. In hypocalcemia detection, if the probability was greater than 0.21 than the performance of the detection was 70% sensitivity, 75% specificity, and 74% accuracy. Because only reticulorumen temperature was detected within DVM, only one variable could be modeled. Thus, in metritis detection, there were not enough variables to include in the model, so DVM cannot provide metritis detection performance within the GENMOD procedure.

The performance of IceQube within the GENMOD procedure is displayed in Table 3.27. In disease detection, if the probability was greater than 0.64, then the performance of the detection was 78% sensitivity, 82% specificity, and 80% accuracy. For hyperketonemia, cows were considered to have the disease if the probability was greater than 0.13 and the disease detection performance was 83% sensitivity, 79% specificity and 80% accuracy. In hypocalcemia detection, if the probability was greater than 0.29, then the performance of the detection was 77% sensitivity, 81% specificity, and 80% accuracy. Last, in metritis detection, if the probability was greater than 0.5, then the performance of detection metritis was 81% sensitivity, 75% specificity, and 77% accuracy.

Table 3.28 displays the performance of the SCR HR tags within the GENMOD procedure. For disease detection, if the probability was greater than 0.57, the performance of detection was 76% sensitivity, 80% specificity, and 78% accuracy. In hyperketonemia detection,

if the probability was greater than 0.10, then the performance of detection was 71% sensitivity, 78% specificity, and 78% accuracy. For hypocalcemia detection, if the probability was greater than 0.18, then the performance of detection was 69% sensitivity, 85% specificity, and 83% accuracy. For metritis detection, if the probability was greater than 0.48, the performance of detection was 74% sensitivity, 74% specificity, and 74% accuracy.

Table 3.29 displays the performance of the ear tag Smartbow within GENMOD procedure of SAS. If the probability was greater than 0.2, the performance of disease detection was 46% sensitivity, 88% specificity, and 77% accuracy. If the probability was greater than 0.02, the performance hyperketonemia detection was 45% sensitivity, 94% specificity, and 93% accuracy. If the probability was greater than 0.15, the performance of hypocalcemia detection was 54% sensitivity, 82% specificity, and 80% accuracy. If the probability was greater than 0.45, the performance of metritis detection was 70% sensitivity, 77% specificity, and 75% accuracy.

The performance of CowManager SensoOr within GENMOD procedure is displayed in Table 3.30. If the probability was greater than 0.40, the performance of disease detection was 60% sensitivity, 85% specificity, and 78% accuracy. To detect hyperketonemia, the probability was greater than 0.08 was selected. The performance of hyperketonemia detection was 59% sensitivity, 86% specificity, and 85% accuracy. If the probability was greater than 0.1, the performance of hypocalcemia detection was 74% sensitivity, 76% specificity, and 75% accuracy. Last, if the probability was greater than 0.2, the performance of metritis detection was 62% sensitivity, 77% specificity, and 73% accuracy.

## DISCUSSION

## Hyperketonemia

To detect hyperketonemia, increased milk fat, milk fat: protein ratio, milk conductivity, body weight, lying time and decreased activity and rumination indicate possible changes that were useful variables. The blood BHBA concentration was normally used for detection hyperketonemia, but taking blood samples either from the coccygeal vein or jugular vein would increase handling stress for cows. If milk could be a good indicator of detection hyperketonemia, this could reduce stress and labor. And Nielen et al. (1994) stated that the comparison between milk ketone test and serum BHB were 73% of sensitivity and 98% of specificity. Further, cows go through the milking process every day, so the process is low stress and routine for cows. During milking, the hyperketonemia detection could be hold at the same time. While the milking process, PDM could help to exam the milk BHB level. Thus, with the finding of this study, milk component could be an indicator for detection hyperketonemia.

In Duffield et al. (1997), the milk fat percent ranged from 3.5 to 4.4, and milk protein ranged from 2.6 to 3.2 and had a greater receiver operating characteristic (**ROC**) curve. Receiver operating characteristic is a plot that determines the performance from a logistic model. Further, when milk fat percent was greater or equal to 4.1%, the performance of detection of subclinical hyperketonemia was 54% of sensitivity and 72% of specificity (Duffield et al., 1997). In the previous study, finding both high sensitivity and specificity was difficult. Although ROC was high, different cut-point of variables were still needed. But in Grieve et al. (1986), if milk fat: protein was less than or equal to 0.75, there was a greater accuracy of detection than when using either milk fat or protein or in combination. In a recent study, Koeck et al. (2014a), pointed out that the less the milk BHBA, the less the milk fat: protein. So, using the milk component to detect metabolic disease could be profitable.

Soriani et al. (2012) found a negative relationship between rumination and blood BHBA concentration. Kaufman et al. (2016a) suggested that monitoring rumination during the transition period could identify cows developing hyperketonemia. Kaufman et al. (2016a) also indicated that cows with a 20 min/d decrease in rumination could be at 1.2 times greater risk of developing hyperketonemia or other metabolic diseases. The present study found similar results. With every 60 min decrease of rumination, the likelihood of having hyperketonemia increased 1.14 to 1.35 times. However, in Stangaferro et al. (2016b) study, a 91% of sensitivity was found based on rumination and activity. Although in this study, the intermediate sensitivity was found (70%), the different comparison between alert and disease timing was conducted. Compared with the previous study, 5D was used to compare alert and disease being diagnosed, but in Stangaferro et al. (2016b) study 5d before and after disease had been diagnosed was conducted. In this study, 1D (1 day before the disease was diagnosed), 3D (3 days before the disease was diagnosed), 5D (5 days before the disease was diagnosed) and 7D (7 days before the disease was diagnosed) moving backward were used, but 5D showed the best performance. By using different comparing windows and analysis methods, result differs. But overall, hyperketonemia could be detected with the changes of rumination and activity.

Daily body weight was measured in the present study. With an increase of body weight, the incidence of having hyperketonemia also increased. Koeck et al. (2014b) found that cows with a greater BCS would have a lesser incidence of having hyperketonemia. But in another study, Garro et al. (2014), mentioned that high BCS before calving was associated with the high incidence of having hyperketonemia during the first 19 DIM. Also in Oetzel (2007), fat cow syndrome and a greater BSC around calving was associated with hepatic lipidosis and hyperketonemia. Further, with one unit change in BCS, the corresponding body weight changed

21 to 110 kg (Otto et al., 1991, Berry et al., 2006). In a recent study, Roche et al. (2015), found that cows with a greater body weight would have a greater chance of liver fat infiltration, greater risk of having the metabolic disease, and greater loss of BCS. More research is required about the relationship between the incidence of hyperketonemia and body weight. Last, lying time increase could be another indicator in detecting the development of hyperketonemia. According to Kaufman et al. (2016b), with every 131 min/d increase in lying time during the first week after calving, there was a 1.8 times greater chance of having hyperketonemia. Further, research from Edwards and Tozer (2004), and Itle et al. (2015) found a decrease of activity when cows developed hyperketonemia in the first 14 DIM. Cows with hyperketonemia have been reported to develop metritis (McArt et al., 2012a). Cows with only hyperketonemia were not found in this study, but the result indicated that having hyperketonemia would increase the chance of having other metabolic diseases.

#### Hypocalcemia

For detecting hypocalcemia, the increase of milk fat, milk fat: protein, milk conductivity, milk protein, lying time and the decrease of activity, body weight, rumination, time around feed bunk, milking time, and milk yield could be useful variables. In a previous paper, lying time and lying bouts was linked with metabolic disease in that cows with metabolic disease tended to have increased lying time (P = 0.04) (Sepulveda-Varas et al., 2014). The result of the study was similar to the present study in that cows with hypocalcemia increased lying time. With an increase in lying time, activity decreased at the same time (Edwards and Tozer, 2004). Thus, lying time could be a predictor of hypocalcemia. However, little research has been conducted on lying time to calculate sensitivity and specificity. In this study, the sensitivity of detecting hypocalcemia ranged from 20% to 90%, and because different PDM and variables were included

in model. But with the leg tag, AfiAct Pedometer Plus, Track a))) cow, and IceQube, the overall performance was 82%, 62%, and 77% of sensitivity, respectively. Further, in the Stangaferro et al. (2016b) study, using a different window of alert and disease occurrence could generate different performance of PDM. Thus, because of evidence from this study combined with the previous studies, lying time and activity could be an indicator of hypocalcemia.

Østergaard and Gröhn (1999) found multiparous cows with a greater body weight had an increased risk of developing hypocalcemia during the first week after calving. In Caixeta et al. (2015), if cows had low Ca blood level in first 3 DIM and if parity was greater than 3, the incidence of having hypocalcemia increased. In this study, body weight was one of the variables that could detect hypocalcemia, and with other variables combine in the model would increase the detection performance.

Milk yield has been the most debated variable. Rajala-Schultz et al. (1999) reported that cows with hypocalcemia would produce more milk than healthy cows. But Østergaard and Gröhn (1999) found that milk yield was not affected by hypocalcemia. In this study, cows with hypocalcemia had less milk production. The result was related to decreased time around the feed bunk, which indicates cows spent less time eating. Without enough energy to produce milk, body weight, activity, and rumination decreased. Also, Goff (2008) research pointed out that intake decrease was caused by NEB and resulted in decreasing milk yield. The effect of NEB causes the vicious cycle in cows' bodies, thus increasing the incidence rate of having the metabolic disease and the culling rate. However, Jawor et al. (2012) had a result that contradicted the present study. Jawor et al. (2012) suggested that cows with subclinical hypocalcemia produced 5.7 kg/d more than the control cows during weeks 2, 3, and 4 after calving. Although results were different from the previous studies, different technologies and methods were used. To date, technologies have changed to different versions and software systems. But the relationship between milk yield and hypocalcemia was not clear, and more research is needed.

Additionally, in this study the number of cows with only hypocalcemia was limited. Most of the cows had multiple metabolic diseases. And the same issue was found in the hypocalcemia detection that was found in hyperketonemia, cows with hypocalcemia have a greater risk of having other metabolic disease. So, variables which were included in the model could be associated with other metabolic diseases. In this result, milk fat and protein were affected when cows had hypocalcemia, which could also be because hyperketonemia occurred at the same time. Thus, the relationship between hypocalcemia and milk production, milk component, and intake requires further investigation.

### Metritis

In metritis detection, increased milk fat: protein ratio, milk conductivity, lying time, rumination, and the decrease of milk protein and activity could be useful variables. Heuer et al. (2000) mentioned that a milk fat: protein greater than 1.5 was a sign of energy insufficiency. Further, Toni et al. (2011) found that with greater milk fat: protein, the risk of developing metritis increased, which was similar to the present study. In the same study, Toni et al. (2011) reported that first lactation cows had a greater incidence of developing metritis than second or greater lactation cows. If milk fat: protein was greater than 2, the risk of developing metritis increased (Toni et al., 2011). Similarly, results of the previous and present studies found that milk fat: protein could be an indicator of metritis.

Stangaferro et al. (2016a) conducted a study with rumination and activity for detecting metritis. The overall sensitivity was 59%, and specificity was 98% in their study. But in this study, the sensitivity was 74%, and specificity was 74%. In Stangaferro et al. (2016a), cows were

diagnosed with metritis was moved backward 5 d to forward 2 d range relative to the time of metritis was diagnosed. In the present study, cows that were diagnosed with metritis were analyzed the 5d moving range only about to the time of metritis to diagnosis. Further, the numbers of cows were different in this study, and cows with multiple diseases also affected the result. In this study, cows with metritis also had other metabolic diseases, which affected the change in other variables. But in Stangaferro et al. (2016a) study, cows with only metritis were considered, and 322 cows were enrolled. However, a greater sensitivity and specificity were found in this study. The different number of cows, method of analysis, and cows suffering from multiple diseases were the factors that impacted the results. Further, Titler et al. (2013) indicated that 3d before cows had been diagnosed with metritis, changes in steps, activity, lying bout, and rumination was detected. Also, in Stangaferro et al. (2016b), research showed that cows with metritis had decreased rumination. More research is needed, but rumination and activity could an indicator of metritis.

#### **Overall** performance

Technologies have been improved and perform better over time, more variables and monitoring systems in the market than there has been in the past. So, dairy producers have more choices to implement in their farming system. But few of them understand the information that technologies provide (Russell and Bewley, 2013). Dairy producers have little understanding about technologies that were available and how best to adapt their current system. Around 25% of US farmers were aware they had not adapted technology well, but only 5% are adapting some aspect of the technology (Daberkow and McBride, 2003).

However, the best indicators were those with both high sensitivity and high specificity. Tests should rarely yield false positives (type I error; test shows positive when the animal was actually healthy) or false negatives (type II error; test shows negative when the animal was actually sick). The best assessment measures correctly identify sick animals (i.e., high sensitivity; the ratio of true positives to the total of true positives and false negatives) and healthy ones (i.e., high specificity; the ratio of true negatives to the total of false positives and true negatives).

In this study, greater sensitivity and specificity were found within the combination of the variables. In the previous study, Stangaferro et al. (2016b), only one PDM was used, and the comparison time window of having the disease and alert occurred was different. A larger time window was used in previous studies, a narrow window of time was used to detect the change in variables in the present study. In addition, the sample size was different, the previous study had more cows than the present study, and cows with multiple disease were small number. In this study, variables changed and disease diagnosed column were move 5 d backward window, which increased the time windows for comparison. However, when more variables were used, it presented the chance to create a more accurate model. In this study, milk component was present in each different disease section of the model, which pointed to milk component as a possible indicator of diseases.

## Future studies

The following are potential opportunities for improvements for future studies. Learning from experiences during the study, there are many errors. Human error, maintenance and study design are the three main areas. People training is an important part of having fully recorded data. Before using technology, people should be trained and understand who to go to and how to troubleshot the problem. People who are responsible for taking care of the technology should double-check the system every week at least to make sure is well functioning. The system should

be backed up the system every month, as this could make sure the company technicians have a resource to check the system if there is something wrong. Beside the PDM, during the fresh cow exam, training people could also affect the result. People who were trained to do fresh cow everyday need a reminder, in case of the missing data. No one is perfect, but with an effective reminder system, the chance of missing data could be reduced.

Second is maintenance the maintenance when the system was damaged by natural factors that cause system malfunction. The system was not housed inside but exposed out in the field. When the receiver was placed outside, under the severe weather, the receiver could be damaged. Natural factors include lightning, snow, and raccoons. The tag was designed to fit on the dairy cows' leg, neck or ear, but the data receiver needed to fit in with the natural environment. Thus, the location of the technology's receiver was crucial. Wild animals were the other natural factor, with the open feeding space for cows; raccoons were attracted to the feed. Thus, raccoons showed up on the farm and cheed the cable. During the study, raccoons damaged a few PDM receivers and wiring.

Next, change could be made in the study design. When intensively monitored dairy cows from 1 to 21 DIM, more samples could be taken. For blood BHBA, Ca, and NEFA, more samples could be taken. Instead of taking samples on DIM 3, 7, 14, and 21, the blood sample should be taken the intensively during first 7d, because daily fresh cow exams were already conducted, blood samples could also be taken simultaneously. Also, milk samples of BHBA and haptoglobin could be taken more often.

# **CONCLUSION**

Early detection of transition cow diseases during the postpartum period requires a systematic and consistent monitoring program. In this study, PDM provided the possibility of

detecting disorders by monitoring physical activity, rumination and temperature. However, different method and cut-point of probability would create different levels of the performance. The greater performance was found within variables combined in the same model. In addition, with different timing comparison, the greater performances were found in 5D before cows were diagnosed with diseases and alert backward moving 5D. Overall, the greater sensitivity and specificity associated with accuracy, and the accuracy associated with how well PDM could detect diseases early. With greater accuracy, producers could apply PDM daily and save labor and time. Technology manufacturers should continue to seek ways to monitor multiple variables at once and to improve upon the variables they already monitor. The PDM used in this study have progressed from the time of this study and may be better able to predict disease than they were at this time. Overall, using PDM to predict hypocalcemia, hyperketonemia, and metritis is promising, but needs future work into evaluating the best variables and the best statistical methodology.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank the University of Kentucky Coldstream dairy staff, and the undergraduate students who helped with fresh cow exam. Special thanks to the undergraduates who helped with eding the paper, Randi Gray and Lilliann Robertson. Aslo specially thanks to, Elizabeth Eckelkamp who helped to structure the paper. Thank you to Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel; DVM Systems, LLC, Greeley, CO; SCR Engineers Ltd, Netanya, Israel; Agis Autimatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands; IceRobotics Ltd, Edinburgh, Scotland; Smartbow GmbH , Jutogasse, Austria, and ENGS, Hampshire, UK company for donating the technologies used in this study, and especially for the technical support during the

entire process. Lastly, thank you to the University of Kentucky graduate students who edited and contributed to this manuscript.

Table 3.1. Introductory table outlining the tables and figures associated with disease occurrence, technology disease alert creation, and alert sensitivity, specificity, accuracy, and odds ratios by technology(s).

Technology(s)		Table(s) (page #)				
Depiction of a bac	kward moving maximum	Figure 3.1				
Method of analyse	es 1: UNIVARIATE procedure <sup>1</sup>	Figure 3.2				
Method of analyse	es 2 : GENMOD procedure <sup>2</sup>	Figure 3.3				
All the variable the	at conducted in this study	Table 3.2				
Overall sensitivty.	specificity, and accuracy of individual					
technologies						
······································	UNIVARIATE procedure	Table 3.3				
AfiSystem <sup>4</sup>	r					
Al	erts <sup>5</sup> created using UNIVARIATE procedure	Table 3.4 to $3.7$				
	Odds ratios <sup>6</sup>	Table 3.15				
	Alerts <sup>5</sup> created using GENMOD procedure	Table 3.22				
Track a))) Cow <sup>7</sup>		14010 0.22				
Al	erts <sup>5</sup> created using UNIVARIATE procedure	Table 3.8				
	Odds ratios <sup>6</sup>	Table 3.16				
	Alerts <sup>5</sup> created using GENMOD procedure	Table 3.23				
DVM <sup>8</sup>	There's created using OLI (110D procedure	14010 3.23				
Al	erts <sup>5</sup> created using UNIVARIATE procedure	Table 3.9				
7 11	Odds ratios <sup>6</sup>	Table 3.17				
	Alerts <sup>5</sup> created using GENMOD procedure	Table 3.24				
IceOube <sup>9</sup>	mens created using obtained procedure	14010 012 1				
Al	erts <sup>5</sup> created using UNIVARIATE procedure	Table 3 10				
7 11	Odds ratios <sup>6</sup>	Table 3.18				
	Alerts <sup>5</sup> created using GENMOD procedure	Table 3.25				
SCR HR-Tag <sup>10</sup>	ments created using OLI (mod procedure	14010 3.25				
Al	erts <sup>5</sup> created using UNIVARIATE procedure	Table 3 11				
7 11	Odds ratios <sup>6</sup>	Table 3 19				
	Alerts <sup>5</sup> created using GENMOD procedure	Table 3.26				
Smarthow <sup>11</sup>	ments created using OLI (mod procedure	10010 3.20				
Al	erts <sup>5</sup> created using UNIVARIATE procedure	Table 3.12				
7 11	Odds ratios <sup>6</sup>	Table 3.20				
	Alerts <sup>5</sup> created using GENMOD procedure	Table 3.20				
CowManager <sup>12</sup>	ments created using OLI (mod procedure	10010 3.27				
Al	erts <sup>5</sup> created using UNIVARIATE procedure	Table 3 13				
7 11	Odds ratios <sup>6</sup>	Table 3.21				
	Alerts <sup>5</sup> created using GENMOD procedure	Table 3.28				
All the precision d	All the precision dairy technologies <sup>13</sup>					
	erts <sup>5</sup> created using UNIVARIATE procedure	Table 3-14				
Al	ons orealed using one and and procedure	10010 3.17				

# Table 3.1. (cont.)

<sup>1</sup>The UNIVARIATE procedure of SAS was used to determine 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentiles for each variable. Either 10<sup>th</sup> or 90<sup>th</sup> percentiles were used to create a disease alert for each variable. Tables are depictions of the sensitivity, specificity, and accuracy of this disease detection method.

<sup>2</sup>The GENMOD procedure of SAS was used to determine probability cut-points for each variable. The probability was used to create a disease alert for each variable. Tables are depictions of the sensitivity, specificity, and accuracy of this disease detection method.

<sup>3</sup>Behavioral includes: lying time, lying bouts, rumination, eating time, time around the feed bunk, activity, steps, milk fat, milk protein, milk fat protein ratio, milk lactose, milk yield, milk conductivity, and body weight. <sup>4</sup>AfiSystem includes: AfiAct Pedometer Plus, Afimilk, AfiLab, AfiWeigh, and all Afi technology together

<sup>5</sup>Alerts were categorized as true positive, true negative, false positive, or false negative. Alerts were created by predetermined thresholds for cases of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, or metritis. A true positive was created when both an alert and an actual disease event occurred within the same 5d window. A true negative was created when an alert and no actual disease event occurred within the same 5d window. A false positive was created when an alert and no actual disease event occurred within the same 5d window. A false negative was created when an alert and no actual disease event occurred within the same 5d window. A false negative was created when an actual disease event occurred within the same 5d window.

<sup>6</sup>Each odds ratio referred to each technology mentioned directly above it. Odds ratios represented the chance of having a disease(s). If odds ratio was a positive number, the chance of having a disease increased. If odds ratio was a negative number, the chance of having a disease decreased.

<sup>7</sup>Track a))) cow, ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel.

<sup>8</sup>VM bolus, DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO.

<sup>9</sup>IceQube, IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland.

<sup>10</sup>HR Tag, SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel.

<sup>11</sup>SmartBow, Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse, Austria.

<sup>12</sup>CowManager SensoOr, Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands.

<sup>12</sup>All technologies referred to all the precision dairy technologies list above combined together.



Figure 3.1 Depiction of 5d backward moving maximum<sup>1</sup> alert<sup>2</sup> and disease<sup>3</sup>.

<sup>1</sup>Backward moving maximum, in order to have a wider window to compare alert and disease. In both analyses, EXPAND was used to create the wider window for calculated sensitivity, specificity and accuracy.

<sup>2</sup>Alert was created by UNIVARIATE and GENMOD procedure of SAS. Alerts were categorized as true positive, true negative, false positive, or false negative. Alerts were created by predetermined thresholds for cases of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, or metritis. A true positive was created when both an alert and an actual disease event occurred within the same 5d window. A true negative was created when no alert and no actual disease event occurred within the same 5d window. A false positive was created when an alert and no actual disease event occurred within the same 5d window. A false positive was created when an alert and no actual disease event occurred within the same 5d window. A false positive was created when an actual disease event and no alert occurred within the same 5d window.

<sup>3</sup>Disease was diagnosed from daily fresh cow, and 5d backward moving maximum was applied. Before disease was diagnosed, behavior changed, so 5d backward moving would increase the detection of metabolic disease.

<sup>4</sup>Variables changed before disease was diagnosed, and technologies sensed the increase or decrease of the variables during this time.

Figure 3.2. Analysis 1, Flowchart of how alerts were created using precision dairy monitoring technologies to detect fresh cow disease in dairy cows within UNIVARATE procedure of SAS.



# Figure 3.2. (cont.)

<sup>1</sup>Alert1 was created by each variable from individual technology. For example, AfiAct Pedometer Plus has activity, lying time, and lying bouts; so three of the variable would be consider to be three alert1s.

<sup>2</sup>Alert2 was created by all the variables from individual technology. For example, add all the AfiAct Pedometer Plus variables together to generate one number, alert2.

<sup>3</sup>Alert3 was after running UNIVERIATE procedure of SAS on alert2. If alert2 was greater than 50<sup>th</sup> percentile, Alert3 was generated.

<sup>4</sup>Disease was defined when blood Ca levels  $\leq 8.6$  mg/dL were considered as hypocalcaemia (Chapinal et al., 2011). Blood ketone levels  $\geq 1.2$  mmol/l were considered as hyperketonemia (McArt et al., 2012b). MetriCheck scores  $\geq 2$  was considered as metritis (Sterrett et al., 2014).

<sup>5</sup>Any alert window that overlapped with an event (disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, or metritis) was considered a true positive. Any alert window that did not overlap with an event was considered a false positive. An event that occurred without a corresponding alert window was considered a false negative. Lack of an alert window and a disease at the same time point was considered a true negative.

Figure 3.3. Analysis 2, Flowchart of how alerts were created using precision dairy monitoring technologies to detect fresh cow disease in dairy cows within GENMOD procedure of SAS.



## Figure 3.3. (cont.)

<sup>1</sup>Lag 1d data was generated by EXPAND procedure of SAS. If cows were found to be sick, their variables would change before the day diagnosed. Thus, using the day before the cow was recognized as sick was used.

<sup>2</sup>Backward moving 5d was generated for each cow, in order to calculate the average for every 5d.

<sup>3</sup>Percent change data was generated by the backward moving 5d data. By dividing the average and lag 1d data to create the percent change data.

<sup>4</sup>Disease was defined: when blood Ca levels  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  were considered as hypocalcaemia (Chapinal et al., 2011). Blood ketone levels  $\geq 1.2 \text{ mmol/l}$  were considered as hyperketonemia (McArt et al., 2012b). MetriCheck scores  $\geq 2$  was considered as metritis (Sterrett et al., 2014).

<sup>5</sup>Any alert window that overlapped with an event (disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, or metritis) was considered a true positive. Any alert window that did not overlap with an event was considered a false positive. An event that occurred without a corresponding alert window was considered a false negative. Lack of an alert window and a disease at the same time point was considered a true negative.

		Frequency of
	Variables measured	measurements/
		reporting data
AfiAct Pedometer Plus,	Activity (steps/d)	Continuously/
Afimilk,	Lying time (min/d)	per hour
Kibbutz Afikim, Israel	Lying bouts (bouts/d)	-
AfiLab Milk Analyzer,	Protein (%)	Each milking/
Afimilk,	Fat (%)	End of milking
Kibbutz Afikim, Israel	Lactose (%)	_
AfiMilk MPC Milk	Milk yield (kg/d)	Each milking/
Meter	Fat protein ratio	End of milking
Afimilk,	Milk conductivity (%)	-
Kibbutz Afikim, Israel		
AfiWeigh,	Body weight (kg/d)	Each milking/
Afimilk,		End of milking
Kibbutz Afikim, Israel		C
	Rumination time (min/d)	
CowManager SensoOr,	Eating time (min/d)	Every minute/
Agis Automatisering,	Time not active (min/d)	Every hour
Harmelen, Netherlands	Time active (min/d)	-
	Time high active (min/d)	
DVM bolus,	Reticulorumen temperature (°C)	Every 5
DVM bolus, DVM System, LLC,	Reticulorumen temperature (°C)	Every 5 minutes/ Hourly
DVM bolus, DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO	Reticulorumen temperature (°C)	Every 5 minutes/ Hourly
DVM bolus, DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO HR Tag,	Reticulorumen temperature (°C) Neck activity (units/d)	Every 5 minutes/ Hourly Continuously /
DVM bolus, DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO HR Tag, SCR Engineers Ltd.,	Reticulorumen temperature (°C) Neck activity (units/d) Rumination time (min/d)	Every 5 minutes/ Hourly Continuously / Every 2 hours
DVM bolus, DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO HR Tag, SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel	Reticulorumen temperature (°C) Neck activity (units/d) Rumination time (min/d)	Every 5 minutes/ Hourly Continuously / Every 2 hours
DVM bolus, DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO HR Tag, SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel	Reticulorumen temperature (°C) Neck activity (units/d) Rumination time (min/d) Lying time (min)	Every 5 minutes/ Hourly Continuously / Every 2 hours
DVM bolus, DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO HR Tag, SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel IceQube,	Reticulorumen temperature (°C) Neck activity (units/d) Rumination time (min/d) Lying time (min) Steps (number/d)	Every 5 minutes/ Hourly Continuously / Every 2 hours Continuously/
DVM bolus, DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO HR Tag, SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel IceQube, IceRobotics Ltd.,	Reticulorumen temperature (°C) Neck activity (units/d) Rumination time (min/d) Lying time (min) Steps (number/d) Motion index	Every 5 minutes/ Hourly Continuously / Every 2 hours Continuously/ 15 minute
DVM bolus, DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO HR Tag, SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel IceQube, IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland	Reticulorumen temperature (°C) Neck activity (units/d) Rumination time (min/d) Lying time (min) Steps (number/d) Motion index Lying bouts (bouts/d)	Every 5 minutes/ Hourly Continuously / Every 2 hours Continuously/ 15 minute intervals
DVM bolus, DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO HR Tag, SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel IceQube, IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland	Reticulorumen temperature (°C) Neck activity (units/d) Rumination time (min/d) Lying time (min) Steps (number/d) Motion index Lying bouts (bouts/d) Bout duration (unit/d)	Every 5 minutes/ Hourly Continuously / Every 2 hours Continuously/ 15 minute intervals
DVM bolus, DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO HR Tag, SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel IceQube, IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland Track a))) Cow,	Reticulorumen temperature (°C) Neck activity (units/d) Rumination time (min/d) Lying time (min) Steps (number/d) Motion index Lying bouts (bouts/d) Bout duration (unit/d) Steps (number/d)	Every 5 minutes/ Hourly Continuously / Every 2 hours Continuously/ 15 minute intervals
DVM bolus, DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO HR Tag, SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel IceQube, IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland Track a))) Cow, ENGS System	Reticulorumen temperature (°C) Neck activity (units/d) Rumination time (min/d) Lying time (min) Steps (number/d) Motion index Lying bouts (bouts/d) Bout duration (unit/d) Steps (number/d) Lying time (min)	Every 5 minutes/ Hourly Continuously / Every 2 hours Continuously/ 15 minute intervals Continuously/
DVM bolus, DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO HR Tag, SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel IceQube, IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland Track a))) Cow, ENGS System Innovative Dairy	Reticulorumen temperature (°C) Neck activity (units/d) Rumination time (min/d) Lying time (min) Steps (number/d) Motion index Lying bouts (bouts/d) Bout duration (unit/d) Steps (number/d) Lying time (min) Lying bouts (bouts/d)	Every 5 minutes/ Hourly Continuously / Every 2 hours Continuously/ 15 minute intervals Continuously/ Every 5 minutes
DVM bolus, DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO HR Tag, SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel IceQube, IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland Track a))) Cow, ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel	Reticulorumen temperature (°C) Neck activity (units/d) Rumination time (min/d) Lying time (min) Steps (number/d) Motion index Lying bouts (bouts/d) Bout duration (unit/d) Steps (number/d) Lying time (min) Lying bouts (bouts/d) Time spent at feed bunk (min/d)	Every 5 minutes/ Hourly Continuously / Every 2 hours Continuously/ 15 minute intervals Continuously/ Every 5 minutes
DVM bolus, DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO HR Tag, SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel IceQube, IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland Track a))) Cow, ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel	Reticulorumen temperature (°C) Neck activity (units/d) Rumination time (min/d) Lying time (min) Steps (number/d) Motion index Lying bouts (bouts/d) Bout duration (unit/d) Steps (number/d) Lying time (min) Lying bouts (bouts/d) Time spent at feed bunk (min/d) Feed bunk visit time (number/d)	Every 5 minutes/ Hourly Continuously / Every 2 hours Continuously/ 15 minute intervals Continuously/ Every 5 minutes
DVM bolus, DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO HR Tag, SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel IceQube, IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland Track a))) Cow, ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel	Reticulorumen temperature (°C) Neck activity (units/d) Rumination time (min/d) Lying time (min) Steps (number/d) Motion index Lying bouts (bouts/d) Bout duration (unit/d) Steps (number/d) Lying time (min) Lying bouts (bouts/d) Time spent at feed bunk (min/d) Feed bunk visit time (number/d) Rumination time (min/d)	Every 5 minutes/ Hourly Continuously / Every 2 hours Continuously/ 15 minute intervals Continuously/ Every 5 minutes
DVM bolus, DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO HR Tag, SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel IceQube, IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland Track a))) Cow, ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel SmartBow, Smartbow	Reticulorumen temperature (°C) Neck activity (units/d) Rumination time (min/d) Lying time (min) Steps (number/d) Motion index Lying bouts (bouts/d) Bout duration (unit/d) Steps (number/d) Lying time (min) Lying bouts (bouts/d) Time spent at feed bunk (min/d) Feed bunk visit time (number/d) Rumination time (min/d) Lying time (min/d)	Every 5 minutes/ Hourly Continuously / Every 2 hours Continuously/ 15 minute intervals Continuously/ Every 5 minutes Continuously/15
DVM bolus, DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO HR Tag, SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel IceQube, IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland Track a))) Cow, ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel SmartBow, Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse,	Reticulorumen temperature (°C) Neck activity (units/d) Rumination time (min/d) Lying time (min) Steps (number/d) Motion index Lying bouts (bouts/d) Bout duration (unit/d) Steps (number/d) Lying time (min) Lying bouts (bouts/d) Time spent at feed bunk (min/d) Feed bunk visit time (number/d) Rumination time (min/d) Lying time (min/d) Time not active (min/d)	Every 5 minutes/ Hourly Continuously / Every 2 hours Continuously/ 15 minute intervals Continuously/ Every 5 minutes Continuously/15 minute intervals
DVM bolus, DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO HR Tag, SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel IceQube, IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland Track a))) Cow, ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel SmartBow, Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse, Austria	Reticulorumen temperature (°C) Neck activity (units/d) Rumination time (min/d) Lying time (min) Steps (number/d) Motion index Lying bouts (bouts/d) Bout duration (unit/d) Steps (number/d) Lying time (min) Lying bouts (bouts/d) Time spent at feed bunk (min/d) Feed bunk visit time (number/d) Rumination time (min/d) Lying time (min/d) Time not active (min/d) Time active (min/d)	Every 5 minutes/ Hourly Continuously / Every 2 hours Continuously/ 15 minute intervals Continuously/ Every 5 minutes Continuously/15 minute intervals

 Table 3.2. Precision dairy technologies used in evaluation of transition cow diseases including: hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis.

Table 3.3. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of precision dairy monitoring technology's<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> detection defined by the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS<sup>9,10,11</sup>.

Technology	Dise	ase <sup>5</sup>		Hype	erketo	nemia <sup>6</sup>	Нурс	ocalca	emia <sup>7</sup>	Metr	itis <sup>8</sup>	
	$Se^1$	$Sp^2$	$Acc^3$	Se <sup>1</sup>	$Sp^2$	$Acc^3$	Se <sup>1</sup>	$Sp^2$	$Acc^3$	$Se^1$	$Sp^2$	$Acc^3$
	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
AfiAct	71	82	78	78	68	67	77	71	72	72	77	76
Pedometer Plus												
AfiLab Milk	75	86	82	78	84	84	79	82	81	76	79	78
Analyzer												
AfiWeigh	33	80	94	61	90	90	49	92	88	28	91	81
All Afi system	78	81	80	74	90	89	71	86	88	70	82	79
Track a))) cow	79	79	79	79	74	74	74	78	78	75	78	78
DVM	35	92	79	32	94	92	31	95	90	41	93	85
IceQube	71	84	80	70	78	77	70	82	80	72	80	78
SCR, HR-Tag	42	96	82	70	83	82	68	87	84	54	88	81
Smartbow	53	90	79	70	81	81	64	74	73	61	78	74
CowManager	56	91	81	71	81	81	62	83	81	57	87	80

<sup>1</sup>Sensitivty (Se) = (true positive rate + false negative rate)/true positive rate.

<sup>2</sup>Specificity (Sp) = (true negative rate + false positive rate)/true negative rate.

 $^{3}$ Accuracy (Acc) = (true positive rate + true negative rate)/ (true positive + false positive + true negative + false negative).

<sup>4</sup>AfiAct Pedometer Plus, AfiLab Milk Analyzer, AfiMilk MPC Milk Meter, AfiWeigh,

Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel. Track a))) Cow, ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel. DVM bolus, DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO. IceQube, IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland. HR Tag, SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel. SmartBow, Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse, Austria. CowManager SensoOr, Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands

<sup>5</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any of their combinations.

<sup>6</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration ≥1.2 mmol/L identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>7</sup>Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>8</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\geq 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM.

<sup>9</sup>AfiAct rest bouts, AfiAct rest, and AfiAct steps 90<sup>th</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup> percentiles were identified using the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC). Graphical examination identified the 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentile as more promising for disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis alert creation.

<sup>10</sup>Alerts were created for any instances of AfiAct steps, AfiAct rest bout, and AfiAct rest that fell below the 10<sup>th</sup> percentile (AfiAct steps 2400) or above the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile (AfiAct rest bout 17, and AfiAct rest 711 min) for disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis respectively

<sup>11</sup>Alert windows were created with the backward moving maximum feature of the EXPAND procedure in SAS. A 5-day window was created from each initial alert when AfiAct steps fell below 2400, AfiAct rest bout rose above 17, and AfiAct rest time rose above 711 min. Any alert window that overlapped with an event (disease,

hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, or metritis) was considered a true positive. Any alert window that did not overlap with an event was considered a false positive. An event that occurred without a corresponding alert window was considered a false negative. Lack of an alert window and a disease at the same time point was considered a true negative.

Table 3.4 Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of AfiAct Pedometer Plus, (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel)<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> detection defined from the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS<sup>9,10,11</sup>.

Diseases <sup>5</sup>	Alert3 <sup>10</sup>	<sup>1</sup> Se (%)	$^{2}$ Sp (%)	$^{3}Acc (\%)$
Disease	1	71	82	78
	2	52	91	80
Hyperketonemia	1	78	68	67
	2	63	82	81
Hypocalcaemia	1	77	71	72
	2	59	85	81
Metritis	1	72	77	76
	2	55	89	81

<sup>1</sup>Sensitivty (Se) = (true positive rate + false negative rate)/true positive rate.

<sup>2</sup>Specificity (Sp) = (true negative rate + false positive rate)/true negative rate.

 $^{3}$ Accuracy (Acc) = (true positive rate + true negative rate)/ (true positive + false positive + true negative + false negative).

<sup>4</sup>AfiAct Pedometer Plus measured activity, lying time and lying bouts.

<sup>5</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any of their combinations.

<sup>6</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration ≥1.2 mmol/L identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>7</sup>Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>8</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\geq 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM.

<sup>9</sup>AfiAct rest bouts, AfiAct rest, and AfiAct steps 90<sup>th</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup> percentiles were identified using the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC). Graphical examination identified the 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentile as more promising for disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis alert creation.

<sup>10</sup>Alerts3 were created for any instances of AfiAct steps, AfiAct rest bout, and AfiAct rest that fell below the 10<sup>th</sup> percentile (AfiAct steps 2400) or above the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile (AfiAct rest bout 17, and AfiAct rest 711 min) for disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis respectively

<sup>11</sup>Alert windows were created with the backward moving maximum feature of the EXPAND procedure in SAS. A 5-day window was created from each initial alert when AfiAct steps fell below 2400, AfiAct rest bout rose above 17, and AfiAct rest time rose above 711 min. Any alert window that overlapped with an event (disease,

hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, or metritis) was considered a true positive. Any alert window that did not overlap with an event was considered a false positive. An event that occurred without a corresponding alert window was considered a false negative. Lack of an alert window and a disease at the same time point was considered a true negative.

Table 3.5. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of AfiLab Milk Analyzer (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel) <sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> detection defined from the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS<sup>9,10,11</sup>.

Diseases <sup>5</sup>	Alert3 <sup>10</sup>	<sup>1</sup> Se (%)	<sup>2</sup> Sp (%)	$^{3}Acc (\%)$
Disease	1	82	78	80
	2	75	86	82
Hyperketonemia	1	89	60	62
	2	87	70	71
	3	84	76	78
	4	78	84	84
Hypocalcaemia	1	87	65	69
	2	84	75	77
	3	79	82	81
Metritis	1	82	70	74
	2	76	79	78

<sup>1</sup>Sensitivty (Se) = (true positive rate + false negative rate)/true positive rate.

<sup>2</sup>Specificity (Sp) = (true negative rate + false positive rate)/true negative rate.

<sup>3</sup>Accuracy (Acc) = (true positive rate + true negative rate)/ (true positive + false positive + true negative + false negative).

<sup>4</sup>AfiLab MPC milk meter, measured milk fat, milk protein, and milk lactose.

<sup>5</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any of their combinations.

<sup>6</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration ≥1.2 mmol/L identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>7</sup>Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>8</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\geq 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM.

9AfiLab milk protein, AfiLab milk fat, AfiLab milk lactose, AfiLab milk fat protein ratio, AfiLab milk conductivity AfiLab milk yield, and AfiLab milking time 90<sup>th</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup> percentiles were identified using the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC). Graphical examination identified the 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentile as more promising for disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis alert creation.

<sup>10</sup>Alerts3 were created for any instances of AfiLab milk protein, AfiLab milk lactose, AfiLab milk yield, AfiLab conductivity, AfiLab milk fat, and AfiLab fat protein ratio that fell below the 10<sup>th</sup> percentile (AfiLab milk protein 2.7 %, AfiLab milk lactose 4.4 %, and AfiLab milk yield 18 kg) or above the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile (AfiLab milk conductivity 9.1 %, AfiLab milk fat 4.9 %, and AfiLab milk fat protein ratio 1.63) for disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis respectively. If an alert occurred for either the 10<sup>th</sup> or 90<sup>th</sup> percentile, the number of alerts was equal to 1. If an alert occurred at both the 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentiles, the number of alerts was equal to 2. <sup>11</sup>Alert windows were created with the backward moving maximum feature of the EXPAND procedure in SAS. A 5-day window was created from each initial alert when AfiLab milk conductivity rose above 9.1 %, AfiLab milk fat rose above 4.9 %, and AfiLab milk fat protein ratio rose above 1.63. Any alert window that overlapped with an event (disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, or metritis) was considered a true positive. Any alert window that did not overlap with an event was considered a false positive. An event that occurred without a corresponding alert window was considered a false negative. Lack of an alert window and a disease at the same time point was considered a true negative.

Table 3.6. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of AfiWeigh (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel) <sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> detection defined from the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS<sup>9,10,11</sup>.

Diseases <sup>5</sup>	Alert3 <sup>10</sup>	<sup>1</sup> Se (%)	<sup>2</sup> Sp (%)	$^{3}$ Acc (%)
Disease	1	33	80	94
	2	26	96	80
Hyperketonemia	1	61	90	90
	2	51	94	92
Hypocalcaemia	1	49	92	88
	2	41	95	90
Metritis	1	28	91	81
	2	21	94	82

<sup>1</sup>Sensitivty (Se) = (true positive rate + false negative rate)/true positive rate.

<sup>2</sup>Specificity (Sp) = (true negative rate + false positive rate)/true negative rate.

 $^{3}$ Accuracy (Acc) = (true positive rate + true negative rate)/ (true positive + false positive + true negative + false negative).

<sup>4</sup>AfiWeigh measure body weight.

<sup>5</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any of their combinations.

<sup>6</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration ≥1.2 mmol/L identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>7</sup>Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>8</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\geq 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM.

<sup>9</sup>AfiWeigh body weight 90<sup>th</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup> percentiles were identified using the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC). Graphical examination identified the 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentile as more promising for disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis alert creation.

<sup>10</sup>Alerts3 were created for any instances of AfiWeigh body weight above the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile (817.4 kg) for disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis respectively. If an alert occurred for either the 10<sup>th</sup> or 90<sup>th</sup> percentile, the number of alerts was equal to 1. If an alert occurred at both the 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentiles, the number of alerts was equal to 2.

<sup>11</sup>Alert windows were created with the backward moving maximum feature of the EXPAND procedure in SAS. A 5-day window was created from each initial alert when AfiWeigh body weight rose above 817.4 kg. Any alert window that overlapped with an event (disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, or metritis) was considered a true positive. Any alert window that did not overlap with an event was considered a false positive. An event that occurred without a corresponding alert window was considered a false negative. Lack of an alert window and a disease at the same time point was considered a true negative.

Table 3.7. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of AfiMilk, AfiLab, and AfiWeigh (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel)<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> detection defined from the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS<sup>9,10,11</sup>.

Diseases <sup>5</sup>	Alert3 <sup>10</sup>	<sup>1</sup> Se (%)	$^{2}$ Sp (%)	$^{3}$ Acc (%)
Disease	2	84	74	78
	3	78	81	80
	4	71	88	82
Hyperketonemia	4	87	74	75
	5	82	80	80
	6	77	85	84
	7	75	88	87
	8	74	90	89
Hypocalcaemia	4	81	79	79
	5	75	84	83
	6	71	86	88
Metritis	4	70	82	79
	5	64	86	81

<sup>1</sup>Sensitivty (Se) = (true positive rate + false negative rate)/true positive rate.

<sup>2</sup>Specificity (Sp) = (true negative rate + false positive rate)/true negative rate.

 $^{3}$ Accuracy (Acc) = (true positive rate + true negative rate)/ (true positive + false positive + true negative + false negative).

<sup>4</sup>AfiMilk, AfiLab, and AfiWeigh were combined together.

<sup>5</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any of their combinations.

<sup>6</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration ≥1.2 mmol/L identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>7</sup>Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>8</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\geq 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM.

<sup>9</sup>Afimilk rest bouts, Afimilk rest, AfiMilk steps, AfiMilk milk protein, AfiMilk milk fat, AfiMilk milk lactose, AfiMilk milk fat protein ratio, AfiMilk milk conductivity AfiMilk milk yield, AfiMilk milking time, and AfiWeigh body weight 90<sup>th</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup> percentiles were identified using the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC). Graphical examination identified the 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentile as more promising for disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis alert creation.

<sup>10</sup>Alerts3 were created for any instances of AfiMilk milk protein, AfiMilk milk lactose, AfiMilk steps, AfiMilk milk yield, AfiMilk rest bout, AfiMilk conductivity, AfiMilk rest, AfiWeigh body weight, AfiMilk milk fat, and AfiMilk fat protein ratio that fell below the 10<sup>th</sup> percentile (AfiMilk milk protein 2.7 %, AfiMilk milk lactose 4.4 %, AfiMilk steps 2400, AfiMilk milk yield 18 kg) or above the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile (AfiMilk rest bout 17, AfiMilk milk conductivity 9.1 %, AfiMilk rest 711 min, AfiWeigh body weight 817.4 kg, AfiMilk milk fat 4.9 %, and AfiMilk milk fat protein ratio 1.63) for disease, hyperketonemia, Hypocalcaemia , and metritis respectively. If an alert occurred for either the 10<sup>th</sup> or 90<sup>th</sup> percentile, the number of alerts was equal to 1. If an alert occurred at both the 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentiles, the number of alerts was equal to 2.

<sup>11</sup>Alert windows were created with the backward moving maximum feature of the EXPAND procedure in SAS. A 5-day window was created from each initial alert when AfiMilk milk protein fell below 2.7 %, AfiMilk milk lactose fell below 4.4 %, AfiMilk steps fell below 2400, AfiMilk milk yield fell below 18 kg, AfiMilk rest bout rose above 17, AfiMilk milk conductivity rose above 9.1 %, AfiMilk rest rose above 711 min, AfiWeigh body weight rose

above 817.4 kg, AfiMilk milk fat rose above 4.9 %, and AfiMilk milk fat protein ratio rose above 1.63. Any alert window that overlapped with an event (disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, or metritis) was considered a true positive. Any alert window that did not overlap with an event was considered a false positive. An event that occurred without a corresponding alert window was considered a false negative. Lack of an alert window and a disease at the same time point was considered a true negative.

Table 3.8. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of Track a))) cow (ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel)<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> detection defined from the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS<sup>9,10,11</sup>.

Diseases <sup>5</sup>	Alert3 <sup>10</sup>	<sup>1</sup> Se (%)	<sup>2</sup> Sp (%)	$^{3}$ Acc (%)
Disease	1	79	79	79
	2	68	87	81
Hyperketonemia	2	79	74	74
	3	69	82	81
Hypocalcaemia	1	74	78	78
	2	67	85	83
Metritis	2	75	78	78
	3	61	89	82

<sup>1</sup>Sensitivty (Se) = (true positive rate + false negative rate)/true positive rate.

<sup>2</sup>Specificity (Sp) = (true negative rate + false positive rate)/true negative rate.

 $^{3}$ Accuracy (Acc) = (true positive rate + true negative rate)/ (true positive + false positive + true negative + false negative).

<sup>4</sup>Track a))) cow measured, steps, lying time, lying bouts, time around the feed bunk, and time visit feed bunk.

<sup>5</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any of their combinations.

<sup>6</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration ≥1.2 mmol/L identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>7</sup>Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>8</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\geq 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM.

<sup>9</sup>Track a))) cow lying time, Track a))) cow lying bouts, Track a))) cow steps, Track a))) cow time around feed bunk, and Track a))) cow feed bunk visit 90<sup>th</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup> percentiles were identified using the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC). Graphical examination identified the 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentile as more promising for disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis alert creation.

<sup>10</sup>Alert3 were created for any instances of Track a))) cow steps, Track a))) cow lying bouts, Track a))) cow time around the feed bunk, and Track a))) cow feed bunk visit that fell below the 10<sup>th</sup> percentile (Track a))) cow steps 1228, Track a))) cow lying bouts 7, Track a))) cow time around the feed bunk 66 min, and Track a))) cow feed bunk visit 5,), and Track a))) cow lying above the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile (741.5 min) for disease, Hyperketonemia, and Hypocalcaemia, respectively. For metritis, Track a))) cow steps fell below 10<sup>th</sup> percentile (Track a))) cow steps 1228) and Track a))) cow lying, Track a))) cow lying bout, Track a))) cow time around feed bunk, and Track a))) cow lying bout, 23, Track a))) cow lying bouts 23, Track a))) cow time around feed bunk visit 12. If an alert occurred for either the 10<sup>th</sup> or 90<sup>th</sup> percentile, the number of alerts was equal to 1. If an alert occurred at both the 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentiles, the number of alerts was equal to 2.

<sup>11</sup>Alert windows were created with the backward moving maximum feature of the EXPAND procedure in SAS. A 5-day window was created from each initial alert when Track a))) cow steps fell below 1228, Track a))) cow lying bouts fell below 7, Track a))) cow time around the feed bunk fell below 66 min, and Track a))) cow feed bunk visit fell below 5. A 5-day window was created from each initial alert when Track a))) cow lying rose above 741.5 min for disease, hyperketonemia, and hypocalcaemia. A5-day window was created from each initial alert when Track a))) cow lying bouts rose above 741.5 min for disease, hyperketonemia, and hypocalcaemia. A5-day window was created from each initial alert when Track a))) cow steps fell below 1228, Track a))) cow lying rose above 741.5 min, Track a cow lying bouts rose above 23, Track a))) cow time around feed bunk rose above 261 min, and Track a))) cow feed bunk visit rose above 12 for metritis. Any alert window that overlapped with an event (disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, or metritis) was considered a true positive. Any alert window that did not overlap with an event was considered a false positive. An

event that occurred without a corresponding alert window was considered a false negative. Lack of an alert window and a disease at the same time point was considered a true negative.

Table 3.9. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of DVM (DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO) <sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> detection defined from the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS<sup>9,10,11</sup>.

Diseases <sup>5</sup>	Alert3 <sup>10</sup>	<sup>1</sup> Se (%)	<sup>2</sup> Sp (%)	$^{3}$ Acc (%)
Disease	1	35	92	79
	2	21	97	80
Hyperketonemia	1	45	89	87
	2	32	94	92
Hypocalcaemia	1	49	90	87
	2	31	95	90
Metritis	1	41	93	85
	2	17	97	85

<sup>1</sup>Sensitivty (Se) = (true positive rate + false negative rate)/true positive rate.

<sup>2</sup>Specificity (Sp) = (true negative rate + false positive rate)/true negative rate.

 $^{3}$ Accuracy (Acc) = (true positive rate + true negative rate)/ (true positive + false positive + true negative + false negative).

<sup>4</sup>DVM bolus measured reticulorumen temperature.

<sup>5</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any of their combinations.

<sup>6</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration ≥1.2 mmol/L identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>7</sup>Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>8</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\ge 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM.

<sup>9</sup>Reticulorumen temperature 90<sup>th</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup> percentiles were identified using the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC). Graphical examination identified the 10<sup>th</sup> percentile as more promising for disease, hyperketonemia, and hypocalcaemia alert creation. Graphical examination identified the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile as more promising for metritis alert creation.

<sup>10</sup>Alert3 were created for any instances of reticulorumen temperature that fell below the  $10^{th}$  percentile (39.1°C for disease, hyperketonemia, and hypocalcaemia, respectively) or above the  $90^{th}$  percentile (40.3°C) for metritis. If an alert occurred for either the  $10^{th}$  or  $90^{th}$  percentile, the number of alerts was equal to 1. If an alert occurred at both the  $10^{th}$  and  $90^{th}$  percentiles, the number of alerts was equal to 2.

<sup>11</sup>Alert windows were created with the backward moving maximum feature of the EXPAND procedure in SAS. A 5-day window was created from each initial alert when reticulorumen temperature fell below 39.1°C for disease, Hyperketonemia, and hypocalcaemia. A 5-day window was created from each initial alert when reticulorumen temperature rose above 40.3 °C for metritis. Any alert window that overlapped with an event (disease,

hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, or metritis) was considered a true positive. Any alert window that did not overlap with an event was considered a false positive. An event that occurred without a corresponding alert window was considered a false negative. Lack of an alert window and a disease at the same time point was considered a true negative.

Table 3.10. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of IceQube (IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland)<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> detection defined from the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS<sup>9,10,11</sup>.

Diseases <sup>5</sup>	Alert3 <sup>10</sup>	<sup>1</sup> Se (%)	$^{2}$ Sp (%)	$^{3}Acc (\%)$
Disease <sup>6</sup>	2	76	80	78
	3	71	84	80
Hyperketonemia	3	79	69	70
	4	70	78	77
Hypocalcaemia	3	78	74	75
	4	70	82	80
Metritis	3	72	80	78
	4	67	85	80

<sup>1</sup>Sensitivty (Se) = (true positive rate + false negative rate)/true positive rate.

<sup>2</sup>Specificity (Sp) = (true negative rate + false positive rate)/true negative rate.

<sup>3</sup>Accuracy (Acc) = (true positive rate + true negative rate)/(true positive + false positive + true negative + false negative).

<sup>4</sup>IceQube measured lying time, lying bout, steps, motion, and lying duration.

<sup>5</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any of their combinations.

<sup>6</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration ≥1.2 mmol/L identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>7</sup>Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>8</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\geq 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM.

<sup>9</sup>IceQube lying time, IceQube lying bouts, IceQube steps, IceQube standing time, IceQube motion index, and IceQube lying bouts duration 90<sup>th</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup> percentiles were identified using the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC). Graphical examination identified the 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentile as more promising for disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis alert creation.

<sup>10</sup>Alert3 were created for any instances of IceQube steps, IceQube standing time, and IceQube motion index that fell below the 10<sup>th</sup> percentile (IceQube steps 581.5, IceQube standing time 705.3 min, and IceQube motion index 2028), and IceQube lying time, IceQube lying bouts, and IceQube lying bouts duration above the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile (IceQube lying time 734.7 min, IceQube lying bouts 30, and IceQube lying bouts duration 734.90 min) for disease, hyperketonemia, and hypocalcaemia, respectively. For metritis, IceQube lying time, IceQube lying bouts, IceQube steps, IceQube standing time, IceQube motion index, and IceQube lying bouts duration fell below 10<sup>th</sup> percentile (IceQube lying time 360.3 min, IceQube lying bouts 11, IceQube steps 581.5, IceQube standing time705.3, IceQube motion index 2028) and IceQube lying bouts duration rose above 90<sup>th</sup> percentile(734.9 min). If an alert occurred for either the 10<sup>th</sup> or 90<sup>th</sup> percentile, the number of alerts was equal to 1. If an alert occurred at both the 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentiles, the number of alerts was equal to 2.

<sup>11</sup>Alert windows were created with the backward moving maximum feature of the EXPAND procedure in SAS. A 5-day window was created from each initial alert IceQube steps fell below 581.5, IceQube standing time fell below 705.3 min, and IceQube motion index fell below 2028, IceQube lying time rose above 734.7 min, IceQube lying bouts rose above 30, and IceQube lying bouts duration rose above 734.90 min for disease, Hyperketonemia, and Hypocalcaemia . A5-day window was created from each initial alert when IceQube lying time fell below 360.3 min, IceQube lying bouts fell below 11, IceQube steps fell below 581.5, IceQube standing time fell below 705.3, IceQube motion index fell below 2028, and IceQube lying bouts duration rose above 360.3 min for metritis. Any alert window that overlapped with an event (disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, or metritis) was considered a true positive. Any alert window that did not overlap with an event was considered a false positive. An event that occurred without a corresponding alert window was considered a false negative. Lack of an alert window and a disease at the same time point was considered a true negative.

Table 3.11. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of SCR, HR-Tag (Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel)<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> detection defined from the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS<sup>9,10,11</sup>.

Diseases <sup>5</sup>	Alert3 <sup>10</sup>	<sup>1</sup> Se (%)	$^{2}$ Sp (%)	$^{3}Acc (\%)$
Disease <sup>6</sup>	1	54	92	81
	2	42	96	82
Hyperketonemia	1	70	83	82
	2	57	89	88
Hypocalcaemia	1	68	87	84
	2	55	91	88
Metritis	1	54	88	81
	2	44	93	84

<sup>1</sup>Sensitivty (Se) = (true positive rate + false negative rate)/true positive rate.

<sup>2</sup>Specificity (Sp) = (true negative rate + false positive rate)/true negative rate.

 $^{3}$ Accuracy (Acc) = (true positive rate + true negative rate)/ (true positive + false positive + true negative + false negative).

<sup>4</sup>SCR HR tag measured neck activity and rumination time.

<sup>5</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any of their combinations.

<sup>6</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration ≥1.2 mmol/L identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>7</sup>Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>8</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\geq 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM.

<sup>9</sup>HR-tag neck activity and HR-tag rumination 90<sup>th</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup> percentiles were identified using the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC). Graphical examination identified the 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentile as more promising for disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis alert creation.

<sup>10</sup>Alerts3 were created for any instances of HR-tag neck activity and HR-tag rumination that fell below the 10<sup>th</sup> percentile (HR-tag neck activity 257 and HR-tag rumination 345) for disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis respectively. If an alert occurred for either the 10<sup>th</sup> or 90<sup>th</sup> percentile, the number of alerts was equal to 1. If an alert occurred at both the 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentiles, the number of alerts was equal to 2.

<sup>11</sup>Alert windows were created with the backward moving maximum feature of the EXPAND procedure in SAS. A 5-day window was created from each initial alert HR-tag neck activity fell below 257 and HR-tag rumination fell below 345 for disease, Hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis. Any alert window that overlapped with an event (disease, Hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, or metritis) was considered a true positive. Any alert window that did not overlap with an event was considered a false positive. An event that occurred without a corresponding alert window was considered a false negative. Lack of an alert window and a disease at the same time point was considered a true negative.

Table 3.12. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of Smartbow (Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse, Austria)<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> detection defined from the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS<sup>9,10,11</sup>.

Diseases <sup>5</sup>	Alert3 <sup>10</sup>	<sup>1</sup> Se (%)	$^{2}$ Sp (%)	$^{3}Acc (\%)$
Disease <sup>6</sup>	1	61	82	75
	2	53	90	79
Hyperketonemia	1	75	72	72
	2	70	81	81
Hypocalcaemia	1	64	74	73
	2	57	82	80
Metritis	1	54	88	81
	2	61	78	74

<sup>1</sup>Sensitivty (Se) = (true positive rate + false negative rate)/true positive rate.

<sup>2</sup>Specificity (Sp) = (true negative rate + false positive rate)/true negative rate.

 $^{3}$ Accuracy (Acc) = (true positive rate + true negative rate)/ (true positive + false positive + true negative + false negative).

<sup>4</sup>Smartbow measured rumination time, lying time, time not active, time active, and time high active.

<sup>5</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any of their combinations.

<sup>6</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration ≥1.2 mmol/L identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>7</sup>Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>8</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\geq 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM.

<sup>9</sup>Smartbow lying time, Smartbow rumination, Smartbow standing time, Smartbow time not active, Smartbow active, and SmartBow high active 90<sup>th</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup> percentiles were identified using the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC). Graphical examination identified the 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentile as more promising for disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis alert creation.

<sup>10</sup>Alerts3 were created for any instances of Smartbow rumination, Smartbow standing time, SmartBow high active, and Smartbow active that fell below the 10<sup>th</sup> percentile (Smartbow rumination 411, Smartbow standing time 537 min, SmartBow high active 41, and Smartbow active 790 min), Smartbow lying time and Smartbow time not active above the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile (Smartbow lying time 903 min and Smartbow time not active 498 min) for disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis respectively. If an alert occurred for either the 10<sup>th</sup> or 90<sup>th</sup> percentile, the number of alerts was equal to 1. If an alert occurred at both the 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentiles, the number of alerts was equal to 2.

<sup>11</sup>Alert windows were created with the backward moving maximum feature of the EXPAND procedure in SAS. A 5-day window was created from each initial alert when Smartbow rumination fell below 411, Smartbow standing time fell below 537 min, SmartBow high active fell below 41, and Smartbow active fell below 790 min. A 5-day window was created from each initial alert when Smartbow lying time rose above 903 min and Smartbow time not active rose above 498 min for disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis. Any alert window that overlapped with an event (disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, or metritis) was considered a true positive. Any alert window that did not overlap with an event was considered a false positive. An event that occurred without a corresponding alert window was considered a false negative. Lack of an alert window and a disease at the same time point was considered a true negative.

Table 3.13. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of CowManager, SensoOr (Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands)<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> detection defined from the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS<sup>9,10,11</sup>.

Diseases <sup>5</sup>	Alert3 <sup>10</sup>	<sup>1</sup> Se (%)	$^{2}$ Sp (%)	$^{3}$ Acc (%)
Disease <sup>6</sup>	1	56	91	81
	2	45	94	81
Hyperketonemia	1	71	81	81
	2	65	87	86
Hypocalcaemia	1	62	83	81
	2	54	89	86
Metritis	1	57	87	80
	2	44	91	82

<sup>1</sup>Sensitivty (Se) = (true positive rate + false negative rate)/true positive rate.

<sup>2</sup>Specificity (Sp) = (true negative rate + false positive rate)/true negative rate.

 $^{3}$ Accuracy (Acc) = (true positive rate + true negative rate)/ (true positive + false positive + true negative + false negative).

<sup>4</sup>CoManager SensoOr measured rumination time, lying time, time not active, time active, and time high active.

<sup>5</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any of their combinations.

<sup>6</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration ≥1.2 mmol/L identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>7</sup>Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>8</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\geq 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM.

<sup>9</sup>Sensoor rumination, SensoOr time not active, SensoOr active, SensoOr eating time and SensoOr high active 90<sup>th</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup> percentiles were identified using the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC). Graphical examination identified the 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentile as more promising for disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis alert creation.

<sup>10</sup>Alert3 were created for any instances of SensoOr rumination, SensoOr high active, SensoOr eating time, and SensoOr active that fell below the 10<sup>th</sup> percentile (SensoOr rumination 400 min, SensoOr high active 34.4, SensoOr eating time 101 min, and SensoOr active 47), SensoOr time not active above the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile (724 min) for disease, Hyperketonemia, Hypocalcaemia , and metritis respectively. If an alert occurred for either the 10<sup>th</sup> or 90<sup>th</sup> percentile, the number of alerts was equal to 1. If an alert occurred at both the 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentiles, the number of alerts was equal to 2.

<sup>11</sup>Alert windows were created with the backward moving maximum feature of the EXPAND procedure in SAS. A 5-day window was created from each initial alert when SensoOr rumination fell below 400 min, SensoOr high active fell below 34.4, SensoOr eating time fell below 101 min, and SensoOr active fell below 47. A 5-day window was created from each initial alert when SensoOr time not active rose above 724 min for disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis. Any alert window that overlapped with an event (disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, or metritis) was considered a true positive. Any alert window that did not overlap with an event was considered a false positive. An event that occurred without a corresponding alert window was considered a false negative. Lack of an alert window and a disease at the same time point was considered a true negative.

Table 3.14. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of All the precision dairy technology's<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> detection defined from the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS<sup>9,10,11</sup>.

Diseases <sup>5</sup>	Alert3 <sup>10</sup>	<sup>1</sup> Se (%)	<sup>2</sup> Sp (%)	$^{3}Acc (\%)$
Disease	9	81	83	82
	10	78	87	83
	11	76	89	84
	12	71	91	85
Hyperketonemia	13	85	79	80
	14	83	81	82
	15	80	83	83
	16	77	85	85
Hypocalcaemia	12	81	81	81
	13	78	84	83
	14	76	86	84
	15	73	87	85
Metritis	17	84	70	75
	18	82	74	76
	19	79	77	78

<sup>1</sup>Sensitivty (Se) = (true positive rate + false negative rate)/true positive rate.

<sup>2</sup>Specificity (Sp) = (true negative rate + false positive rate)/true negative rate.

 $^{3}$ Accuracy (Acc) = (true positive rate + true negative rate)/ (true positive + false positive + true negative + false negative).

<sup>4</sup>All the Precision dairy technologies that were used in this study, including Afi (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel), Track a))) cow (ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel), DVM bolus, DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO, IceQube (IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland), HR Tag, SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel, SmartBow (Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse, Austria), CowManager SensoOr (Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands) <sup>5</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any of their combinations. <sup>6</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration ≥1.2 mmol/L identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3,

<sup>7</sup>Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>8</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\ge 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM.

<sup>9</sup>AfiMilk milk protein, AfiMilk milk lactose, AfiMilk steps, AfiMilk milk yield, AfiMilk rest bout, AfiMilk conductivity, AfiMilk rest, AfiWeigh body weight, AfiMilk milk fat, AfiMilk fat protein ratio, Reticulorumen temperature, Track a))) cow lying time, Track a))) cow lying bouts, Track a))) cow steps, Track a))) cow time around feed bunk, Track a))) cow feed bunk visit, IceQube lying time, IceQube lying bouts, IceQube steps, IceQube standing time, IceQube motion index, IceQube lying bouts duration, HR-tag neck activity, HR-tag rumination, Smartbow lying time, Smartbow rumination, Smartbow standing time, Smartbow time not active, SensoOr eating time, SensoOr rumination, SensoOr time not active, SensoOr active, SensoOr eating time, SensoOr high active 90<sup>th</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup> percentiles were identified using the UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC). Graphical examination identified the 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentile as more promising for disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis alert creation. If an alert occurred for either the 10<sup>th</sup> or 90<sup>th</sup> percentile, the number of alerts was equal to 1. If an alert occurred at both the 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentiles, the number of alerts was equal to 2.

<sup>10</sup>Alert3 were created for any instances of AfiMilk milk protein, AfiMilk milk lactose, AfiMilk steps, AfiMilk milk yield, Track a))) cow steps, Track a))) cow lying bouts, Track a))) cow time around the feed bunk, Track a))) cow

<sup>7, 14,</sup> or 21 DIM.

feed bunk visit, IceQube steps, IceQube standing time, IceQube motion index, HR-tag neck activity, HR-tag rumination, Smartbow rumination, Smartbow standing time, SmartBow high active, Smartbow active, SensoOr rumination, SensoOr high active, SensoOr eating time, and SensoOr active that fell below the 10<sup>th</sup>, and AfiMilk rest bout, AfiMilk milk conductivity, AfiMilk rest, AfiWeigh body weight, AfiMilk milk fat, AfiMilk milk fat protein ratio, Track a))) cow lying, IceQube lying time, IceQube lying bouts, and IceQube lying bouts duration, Smartbow lying time, Smartbow time not active, and SensoOr time not active above the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile for disease, Hyperketonemia, and Hypocalcaemia, respectively.

<sup>11</sup>Alert windows were created with the backward moving maximum feature of the EXPAND procedure in SAS. A 5-day window was created from each initial alert when Track a))) cow steps fell below 1228, Track a))) cow lying bouts fell below 7, Track a))) cow time around the feed bunk fell below 66 min, and Track a))) cow feed bunk visit fell below 5. A 5-day window was created from each initial alert when Track a))) cow lying rose above 741.5 min for disease, hyperketonemia, and hypocalcaemia. A5-day window was created from each initial alert when Track a))) cow steps fell below 1228, Track a))) cow lying rose above 741.5 min, track a cow lying bouts rose above 23, Track a))) cow time around feed bunk rose above 261 min, and Track a))) cow feed bunk visit rose above 12 for metritis. Any alert window that overlapped with an event (disease, hyperketonemia, nor metritis) was considered a true positive. Any alert window that did not overlap with an event was considered a false positive. An event that occurred without a corresponding alert window was considered a false negative. Lack of an alert window and a disease at the same time point was considered a true negative.

Disease / Variable	$SD^7$	Odds ratios	95% Confidence interval		<i>P</i> -value
Disease					
Milk fat (%)	0.7	1.33	1.12	1.57	< 0.01
Milk protein (%)	-0.3	1.20	1.06	1.36	< 0.01
Milk fat protein ratio	0.2	1.61	1.35	1.93	< 0.01
Milk lactose	0.3	1.22	1.08	1.39	< 0.01
Milking time (min)	-1.9	1.25	1.06	1.47	< 0.01
Milk yield (kg/d)	-10	1.25	1.01	1.55	0.03
Hyperketonemia					
Milk fat (%)	0.7	1.76	1.37	2.27	< 0.01
Fat protein ratio	0.2	1.75	1.32	2.32	< 0.01
Milk conductivity (%)	0.9	1.21	1.02	1.44	0.02
Body weight (kg)	87	1.89	1.35	2.63	< 0.01
Hypocalcaemia					
Milk fat (%)	0.7	1.87	1.62	2.39	< 0.01
Milk protein (%)	0.3	1.40	1.15	1.70	< 0.01
Milk lactose (%)	-0.3	1.28	1.14	1.45	< 0.01
Milk fat protein ratio	0.2	1.48	1.22	1.81	< 0.01
Milk yield (kg)	-10	2.21	1.57	3.10	< 0.01
Milk conductivity (%)	0.9	1.43	1.06	1.93	0.02
Milking time (min)	-1.9	1.46	1.00	2.13	0.04
Body weight (kg)	-87	2.00	1.45	2.74	< 0.01
Rest time (min)	153	1.15	1.00	1.33	0.04
Metritis					
Milk protein (%)	-0.3	1.62	1.38	1.91	< 0.01
Milk lactose (%)	0.3	1.48	1.25	1.75	< 0.01
Fat protein ratio	0.2	1.48	1.23	1.77	< 0.01
Milk conductivity (%)	0.9	1.31	1.12	1.52	< 0.01

Table 3.15. Odds ratios<sup>1</sup> of cows having any disease<sup>2</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>3</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>4</sup>, or metritis<sup>5</sup> based on variables measured by AfiMilk, AfiLab, and AfiWeigh (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel) for fresh cows from 1 to 21 DIM (GENMOD procedure of SAS<sup>6</sup>).

<sup>1</sup>Odd ratio represents the relative odds of having disease. If odd ratio is >1, the odds of having disease increased. If odd ratio is <1, the odds of having disease decreased. Odd ratio was affected by the number of unit.

<sup>2</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, and any of their combinations. <sup>3</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration  $\geq 1.2 \text{ mmol/L}$  identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>4</sup> Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>5</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\ge 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM.

<sup>6</sup>Univerable model in the GENMOD procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC) was used, but only variables that is significant from univariable would be calculated for odd ratio.

 $^{7}SD$  = one standard deviation different from the herd average and the change observe a corresponding of odds ratio. For example, if milk fat percentage increased by .2%, then that animal had a 1.33 greater chance of experiencing any disease (hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any combination).
Table 3.16. Odds ratios<sup>1</sup> of cows having any disease<sup>2</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>3</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>4</sup>, or metritis<sup>5</sup> based on variables measured by Track a))) cow (ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel) for fresh cows from 1 to 21 DIM (GENMOD procedure of SAS<sup>6</sup>).

Disease / Variable	$SD^7$	Odd ratio	95% Confide	ence interval	<i>P</i> -value
Disease					
Time at the feed bunk (min)	-76	1.19	1.03	1.37	0.02
Step	-679	1.23	1.05	1.43	< 0.01
Lying time (min)	164	1.16	1.00	1.34	0.04
Hyperketonemia	N/A				
Hypocalcaemia					
Time at the feed bunk (min)	-76	1.65	1.35	2.03	< 0.01
Metritis					
Step	-679	1.24	1.06	1.45	< 0.01

<sup>1</sup>Odd ratio represents the relative odds of having disease. If odd ratio is >1, the odds of having disease increased. If odd ratio is <1, the odds of having disease decreased. Odd ratio was affected by the number of unit.

<sup>2</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, and any of their combinations. <sup>3</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration  $\geq 1.2 \text{ mmol/L}$  identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>4</sup> Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations ≤8.6 mg/dL by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>5</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\ge 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM.

<sup>6</sup>Univerable model in the GENMOD procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC) was used, but only variables that is significant from univariable would be calculated for odd ratio.

 $^{7}SD$  = one standard deviation different from the herd average and the change observe a corresponding of odds ratio. For example, if time at the feed bunk decreased by 76 min, then that animal had a 1.19 greater chance of experiencing any disease (hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any combination).

Table 3.17. Odds ratios<sup>1</sup> of cows having any disease<sup>2</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>3</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>4</sup>, or metritis<sup>5</sup> based on variables measured by DVM bolus (DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO) for fresh cows from 1 to 21 DIM (GENMOD procedure of SAS<sup>6</sup>).

Disease / Variable	$SD^7$	Odd ratio	95% Confidence interval		<i>P</i> -value
Disease					
Reticulorumen temperature	0.8	1.18	1.01	1.38	0.04
(°C)					
Hyperketonemia	N/A				
Hypocalcaemia	N/A				
Metritis	N/A				

<sup>1</sup>Odd ratio represents the relative odds of having disease. If odd ratio is >1, the odds of having disease increased. If odd ratio is <1, the odds of having disease decreased. Odd ratio was affected by the number of unit.

<sup>2</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, and any of their combinations. <sup>3</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration  $\geq$ 1.2 mmol/L identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>4</sup> Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>5</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\ge 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM.

<sup>6</sup>Univerable model in the GENMOD procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC) was used, but only variables that is significant from univariable would be calculated for odd ratio.

 $^{7}SD$  = one standard deviation different from the herd average and the change observe a corresponding of odds ratio. For example, if reticulorumen temperature increased by 0.8°C, then that animal had a 1.18 greater chance of experiencing any disease (hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any combination).

Table 3.18. Odds ratios<sup>1</sup> of cows having any disease<sup>2</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>3</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>4</sup>, or metritis<sup>5</sup> based on variables measured by IceQube (IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland) for fresh cows from 1 to 21 DIM (GENMOD procedure of SAS<sup>6</sup>).

Disease / Variable	$SD^7$	Odd ratio	95% Confider	nce interval	<i>P</i> -value
Disease					
Lying time (min)	142	1.18	1.05	1.33	< 0.01
Bout duration (min)	142	1.18	1.04	1.33	< 0.01
Hyperketonemia					
Lying time (min)	142	1.27	1.03	1.56	0.02
Bout duration (min)	142	1.27	1.03	1.56	0.02
Hypocalcaemia					
Lying time (min)	142	1.26	1.08	1.47	< 0.01
Bout duration (min)	142	1.26	1.08	1.47	< 0.01
Step	474	1.17	1.00	1.36	0.04
Metritis					
Step	-474	1.29	1.14	1.46	< 0.01
Motion index	-1667	1.32	1.02	1.07	< 0.01

<sup>1</sup>Odd ratio represents the relative odds of having disease. If odd ratio is >1, the odds of having disease increased. If odd ratio is <1, the odds of having disease decreased. Odd ratio was affected by the number of unit.

<sup>2</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, and any of their combinations. <sup>3</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration  $\geq$ 1.2 mmol/L identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>4</sup> Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>5</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\ge 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM.

<sup>6</sup>Univerable model in the GENMOD procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC) was used, but only variables that is significant from univariable would be calculated for odd ratio.

 $^{7}SD$  = one standard deviation different from the herd average and the change observe a corresponding of odds ratio. For example, if lying time increased by 142 min, then that animal had a 1.18 greater chance of experiencing any disease (hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any combination). Table 3.19. Odds ratios<sup>1</sup> of cows having any disease<sup>2</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>3</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>4</sup>, or metritis<sup>5</sup> based on variables measured by HR Tag (SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel) for fresh cows from 1 to 21 DIM (GENMOD procedure of SAS<sup>6</sup>).

Disease / Variable	$SD^7$	Odd ratio	95% Confiden	ce interval	<i>P</i> -value
Disease					
Neck activity	-119	1.39	1.12	1.71	< 0.01
Hyperketonemia					
Neck activity	-119	2.72	1.64	4.53	< 0.01
Hypocalcaemia					
Neck activity	-119	1.96	1.41	2.73	< 0.01
Rumination	-110	1.54	1.26	1.89	< 0.01
Metritis					
Rumination	110	1.31	1.09	1.58	< 0.01

<sup>1</sup>Odd ratio represents the relative odds of having disease. If odd ratio is >1, the odds of having disease increased. If odd ratio is <1, the odds of having disease decreased. Odd ratio was affected by the number of unit.

<sup>2</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, and any of their combinations. <sup>3</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration  $\geq$ 1.2 mmol/L identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>4</sup> Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations ≤8.6 mg/dL by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>5</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\ge 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM.

<sup>6</sup>Univerable model in the GENMOD procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC) was used, but only variables that is significant from univariable would be calculated for odd ratio.

 $^{7}SD$  = one standard deviation different from the herd average and the change observe a corresponding of odds ratio. For example, if neck activity decreased by 119 unit, then that animal had a 1.39 greater chance of experiencing any disease (hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any combination).

Table 3.20. Odds ratios<sup>1</sup> of cows having any disease<sup>2</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>3</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>4</sup>, or metritis<sup>5</sup> based on variables measured by SmartBow (Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse, Austria) for fresh cows from 1 to 21 DIM (GENMOD procedure of SAS<sup>6</sup>).

Disease / Variable	$SD^7$	Odd ratio	95% Confid	ence interval	<i>P</i> -value
Disease					
Not active (min)	107	1.20	1.01	1.43	0.03
Lying time (min)	137	1.32	1.12	1.54	< 0.01
Hyperketonemia					
Not active (min)	107	1.64	1.25	2.14	< 0.01
Lying time (min)	137	1.51	1.09	2.08	0.02
Rumination (min)	-96	1.62	1.20	2.19	< 0.01
Hypocalcaemia					
Not active (min)	107	1.42	1.17	1.72	< 0.01
Rumination (min)	-96	1.38	1.11	1.72	< 0.01
Metritis	N/A				

<sup>1</sup>Odd ratio represent the relative odds of having disease. If odd ratio is >1, the odds of having disease increased. If odd ratio is <1, the odds of having disease decreased. Odd ratio was affected by the number of unit.

<sup>2</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, and any of their combinations. <sup>3</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration  $\geq$ 1.2 mmol/L identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>4</sup> Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>5</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\ge 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM.

<sup>6</sup>Univerable model in the GENMOD procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC) was used, but only variables that is significant from univariable would be calculated for odd ratio.

 $^{7}SD$  = one standard deviation different from the herd average and the change observe a corresponding of odds ratio. For example, if lying time increased by 137 min, then that animal had a 1.32 greater chance of experiencing any disease (hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any combination).

Disease / Variable	$SD^7$	Odd ratio	95% Confiden	ice interval	P-value
Disease					
Eating (min)	-113	1.33	1.03	1.72	0.02
Hyperketonemia					
Not active (min)	172	1.58	1.19	2.11	< 0.01
Hypocalcaemia					
Not active (min)	172	1.47	1.14	1.88	< 0.01
Rumination (min)	-120	1.30	0.99	1.70	0.05
Eating (min)	-113	1.43	1.09	1.88	< 0.01
Metritis					
Active (min)	-23	1.21	1.02	1.42	0.02
Rumination (min)	120	1.33	1.08	1.65	< 0.01

Table 3.21. Odds ratios<sup>1</sup> of cows having any disease<sup>2</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>3</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>4</sup>, or metritis<sup>5</sup> based on variables measured by CowManager SensoOr (Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands) for fresh cows from 1 to 21 DIM (GENMOD procedure of SAS<sup>6</sup>).

<sup>1</sup>Odd ratio represents the relative odds of having disease. If odd ratio is >1, the odds of having disease increased. If odd ratio is <1, the odds of having disease decreased. Odd ratio was affected by the number of unit.

<sup>2</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, and any of their combinations. <sup>3</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration  $\geq$ 1.2 mmol/L identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>4</sup> Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM.

<sup>5</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\ge 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM.

<sup>6</sup>Univerable model in the GENMOD procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC) was used, but only variables that is significant from univariable would be calculated for odd ratio.

 $^{7}SD$  = one standard deviation different from the herd average and the change observe a corresponding of odds ratio. For example, if eating time decreased by 113 min, then that animal had a 1.33 greater chance of experiencing any disease (hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any combination).

Table 3.22. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of AfiMilk, AfiLab, and AfiWeigh (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel)<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> detection created from the GENMOD procedure in SAS<sup>9</sup>.

Diseases	$AUC^{10}$	Disease probability	$^{1}$ Se (%)	$^{2}$ Sp (%)	$^{3}Acc (\%)$
		threshold <sup>11,12,13</sup>			
Disease <sup>5</sup>	0.75	0.01	84	70	76
		0.50	80	85	83
		0.60	75	90	85
Hyperketonemia <sup>6</sup>	0.81	0.01	80	68	68
		0.05	80	79	79
		0.10	74	90	89
Hypocalcaemia <sup>7</sup>	0.83	0.01	86	50	55
		0.16	82	80	80
		0.27	76	90	89
Metritis <sup>8</sup>	0.67	0.30	90	61	71
		0.45	83	80	81
		0.55	70	90	86

<sup>1</sup>Sensitivty (Se) = (true positive rate + false negative rate)/true positive rate.

<sup>2</sup>Specificity (Sp) = (true negative rate + false positive rate)/true negative rate.

 $^{3}$ Accuracy (Acc) = (true positive rate + true negative rate)/(true positive + false positive + true negative + false negative).

<sup>4</sup>AfiMilk, AfiLab, and AfiWeigh were combined together.

<sup>5</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any of their combinations. Disease multivariable included milk fat protein ratio, milk yield, milking time, milk lactose, milk protein, milk fat, percent change of milk fat protein ratio, percent change of milk yield, percent change of milk conductivity, percent change of milk lactose, percent change of milk protein, and any of the interaction.

<sup>6</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration  $\geq 1.2 \text{ mmol/L}$  identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. Hyperketonemia multivariable included pervious lactation 305 days' actual milk, milk fat protein ratio, milk conductivity, body weight, milk fat, percent change of milk fat protein ratio, percent change of milk conductivity, percent change of milk lactose, percent change of milk protein, and any of the interaction.

<sup>7</sup>Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq$ 8.6 mg/dL by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. Hypocalcaemia multivariable included milk fat protein ratio, milk yield, milk conductivity, milking time, body weight, milk lactose, milk protein, milk fat, resting time, percent change of milk fat protein ratio, percent change of milk yield, percent change of milk lactose, percent change of milk lactose, milk protein.

<sup>8</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\geq 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM. Metritis multivariable included milk fat protein ratio, milk conductivity, milk lactose, milk protein, percent change of milk conductivity, percent change of milk time, and any of the interaction.

<sup>9</sup>The previous day's data and percent change data were included in multivariable model using the GENMOD procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC).

<sup>10</sup>AUC, signifies the magnitude of the quantity that is obtained by the product of the quantities signified by the 1-specificity and the sensitivity axes. If AUC was > 0.7, the accurate performance would found (Swets, 1988). <sup>11</sup>Probability was created from GENMOD, predicted probability that the response variable is less than or equal to the value.

<sup>12</sup>Alert was created when probability is greater than the threshold, and backward moving maximum feature of the EXPAND procedure in SAS.

<sup>13</sup>Any alert window that overlapped with an event (disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, or metritis) was considered a true positive. Any alert window that did not overlap with an event was considered a false positive. An

event that occurred without a corresponding alert window was considered a false negative. Lack of an alert window and a disease at the same time point was considered a true negative.

Table 3.23. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of Track a))) cow (ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel)<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> detection created from the GENMOD procedure in SAS<sup>9</sup>.

Diseases	AUC <sup>10</sup>	Disease probability threshold <sup>11,12,13</sup>	$^{1}$ Se (%)	<sup>2</sup> Sp (%)	$^{3}$ Acc (%)
Disease <sup>5</sup>	0.63	0.01	84	66	74
		0.59	80	81	81
		0.66	69	90	83
Hyperketonemia <sup>6</sup>	0.64	0.01	83	63	65
		0.81	77	70	71
		0.91	21	90	88
Hypocalcaemia <sup>7</sup>	0.64	0.01	86	43	51
		0.75	62	66	65
		0.85	23	90	86
Metritis <sup>8</sup>	0.58	0.35	90	54	67
		0.48	73	76	75
		0.53	41	90	82

<sup>1</sup>Sensitivty (Se) = (true positive rate + false negative rate)/true positive rate.

<sup>2</sup>Specificity (Sp) = (true negative rate + false positive rate)/true negative rate.

<sup>3</sup>Accuracy (Acc) = (true positive rate + true negative rate)/(true positive + false positive + true negative + false negative).

<sup>4</sup>Track a))) cow measured, steps, lying time, lying bouts, time around the feed bunk, and time visit feed bunk. <sup>5</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any of their combinations. Disease multivariable included time around the feed bunk, steps, lying time, and any of the interaction.

<sup>6</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration  $\geq 1.2 \text{ mmol/L}$  identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. Hyperketonemia multivariable included pervious lactation 305 days' actual milk, time around the

feed bunk, and any of the interaction.

<sup>7</sup>Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. Hypocalcaemia multivariable included, time around the feed bunk

<sup>8</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\ge 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM. Metritis multivariable included steps.

<sup>9</sup>The previous day's data and percent change data were included in multivariable model using the GENMOD procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC).

 $^{10}$ AUC, signifies the magnitude of the quantity that is obtained by the product of the quantities signified by the 1-specificity and the sensitivity axes. If AUC was > 0.7, the accurate performance would found (Swets, 1988).

<sup>11</sup>Probability was created from GENMOD, predicted probability that the response variable is less than or equal to the value.

<sup>12</sup>Alert was created when probability is greater than the threshold, and backward moving maximum feature of the EXPAND procedure in SAS.

Table 3.24. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of DVM bolus (DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO)<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> detection created from the GENMOD procedure in SAS<sup>9</sup>.

Diseases	AUC <sup>10</sup>	Disease probability threshold <sup>11,12,13</sup>	$^{1}$ Se (%)	<sup>2</sup> Sp (%)	$^{3}$ Acc (%)
Disease <sup>5</sup>	0.56	0.01	70	76	74
		0.50	70	77	75
		0.62	50	92	81
Hyperketonemia <sup>6</sup>	0.77	0.01	69	76	76
		0.02	69	78	77
		0.09	57	92	90
Hypocalcaemia <sup>7</sup>	0.54	0.01	77	59	61
		0.21	70	75	74
		0.24	43	93	88
Metritis <sup>8</sup>	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

<sup>1</sup>Sensitivty (Se) = (true positive rate + false negative rate)/true positive rate.

<sup>2</sup>Specificity (Sp) = (true negative rate + false positive rate)/true negative rate.

 $^{3}$ Accuracy (Acc) = (true positive rate + true negative rate)/ (true positive + false positive + true negative + false negative).

<sup>4</sup>DVM bolus measured reticulorumen temperature.

<sup>5</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any of their combinations. Disease multivariable included DHI protein record, reticulum temperature, percent change of reticulum temperature, and any of the interaction.

<sup>6</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration  $\geq 1.2 \text{ mmol/L}$  identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. Hyperketonemia multivariable included pervious lactation 305 days' actual milk, time around the feed bunk, and any of the interaction.

<sup>7</sup>Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. Hyperketonemia multivariable included pervious lactation 305 days' actual milk, temperature, percent change of reticulum temperature, and any of the interaction.

<sup>8</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\geq 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM. Metritis multivariable included percent change of reticulum temperature.

<sup>9</sup>The previous day's data and percent change data were included in multivariable model using the GENMOD procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC).

 $^{10}$ AUC, signifies the magnitude of the quantity that is obtained by the product of the quantities signified by the 1-specificity and the sensitivity axes. If AUC was > 0.7, the accurate performance would found (Swets, 1988).

<sup>11</sup>Probability was created from GENMOD, predicted probability that the response variable is less than or equal to the value.

<sup>12</sup>Alert was created when probability is greater than the threshold, and backward moving maximum feature of the EXPAND procedure in SAS.

# Table 3.25. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> of IceQube (IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland) <sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> detection created from the GENMOD procedure in SAS<sup>9</sup>.

Diseases	AUC <sup>10</sup>	Disease probability threshold <sup>11,12,13</sup>	$^{1}$ Se (%)	<sup>2</sup> Sp (%)	$^{3}Acc (\%)$
Disease <sup>5</sup>	0.60	0.40	92	50	70
		0.64	78	82	80
		0.68	65	90	81
Hyperketonemia <sup>6</sup>	0.64	0.10	90	67	69
		0.13	83	79	80
		0.18	55	90	88
Hypocalcaemia <sup>7</sup>	0.61	0.20	90	52	59
		0.29	77	81	80
		0.35	65	90	88
Metritis <sup>8</sup>	0.59	0.46	92	57	70
		0.50	81	75	77
		0.55	52	92	84

<sup>1</sup>Sensitivty (Se) = (true positive rate + false negative rate)/true positive rate.

<sup>2</sup>Specificity (Sp) = (true negative rate + false positive rate)/true negative rate.

 $^{3}$ Accuracy (Acc) = (true positive rate + true negative rate)/ (true positive + false positive + true negative + false negative).

<sup>4</sup>IceQube measured lying time, lying bout, steps, motion, and lying duration.

<sup>5</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any of their combinations. Disease multivariable included DHI protein record, lying time, bout duration time, and any of the interaction.

<sup>6</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration  $\geq 1.2 \text{ mmol/L}$  identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. Hyperketonemia multivariable included pervious lactation 305 days' actual milk, lying time, bout duration time, and any of the interaction.

<sup>7</sup>Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq 8.6$  mg/dL by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. Hypocalcaemia multivariable included lying time, step, bout duration time, percent change of bout duration, percent change of steps, percent change of motion, percent change of lying time, and any of the interaction.

<sup>8</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\geq 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM. Metritis multivariable included motion, steps, and any of the interaction.

<sup>9</sup>The previous day's data and percent change data were included in multivariable model using the GENMOD procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC).

 $^{10}$ AUC, signifies the magnitude of the quantity that is obtained by the product of the quantities signified by the 1-specificity and the sensitivity axes. If AUC was > 0.7, the accurate performance would found (Swets, 1988).

<sup>11</sup>Probability was created from GENMOD, predicted probability that the response variable is less than or equal to the value.

<sup>12</sup>Alert was created when probability is greater than the threshold, and backward moving maximum feature of the EXPAND procedure in SAS.

Table 3.26. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> HR Tag (SCR Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel)<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> detection created from the GENMOD procedure in SAS<sup>9</sup>.

Diseases	AUC <sup>10</sup>	Disease probability threshold <sup>11,12,13</sup>	$^{1}$ Se (%)	<sup>2</sup> Sp (%)	$^{3}Acc (\%)$
Disease <sup>5</sup>	0.61	0.01	80	70	73
		0.57	76	80	78
		0.67	62	90	82
Hyperketonemia <sup>6</sup>	0.69	0.01	79	54	55
		0.10	71	78	78
		0.17	75	74	75
Hypocalcaemia <sup>7</sup>	0.66	0.01	84	52	57
		0.18	69	85	83
		0.30	65	90	87
Metritis <sup>8</sup>	0.52	0.01	84	60	69
		0.48	74	74	74
		0.55	53	90	82

<sup>1</sup>Sensitivty (Se) = (true positive rate + false negative rate)/true positive rate.

<sup>2</sup>Specificity (Sp) = (true negative rate + false positive rate)/true negative rate.

 $^{3}$ Accuracy (Acc) = (true positive rate + true negative rate)/ (true positive + false positive + true negative + false negative).

<sup>4</sup>SCR HR tag measured neck activity and rumination time.

<sup>5</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any of their combinations. Disease multivariable included DHI protein record, neck activity, and any of the interaction.

<sup>6</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration ≥1.2 mmol/L identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. Hyperketonemia multivariable included DHI protein record, neck activity, and any of the interaction.

<sup>7</sup>Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq$ 8.6 mg/dL by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. Hypocalcaemia multivariable included rumination, neck activity, percent change of rumination, percent change of neck activity, and any of the interaction.

<sup>8</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\geq 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM. Metritis multivariable included rumination.

<sup>9</sup>The previous day's data and percent change data were included in multivariable model using the GENMOD procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC).

<sup>10</sup>AUC, signifies the magnitude of the quantity that is obtained by the product of the quantities signified by the 1-specificity and the sensitivity axes. If AUC was > 0.7, the accurate performance would found (Swets, 1988).

<sup>11</sup>Probability was created from GENMOD, predicted probability that the response variable is less than or equal to the value.

<sup>12</sup>Alert was created when probability is greater than the threshold, and backward moving maximum feature of the EXPAND procedure in SAS.

Table 3.27. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> SmartBow (Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse, Austria) <sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> detection created from the GENMOD procedure in SAS<sup>9</sup>.

Diseases	AUC <sup>10</sup>	Disease probability threshold <sup>11,12,13</sup>	$^{1}$ Se (%)	<sup>2</sup> Sp (%)	$^{3}Acc (\%)$
Disease <sup>5</sup>	0.71	0.01	46	87	76
		0.20	46	88	77
		0.30	45	90	78
Hyperketonemia <sup>6</sup>	0.91	0.01	47	93	91
		0.02	45	94	93
		0.03	45	96	94
Hypocalcaemia <sup>7</sup>	0.70	0.01	58	72	70
		0.15	54	82	80
		0.20	47	90	86
Metritis <sup>8</sup>	0.51	0.01	75	68	70
		0.45	70	77	75
		0.47	47	92	84

<sup>1</sup>Sensitivty (Se) = (true positive rate + false negative rate)/true positive rate.

<sup>2</sup>Specificity (Sp) = (true negative rate + false positive rate)/true negative rate.

<sup>3</sup>Accuracy (Acc) = (true positive rate + true negative rate)/ (true positive + false positive + true negative + false negative).

<sup>4</sup>Smartbow measured rumination time, lying time, time not active, time active, and time high active.

<sup>5</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any of their combinations. Disease multivariable included DHI protein record, percent of the day at water, not active, lying time, percent change of active, percent change of rumination, and any of the interaction.

<sup>6</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration ≥1.2 mmol/L identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. Hyperketonemia multivariable included pervious lactation 305 days' actual milk, percent of the day at water, not active, lying time, rumination, percent change of rumination, and any of the interaction.

<sup>7</sup>Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. Hypocalcaemia multivariable included not active, rumination, percent of the day at water, percent of the day at freestall and any of the interaction.

<sup>8</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\geq 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM. Metritis multivariable included percent of the day at freestall.

<sup>9</sup>The previous day's data and percent change data were included in multivariable model using the GENMOD procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC).

<sup>10</sup>AUC, signifies the magnitude of the quantity that is obtained by the product of the quantities signified by the 1-specificity and the sensitivity axes. If AUC was > 0.7, the accurate performance would found (Swets, 1988). <sup>11</sup>Probability was created from GENMOD, predicted probability that the response variable is less than or equal to

the value.

<sup>12</sup>Alert was created when probability is greater than the threshold, and backward moving maximum feature of the EXPAND procedure in SAS.

# Table 3.28. Sensitivity<sup>1</sup>, specificity<sup>2</sup>, and accuracy<sup>3</sup> CowManager SensoOr (Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands)<sup>4</sup> transition cow disease<sup>5</sup>, hyperketonemia<sup>6</sup>, hypocalcaemia<sup>7</sup>, or metritis<sup>8</sup> detection created from the GENMOD procedure in SAS<sup>9</sup>.

Diseases	AUC <sup>10</sup>	Disease probability threshold <sup>11,12,13</sup>	${}^{1}$ Se (%)	<sup>2</sup> Sp (%)	$^{3}Acc (\%)$
Disease <sup>5</sup>	0.69	0.01	61	83	77
		0.40	60	85	78
		0.57	55	90	80
Hyperketonemia <sup>6</sup>	0.71	0.01	59	83	82
		0.08	59	86	85
		0.10	56	90	88
Hypocalcaemia <sup>7</sup>	0.67	0.01	71	74	73
		0.10	71	76	75
		0.27	57	90	86
Metritis <sup>8</sup>	0.52	0.01	63	76	73
		0.20	62	77	73
		0.49	43	90	84

<sup>1</sup>Sensitivty (Se) = (true positive rate + false negative rate)/true positive rate.

<sup>2</sup>Specificity (Sp) = (true negative rate + false positive rate)/true negative rate.

<sup>3</sup>Accuracy (Acc) = (true positive rate + true negative rate)/ (true positive + false positive + true negative + false negative).

<sup>4</sup>CoManager SensoOr measured rumination time, lying time, time not active, time active, and time high active. <sup>5</sup>Disease referred to any occurrence of hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any of their combinations. Disease multivariable included DHI protein record, eating time, percent change of rumination, percent change of no active, and any of the interaction.

<sup>6</sup>Hyperketonemia was defined as any blood BHBA concentration  $\geq 1.2 \text{ mmol/L}$  identified by Precision Xtra<sup>TM</sup> at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. Hyperketonemia multivariable included pervious lactation 305 days' actual milk, percent of the day at water, not active, lying time, rumination, percent change of rumination, and any of the interaction.

<sup>7</sup>Hypocalcaemia was defined as any blood serum Ca concentrations  $\leq 8.6 \text{ mg/dL}$  by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. Hyperketonemia multivariable included pervious lactation 305 days' actual milk, no active, and any of the interaction.

<sup>8</sup>Metritis was defined as any abnormal vaginal discharge according to Sterrett et al. (2014) with anything scored  $\geq 2$  considered abnormal at 3, 5, 7, 11, 14, 16, 17, 19, or 21 DIM. Metritis multivariable included rumination, active, percent change of eating, and any of the interaction.

<sup>9</sup>The previous day's data and percent change data were included in multivariable model using the GENMOD procedure in SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc, Raleigh, NC).

<sup>10</sup>AUC, signifies the magnitude of the quantity that is obtained by the product of the quantities signified by the 1-specificity and the sensitivity axes. If AUC was > 0.7, the accurate performance would found (Swets, 1988).

<sup>11</sup>Probability was created from GENMOD, predicted probability that the response variable is less than or equal to the value.

<sup>12</sup>Alert was created when probability is greater than the threshold, and backward moving maximum feature of the EXPAND procedure in SAS.

## APPENDIX

Table 2.1. Means of variables<sup>1</sup> measured by precision dairy monitoring technologies<sup>2</sup> for dairy cows from 1 to 21 DIM for all healthy<sup>3</sup> cows, cows with hypocalcaemia, and cows with metritis<sup>5</sup>

	T			Mean ± SD			
v ariables <sup>1</sup>	Technology-	Healthy <sup>3</sup>	N <sup>6</sup>	Hypocalcaemia <sup>4</sup>	N <sup>6</sup>	Metritis <sup>5</sup>	N <sup>6</sup>
Activity (steps/d)	AfiAct pedometer Plus	3699 ± 761	10	4137 ± 845	5	$3814 \pm 1017$	23
Activity (steps/d)	Track a)) Cow	$2006\pm434$	6	$2156\pm10$	4	$2191\pm603$	21
Activity (steps/d)	IceQube	$1339\pm382$	10	$1198 \pm 468$	5	$1143 \pm 324$	26
Motion index	IceQube	$4646 \pm 1392$	10	$4169 \pm 1551$	5	$3962 \pm 1122$	26
Active time (min/d)	SensoOr	$80 \pm 18$	7	$83 \pm 57$	4	$70 \pm 21$	16
High activity	SensoOr	$88 \pm 53$	7	$122 \pm 57$	4	$77 \pm 38$	16
Neck activity	HR Tag	$375\pm82$	7	$454 \pm 154$	2	$485 \pm 113$	19
Active time (min/d)	Smartbow	$934\pm58$	8	$1025\pm7606$	5	$964 \pm 69$	19
High activity	Smartbow	$154 \pm 79$	8	$122 \pm 67$	5	$143 \pm 89$	19
Lying time (min /d)	AfiAct pedometer Plus	$533 \pm 128$	10	$491 \pm 35$	5	$469 \pm 112$	23
Lying bouts	AfiAct pedometer Plus	$10 \pm 3$	10	$14 \pm 2$	5	$10 \pm 3$	23
Lying time (min /d)	IceQube	$553 \pm 112$	10	$536\pm58$	5	$484 \pm 100$	26
Lying bouts	IceQube	$15 \pm 5$	10	$28\pm7$	5	$19 \pm 6$	26
Bout duration (min/bout)	IceQube	$553 \pm 112$	10	$536\pm58$	5	$484 \pm 100$	26
Time not active (min /d)	SensoOr	$482\pm100$	7	$434 \pm 162$	4	$442\pm130$	16
Lying time (min/d)	Track a)) Cow	$617 \pm 125$	6	$535 \pm 43$	4	$482 \pm 117$	21
Lying bouts	Track a)) Cow	$11 \pm 2$	6	$17 \pm 7$	4	$16 \pm 5$	21
Time not active (min/d)	Smartbow	$352 \pm 64$	8	$293\pm68$	5	$332 \pm 83$	19
Lying time (min/d)	Smartbow	$736 \pm 115$	8	$655 \pm 203$	5	$683 \pm 112$	19
Rumination time (min/d)	SensoOr	$580\pm69$	7	$534 \pm 56$	4	$607 \pm 73$	16
Rumination time (min/d)	HR Tag	$543\pm78$	7	$517 \pm 108$	2	$502 \pm 92$	19
Rumination time (min/d)	Smartbow	$557 \pm 53$	8	$578\pm87$	5	$552 \pm 64$	19
Eating time (min/d)	SensoOr	$220\pm101$	7	$280 \pm 140$	4	$251\pm109$	16
Intake visits (d)	Track a)) Cow	$6 \pm 2$	6	$7\pm 2$	4	$9 \pm 1$	21
Time at feedbunk (min/d)	Track a)) Cow	$128 \pm 74$	6	$120 \pm 31$	4	$182 \pm 49$	21
Mean rectal temperature (°C)	GLA	$38.5\pm0.1$	10	$38.6\pm0.2$	5	$38.6\pm0.1$	26
Reticulorumen temperature (°C)	DVM bolus	$39.6 \pm 0.4$	9	$39.6 \pm 0.2$	5	$\overline{39.8\pm0.5}$	20
Milk yield (kg/d)	Afimilk MPC Milk Meter	$37.8 \pm 9.4$	10	$27.3 \pm 6.3$	5	$\overline{32.9\pm9.6}$	23
Milk fat (%)	AfiLab Milk Analyzer	$3.9 \pm 0.4$	10	$3.8\pm0.6$	5	$4.1 \pm 0.5$	23

Milk protein (%)	AfiLab Milk Analyzer	$3.2 \pm 0.2$	10	$3.3 \pm 0.4$	5	$3.1 \pm 0.2$	23
Milk fat protein ratio	AfiLab Milk Analyzer	$1.2 \pm 0.2$	10	$1.2 \pm 0.2$	5	$1.3 \pm 0.1$	23
Milk lactose (%)	AfiLab Milk Analyzer	$4.7\pm0.2$	10	$4.6 \pm 0.4$	5	$4.8 \pm 0.1$	23
Milk conductivity (%)	Afimilk MPC Milk Meter	$7.9\pm0.7$	10	$8.8 \pm 2.1$	5	$7.7\pm0.6$	23
Body weight (kg)	AfiWeigh	$746 \pm 110$	10	$664 \pm 86$	5	$667 \pm 67$	23

### Table 2.1. (cont.)

<sup>1</sup>Variables were parameters measured from the corresponding precision dairy monitoring technology. For example, AfiAct Pedometer Plus recorded activity (steps/d), lying time (min/d), and lying bouts (#/d).

<sup>2</sup>Precision dairy monitoring technologies included: AfiAct Pedometer Plus, Afimilk, AfiLab, AfiWeigh (Kibbutz Afikim, Israel);

Track a))) cow (ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel); DVM bolus (DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO); IceQube

(IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland); HR Tag, SCR (Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel); SmartBow (Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse, Austria); and CowManager SensoOr (Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands).

<sup>3</sup>Healthy included any animals without hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, metritis, or any combination of diseases.

<sup>4</sup>Hypocalcaemia was identified on 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM by University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory using coccygeal vein blood serum.

<sup>5</sup>Metricheck device was used to score vaginal discharge on a scale of 1 to 3 with 1 being no metritis and >1 being metritis (Sterrett et al., 2014).

<sup>6</sup>N referred to the total number of cows in each row and column.

Table 2.2. Means of variables<sup>1</sup> measured by precision dairy monitoring technologies<sup>2</sup> for dairy cows from 1 to 21 DIM for all cows with hyperketonemia and hypocalcaemia <sup>3</sup>, cows with hyperketonemia and metritis<sup>4</sup>, and cows with hypocalcaemia and metritis<sup>5</sup>

Variableal	Tashnalasu?	Mean ± SD						
v ariables <sup>2</sup>	1 echnology-	Hyper + Hypo <sup>3</sup>	N <sup>6</sup>	Hyper + Metr <sup>4</sup>	N <sup>6</sup>	Hypo + Metr <sup>5</sup>	N <sup>6</sup>	
Activity (steps/d)	AfiAct pedometer Plus	3896 ± 857	4	$3147 \pm 857$	8	$3632 \pm 836$	47	
Activity (steps/d)	Track a)) Cow	$2386 \pm 825$	3	$1791 \pm 499$	9	$1909\pm540$	42	
Activity (steps/d)	IceQube	$1472\pm203$	4	$1065\pm318$	9	$1095\pm359$	47	
Motion index	IceQube	$5508\pm590$	4	$3637 \pm 1045$	9	$3732 \pm 1212$	47	
Active time (min/d)	SensoOr	57 ± 16	2	$62 \pm 19$	7	$69 \pm 18$	31	
High activity	SensoOr	$49 \pm 33$	2	$57 \pm 33$	7	$66 \pm 38$	31	
Neck activity	HR Tag	$389 \pm 125$	3	$394 \pm 157$	6	$393 \pm 102$	41	
Active time (min/d)	Smartbow	$903 \pm 101$	3	$947 \pm 67$	6	$910\pm82$	27	
High activity	Smartbow	$162 \pm 70$	3	$112 \pm 75$	6	$154\pm891$	27	
Lying time (min /d)	AfiAct pedometer Plus	$500 \pm 164$	4	$444 \pm 130$	8	$505 \pm 111$	47	
Lying bouts	AfiAct pedometer Plus	9 ± 3	4	$10 \pm 6$	8	$10 \pm 3$	47	
Lying time (min /d)	IceQube	$533 \pm 119$	4	$479 \pm 102$	9	$545.5\pm95.1$	47	
Lying bouts	IceQube	17 ± 3	4	$17 \pm 10$	9	$18 \pm 5$	47	
Bout duration (min/bout)	IceQube	$533 \pm 119$	4	$479 \pm 102$	9	$545\pm95$	47	
Time not active (min /d)	SensoOr	$461 \pm 158$	2	$519\pm103$	7	$506 \pm 159$	31	
Lying time (min/d)	Track a)) Cow	$470 \pm 105$	3	$475 \pm 139$	9	$530 \pm 132$	42	
Lying bouts	Track a)) Cow	$11 \pm 7$	3	$12 \pm 7$	9	$12 \pm 5$	42	
Time not active (min/d)	Smartbow	$374 \pm 70$	3	$381 \pm 52$	6	$376\pm84$	27	
Lying time (min/d)	Smartbow	$685 \pm 150$	3	$809 \pm 113$	6	$718 \pm 135$	27	
Rumination time (min/d)	SensoOr	$617 \pm 120$	2	$622\pm120$	7	$601 \pm 115$	31	
Rumination time (min/d)	HR Tag	$426 \pm 44$	3	$482\pm105$	6	$484 \pm 81$	41	
Rumination time (min/d)	Smartbow	$489\pm68$	3	$599\pm61$	6	$536\pm77$	27	
Eating time (min/d)	SensoOr	$262 \pm 50$	2	$173 \pm 100$	7	$204 \pm 104$	31	
Intake visits (d)	Track a)) Cow	$7\pm2$	3	$9 \pm 1$	9	$8 \pm 2$	42	
Time at feedbunk (min/d)	Track a)) Cow	$153 \pm 73$	3	$148 \pm 44$	9	$164 \pm 60$	42	
Mean rectal temperature (°C)	GLA	$38.6\pm0.1$	4	$38.6\pm0.3$	9	$38.6\pm0.2$	48	
Reticulorumen temperature (°C)	DVM bolus	$39.4 \pm 0.0$	1	$39.6\pm0.5$	8	$39.6\pm0.3$	34	
Milk yield (kg/d)	Afimilk MPC Milk Meter	$38.6 \pm 12.1$	4	$32.6 \pm 9.1$	8	$32.6\pm9.1$	47	
Milk fat (%)	AfiLab Milk Analyzer	$4.1 \pm 0.8$	4	$4.0 \pm 0.3$	8	$4.1 \pm 0.5$	47	
Milk protein (%)	AfiLab Milk Analyzer	$2.9 \pm 0.2$	4	$3.1 \pm 0.1$	8	$3.1 \pm 0.2$	47	
Milk fat protein ratio	AfiLab Milk Analyzer	$1.4 \pm 0.3$	4	$1.3 \pm 0.1$	8	$1.3 \pm 0.2$	47	
Milk lactose (%)	AfiLab Milk Analyzer	$4.6 \pm 0.2$	4	$4.7 \pm 0.2$	8	$4.8 \pm 0.1$	47	

Milk conductivity (%)	Afimilk MPC Milk Meter	$7.9\pm0.7$	4	$7.9\pm0.9$	8	$7.7\pm0.6$	47
Body weight (kg)	AfiWeigh	$801\pm81$	4	$688\pm55$	8	$667\pm67$	47

#### **Table 2.2. (cont.)**

<sup>1</sup>Variables were parameters measured from the corresponding precision dairy monitoring technology. For example, AfiAct Pedometer Plus recorded activity (steps/d), lying time (min/d), and lying bouts (#/d).

<sup>2</sup>Precision dairy monitoring technologies included: AfiAct Pedometer Plus, Afimilk, AfiLab, AfiWeigh (Kibbutz Afikim, Israel);

Track a))) cow (ENGS System Innovative Dairy Solutions, Israel); DVM bolus (DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO); IceQube

(IceRobotics Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland); HR Tag, SCR (Engineers Ltd., Netanya, Israel); SmartBow (Smartbow GmbH, Jutogasse,

Austria); and CowManager SensoOr (Agis Automatisering, Harmelen, Netherlands).

<sup>3</sup>Hyperketonemia and hypocalcaemia referred to the cows with hypocalcaemia and hypocalcaemia.

<sup>4</sup>Hyperketonemia and metritis referred to the cows with hypocalcaemia and metritis.

<sup>5</sup> Hypocalcaemia and metritis referred to the cows with hypocalcaemia and metritis.

<sup>6</sup>N referred to the total number of cows in each row and column.

		Days in milk					
Disease		3	7	14	21		
Hyperketonemia <sup>1</sup>	Ν	117 (85%)	111 (80%)	125 (90%)	123 (89%)		
	Y	21 (15%)	27 (20%)	13 (10%)	15 (11%)		
Total		138	138	138	138		
Hypocalcaemia <sup>2</sup>	Ν	64 (46%)	100 (72%)	116 (84 %)	109 (79%)		
	Y	74 (54%)	38 (28%)	22 (16%)	29 (21%)		
Total		138	138	138	138		

Table 2.3. Hyperketonemia<sup>1</sup> and hypocalcaemia<sup>2</sup> disease occurrence on 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM (n = 138 cows) from January 2013 to October 2015.

<sup>1</sup>Hyperketonemia was identified on 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM by using Precision Xtra (Abbott Laboratories, Chicago, IL, USA) with coccygeal vein blood. N referred to cows without subclinical or clinical hyperketonemia at each DIM. Y referred to cows with subclinical or clinical hyperketonemia at each DIM.

<sup>2</sup>Hypocalcaemia was identified on 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM by University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory using coccygeal vein blood serum. N referred to cows without subclinical or clinical hypocalcaemia at each DIM. Y referred to cows with subclinical or clinical hypocalcaemia at each DIM.

Figure 2.1. Compare reticulorumen temperature and rectal temperature changed by average all the cows from DIM 1 to DIM 21 with and without hyperketonemia<sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3.



<sup>1</sup>Hyperketonemia was detected by Precision Xtra (Abbott Laboratories, Chicago, IL, USA) BHBA, when blood BHBA was  $\geq 1.2 \text{ mmol/L at } 3, 7, 14, \text{ or } 21 \text{ DIM}.$ <sup>2</sup>a) DVM bolus (DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO). <sup>3</sup> † *P* < 0.1, \* *P* < 0.05, \*\* *P* < 0.01, \*\*\* *P* < 0.001

Figure 2.2. Compare reticulorumen temperature and rectal temperature changed by average all the cows from DIM 1 to DIM 21 with and without hypocalcemia<sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3.



<sup>1</sup>Hypocalcemia was defined as any blood serum concentrations  $\leq 8.6$  mg/dL by the University of Kentucky Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory at 3, 7, 14, or 21 DIM. <sup>2</sup>a) DVM bolus (DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO).

<sup>3</sup>  $\dagger$  *P* < 0.1, \* *P* < 0.05, \*\* *P* < 0.01, \*\*\* *P* < 0.001

Figure 2.3. Compare reticulorumen temperature and rectal temperature changed by average all the cows from DIM 1 to DIM 21 with and without metritis<sup>1</sup> by in MIXED procedure of SAS 9.3.



<sup>1</sup>Metritis was diagnosed by vaginal discharge evaluation with the MetriCheck device (Simcro Tech Ltd, Hamilton, New Zealand). A uterine discharge scoring system (Sterrett et al., 2014) was used, based on discharge visual appearance. Score 1: thick, viscous discharge, clear, opaque or red to brown in color, no odor or mild, non-offensive odor; score 2: white or yellow pus, moderate to thick discharge, mild odor; score 3: pink, red, dark red, or black watery discharge, detectable offensive odor, possibly intolerable. Cows with at least one uterine discharge score 2 were classified as clinical metritis cases.

<sup>2</sup>a) DVM bolus (DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO) <sup>3</sup>† *P* < 0.1, \* *P* < 0.05, \*\* *P* < 0.01, \*\*\* *P* < 0.001

Table 3.1. Mean  $\pm$  SD percent change in behavioral, physiological, and production indicators monitored using precision dairy monitoring technologies the day disease develop evaluation compared to a backward moving 5-d baseline for each cow.<sup>1,2,3</sup>

Automated health detection device parameters	Technology	Mean $\pm$ S.D.	N (cows)
Activity (steps/d)	AfiAct pedometer Plus	$-0.74 \pm 3.49$	131
Activity (steps/d)	Track a)) Cow	$-0.59\pm4.45$	114
Activity (steps/d)	IceQube	$-3.11 \pm 4.35$	135
Motion index	IceQube	$-3.19\pm4.21$	135
Active time (min/d)	SensoOr	$-2.10\pm4.29$	90
High activity (min/d)	SensoOr	$-2.19 \pm 5.44$	90
Neck activity (units/d)	HR Tag	$0.43 \pm 2.62$	106
Active time (min/d)	Smartbow	$-0.06 \pm 2.13$	90
High activity (min/d)	Smartbow	$4.26\pm8.95$	90
Lying time (min/d)	AfiAct pedometer Plus	$0.27\pm3.72$	131
Lying bouts (bouts/d)	AfiAct pedometer Plus	$-0.13 \pm 5.33$	131
Lying time (min /d)	IceQube	$0.45\pm3.31$	135
Lying bouts ( bouts/d)	IceQube	$-0.58\pm4.14$	135
Bout duration (min/bout)	IceQube	$0.45\pm3.32$	135
Time not active (min /d)	SensoOr	$-1.12 \pm 3.09$	90
Lying time (min/d)	Track a)) Cow	$1.09 \pm 4.42$	114
Lying bouts ( bouts/d)	Track a)) Cow	$-0.10\pm4.98$	114
Time not active (min/d)	Smartbow	$-0.78\pm4.48$	90
Lying time (min/d)	Smartbow	$0.18\pm2.57$	90
Rumination time (min/d)	SensoOr	$1.33 \pm 2.55$	90
Rumination time (min/d)	HR Tag	$1.71\pm3.29$	106
Rumination time (min/d)	Smartbow	$1.10\pm2.84$	90
Eating time (min/d)	SensoOr	$0.32\pm3.95$	90
Intake visits (d)	Track a)) Cow	$1.38\pm6.85$	114
Time at feedbunk (min/d)	Track a)) Cow	$5.81 \pm 7.24$	114
Mean rectal temperature (°C)	GLA	$0.02\pm0.10$	138
Reticulorumen temperature (°C)	DVM bolus	$0.02\pm0.23$	97
Milk yield (kg/d)	AfiMilk MPC Milk Meter	$3.43\pm5.22$	131
Milk fat (%)	AfiLab Milk Analyzer	$-1.42 \pm 1.54$	131
Milk protein (%)	AfiLab Milk Analyzer	$-1.11 \pm 1.33$	131
Milk fat protein ratio	AfiLab Milk Analyzer	$-0.29\pm2.02$	131
Milk lactose (%)	AfiLab Milk Analyzer	$0.67 \pm 1.20$	131
Milk conductivity (%)	AfiMilk MPC Milk Meter	$-0.30 \pm 0.86$	131
Body weight (kg)	AfiWeigh	$-0.47 \pm 0.54$	131

<sup>1</sup>Average of the baseline was created from EXPAND procedure of SAS, 5d backward moving average was calculating for each cows to create each cows baseline of behavioral such as, lying, steps, rumination, and milk composition.

<sup>2</sup> EXPAND procedure of SAS was used to have pervious day data as an indicator.

<sup>3</sup>Lag 1d and 5d backward moving average were used to calculate percent change of each cows.

Precision dairy monitoring technology	Variables measured	90%	10%
AfiAct Pedometer Plus,	Activity (steps/d)	5107	2400
Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel	Lying time (min/d)	711	315
	Lying bouts (bouts/d)	17	6
AfiLab Milk Analyzer,	Protein (%)	3.45	2.77
Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel	Fat (%)	4.93	3.28
	Lactose (%)	4.98	4.42
	Fat protein ratio	1.63	1.05
AfiMilk MPC Milk Meter	Milk yield (kg/d)	45.9	18
Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel	Milk conductivity (%)	9.10	6.95
	Milking time (min/d)	8.35	3.85
AfiWeigh,			
Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel	Body weight (kg/d)	817.4	577.3
	Rumination time (min/d)	704	400
CowManager SensoOr,	Eating time (min/d)	399	101
Agis Automatisering,	Time not active (min/d)	724	293
Harmelen, Netherlands	Time active (min/d)	106	47
	Time high active (min/d)	161	34.4
DVM bolus, DVM System, LLC, Greeley, CO	Reticulorumen temperature (°C)	40.27	39.05
HR Tag,	Neck activity (units/d)	570	257
SCR Engineers Ltd.,	Rumination time (min/d)	625	345
Netanya, Israel			
	Lying time (min)	734.7	360.3
IceQube,	Steps (number/d)	1775	581.5
IceRobotics Ltd.,	Motion index	6137	2028
Edinburgh, Scotland	Lying bouts (bouts/d)	30	11
	Bout duration (unit/d)	734.9	358.1
	Steps (number/d)	2829	1228
Track a))) Cow,	Lying time (min)	741.5	330.5
ENGS System Innovative Dairy	Lying bouts (bouts/d)	23	7
Solutions, Israel	Time spent at feed bunk (min/d)	261	66
	Feed bunk visit time (number/d)	12	5
	Rumination time (min/d)	667	411
	Lying time (min/d)	903	532
SmartBow, Smartbow GmbH,	Time not active (min/d)	498	230
Jutogasse, Austria	Time active (min/d)	1069	790
	Time high active (min/d)	278	41

Table 3.2. Variables conducted in UNIVARIATE<sup>1</sup> procedure in SAS with 90<sup>th</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup> to create alert<sup>2</sup>.

## Table 3.2. (cont.)

<sup>1</sup>The UNIVARIATE procedure of SAS was used to determine 10<sup>th</sup> and 90<sup>th</sup> percentiles for each variable. Either 10<sup>th</sup> or 90<sup>th</sup> percentiles were used to create a disease alert for each variable. Tables are depictions of the sensitivity, specificity, and accuracy of this disease detection method.

<sup>2</sup>Alert were created for any instances of variables that fell below the 10<sup>th</sup> percentile or above the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile for disease, hyperketonemia, hypocalcaemia, and metritis respective

#### REFERENCE

- Aalseth, E. 2005. Fresh cow management: What is important, what does it cost, and what does it return. Pages 1-12 in Proc. Proc. 7th Western Dairy Manage. Conf., Reno, NV.
- Adams, A., F. Olea-Popelka, and I. Roman-Muniz. 2013. Using temperature-sensing reticular boluses to aid in the detection of production diseases in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 96(3):1549-1555.
- Adewuyi, A., E. Gruys, and F. Van Eerdenburg. 2005. Non esterified fatty acids (NEFA) in dairy cattle. A review. Vet. Quart. 27(3):117-126.
- Åkerstedt, M., L. Björck, K. Persson Waller, and Å. Sternesjö. 2006. Biosensor assay for determination of haptoglobin in bovine milk. J. Dairy Res. 73(03):299-305.
- AlZahal, O., M. Steele, E. Valdes, and B. McBride. 2009. Technical note: The use of a telemetric system to continuously monitor ruminal temperature and to predict ruminal pH in cattle.J. Dairy Sci. 92(11):5697-5701.
- Andersen, J. B., J. Sehested, and K. L. Ingvartsen. 1999. Effect of dry cow feeding strategy on rumen pH, concentration of volatile fatty acids and rumen epithelium development. Acta. Agr. Scand. 49(3):149-155.

Andersson, L. 1988. Subclinical ketosis in dairy cows. Vet. Clin. N. A.-Food A. 4(2):233-251.

Ballard, C., P. Mandebvu, C. J. Sniffen, S. Emanuele, and M. Carter. 2001. Effect of feeding an energy supplement to dairy cows pre-and postpartum on intake, milk yield, and incidence of ketosis. Anim. Feed Sci. Tech 93(1):55-69.

- Bartlett, P. C., J. H. Kirk, M. A. Wilke, J. B. Kaneene, and E. C. Mather. 1986. Metritis complex in Michigan Holstein-Friesian cattle: incidence, descriptive epidemiology and estimated economic impact. Prev. Vet. Med. 4(3):235-248.
- Bauman, D. E. and W. B. Currie. 1980. Partitioning of nutrients during pregnancy and lactation:
  a review of mechanisms involving homeostasis and homeorhesis. J. Dairy Sci.
  63(9):1514-1529.
- Beauchemin, K., S. Zelin, D. Genner, and J. Buchanan-Smith. 1989. An automatic system for quantification of eating and ruminating activities of dairy cattle housed in stalls. J. Dairy Sci. 72(10):2746-2759.
- Bell, A., R. Slepetis, and U. Ehrhardt. 1995. Growth and accretion of energy and protein in the gravid uterus during late pregnancy in Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 78(9):1954-1961.
- Bell, A. W. 1995. Regulation of organic nutrient metabolism during transition from late pregnancy to early lactation. J. Anim. Sci. 73(9):2804-2819.
- Bell, A. W., W. S. Burhans, and T. R. Overton. 2000. Protein nutrition in late pregnancy, maternal protein reserves and lactation performance in dairy cows. Proc. Nutr. Soc. 59(01):119-126.
- Belyea, R., G. Frost, F. Martz, J. Clark, and L. Forkner. 1978. Body composition of dairy cattle by potassium-40 liquid scintillation detection. J. Dairy Sci. 61(2):206-211.
- Bennink, M., R. Mellenberger, R. Frobish, and D. Bauman. 1972. Glucose oxidation and entry rate as affected by the initiation of lactation. J. Dairy Sci. 55(Suppl 1):712.
- Benzaquen, M., C. Risco, L. Archbald, P. Melendez, M.-J. Thatcher, and W. Thatcher. 2007. Rectal temperature, calving-related factors, and the incidence of puerperal metritis in postpartum dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 90(6):2804-2814.

- Bernabucci, U., B. Ronchi, N. Lacetera, and A. Nardone. 2005. Influence of Body Condition Score on Relationships Between Metabolic Status and Oxidative Stress in Periparturient Dairy Cows\*. J. Dairy Sci. 88(6):2017-2026.
- Berry, D., R. Veerkamp, and P. Dillon. 2006a. Phenotypic profiles for body weight, body condition score, energy intake, and energy balance across different parities and concentrate feeding levels. Livest. Prod. Sci. 104(1):1-12.
- Berry, D. P., K. A. Macdonald, J. W. Penno, and J. R. Roche. 2006b. Association between body condition score and live weight in pasture-based Holstein-Friesian dairy cows. J. Dairy Res. 73(04):487-491.
- Bertics, S. J., R. R. Grummer, C. Cadorniga-Valino, and E. E. Stoddard. 1992. Effect of prepartum dry matter intake on liver triglyceride concentration and early lactation. j. Dairy Sci. 75(7):1914-1922.
- Bewley, J. 2010. Precision dairy farming: Advanced analysis solutions for future profitability.
   Pages 2-17 in Proc. Proceedings of the first North American conference on precision dairy management, Toronto, Canada.
- Bewley, J., M. Einstein, M. Grott, and M. Schutz. 2008a. Comparison of reticular and rectal core body temperatures in lactating dairy cows. Journal of dairy science 91(12):4661-4672.
- Bewley, J., M. Grott, M. Einstein, and M. Schutz. 2008b. Impact of intake water temperatures on reticular temperatures of lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 91(10):3880-3887.
- Bian, S., R. Elliott, I. Immig, and D. Sun. 2007. The influence of β-carotene supplementation on post-partum disease and subsequent reproductive performance of dairy cows in China. J. Anim. Fee. sci 16(2):370-375.

- Bicalho, M., E. Marques, R. Gilbert, and R. Bicalho. 2017. The association of plasma glucose,BHBA, and NEFA with postpartum uterine diseases, fertility, and milk production ofHolstein dairy cows. Theriogenology 88:270-282.
- Bikker, J., H. van Laar, P. Rump, J. Doorenbos, K. van Meurs, G. Griffioen, and J. Dijkstra.
  2014. Technical note: Evaluation of an ear-attached movement sensor to record cow feeding behavior and activity. J. Dairy Sci. 97(5):2974-2979.
- Blödow, G., M. Götze, M. Kitzig, K.-P. Brüssow, and U. Duschinski. 1988.
   Radioimmunologische steroidhormonbestimmungen in der follikelflüssigkeit bei rind und schwein.
- Boehlje, M. 1992. Alternative models of structural change in agriculture and related industries. Agribusiness 8(3):219.
- Boehlje, M. and W. Schiek. 1998. Critical success factors in a competitive dairy market. J. Dairy Sci. 81(6):1753-1761.
- Bonnett, B. N., S. W. Martin, and A. H. Meek. 1993. Associations of clinical findings, bacteriological and histological results of endometrial biopsy with reproductive performance of postpartum dairy cows. Prev. Vet. Med. 15(2):205-220.
- Borchers, M. and J. Bewley. 2015. An assessment of producer precision dairy farming technology use, prepurchase considerations, and usefulness. J. Dairy Sci. 98(6):4198-4205.
- Borchers, M. R., Y. M. Chang, I. C. Tsai, B. A. Wadsworth, and J. M. Bewley. 2016. A validation of technologies monitoring dairy cow feeding, ruminating, and lying behaviors. J. Dairy Sci. 99(9):7458-7466.

- Borsberry, S. and H. Dobson. 1989. Periparturient diseases and their effect on reproductive performance in five dairy herds. Vet. Rec. 124(9):217-219.
- Bristow, D. J. and D. S. Holmes. 2007. Cortisol levels and anxiety-related behaviors in cattle. Physiol. Behav. 90(4):626-628.
- Burfeind, O., K. Schirmann, M. von Keyserlingk, D. Veira, D. Weary, and W. Heuwieser. 2011a. Technical note: Evaluation of a system for monitoring rumination in heifers and calves. J. Dairy Sci. 94(1):426-430.
- Burfeind, O., K. Schirmann, M. von Keyserlingk, D. Veira, D. Weary, and W. Heuwieser. 2011b.Technical note: Evaluation of a system for monitoring rumination in heifers and calves.Journal of dairy science 94(1):426-430.
- Burfeind, O., M. Von Keyserlingk, D. Weary, D. Veira, and W. Heuwieser. 2010. Short communication: Repeatability of measures of rectal temperature in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 93(2):624-627.
- Byers, D. 1995. Enhancing reproductive efficiency by optimizing energy balance and dry matter intake.
- Calamari, L., N. Soriani, G. Panella, F. Petrera, A. Minuti, and E. Trevisi. 2014. Rumination time around calving: An early signal to detect cows at greater risk of disease. J. Dairy Sci. 97(6):3635-3647.
- Caldari-Torres, C. 2009. Effects of Long-chain Fatty Acids on Production, Metabolism and Immunity of Holstein Cows. University of Florida.
- Calderon, D. and N. Cook. 2011a. The effect of lameness on the resting behavior and metabolic status of dairy cattle during the transition period in a freestall-housed dairy herd. J. Dairy Sci. 94(6):2883-2894.

- Calderon, D. and N. Cook. 2011b. The effect of lameness on the resting behavior and metabolic status of dairy cattle during the transition period in a freestall-housed dairy herd. Journal of dairy science 94(6):2883-2894.
- Calderón, F., B. Chauveau-Duriot, B. Martin, B. Graulet, M. Doreau, and P. Nozière. 2007.Variations in carotenoids, vitamins A and E, and color in cow's plasma and milk during late pregnancy and the first three months of lactation. J. Dairy Sci. 90(5):2335-2346.
- Cameron, R. E. B., P. B. Dyk, T. H. Herdt, J. B. Kaneene, R. Miller, H. F. Bucholtz, J. S. Liesman, M. J. Vandehaar, and R. S. Emery. 1998. Dry Cow Diet, Management, and Energy Balance as Risk Factors for Displaced Abomasum in High Producing Dairy Herds. J. Dairy Sci. 81(1):132-139.
- Cavestany, D., J. Blanc, M. Kulcsar, G. Uriarte, P. Chilibroste, A. Meikle, H. Febel, A. Ferraris, and E. Krall. 2005. Studies of the Transition Cow Under a Pasture-based Milk Production System: Metabolic Profiles. J. Vet. Med. A 52(1):1-7.
- Chamberlain, A. and J. M. Wilkinson. 1996. Feeding the dairy cow. Chalcombe publications.
- Chamberlin, W., J. Middleton, J. Spain, G. Johnson, M. Ellersieck, and P. Pithua. 2013.
   Subclinical hypocalcemia, plasma biochemical parameters, lipid metabolism, postpartum disease, and fertility in postparturient dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 96(11):7001-7013.
- Chan, J. P. W., C. C. Chang, W. L. Hsu, W. B. Liu, and T. H. Chen. 2010. Association of increased serum acute-phase protein concentrations with reproductive performance in dairy cows with postpartum metritis. Vet clin path 39(1):72-78.
- Chapinal, N., M. Carson, T. Duffield, M. Capel, S. Godden, M. Overton, J. Santos, and S. LeBlanc. 2011. The association of serum metabolites with clinical disease during the transition period. J. Dairy Sci. 94(10):4897-4903.

- Chapinal, N., A. M. de Passillé, D. M. Weary, M. A. G. von Keyserlingk, and J. Rushen. 2009.Using gait score, walking speed, and lying behavior to detect hoof lesions in dairy cows.J. Dairy Sci. 92(9):4365-4374.
- Chew, B., L. Hollen, J. Hillers, and M. Herlugson. 1982. Relationship between vitamin A and βcarotene in blood plasma and milk and mastitis in Holsteins. J. Dairy Sci. 65(11):2111-2118.
- Cochrane, W. W. 1965. The City Man's Guide to the Farm Problem. U of Minnesota Press.
- Collins, R. and I. Reid. 1980. A correlated biochemical and stereological study of periparturient fatty liver in the dairy cow. Res. Vet. Sci. 28(3):373-376.
- Constable, P., G. Miller, G. Hoffsis, B. Hull, and D. Rings. 1992. Risk factors for abomasal volvulus and left abomasal displacement in cattle. Am. J. Vet. Res 53(7):1184-1192.
- Coppock, C. 1974. Displaced abomasum in dairy cattle: etiological factors. J. Dairy Sci. 57(8):926-933.
- Correa, M., H. Erb, and J. Scarlett. 1993. Path analysis for seven postpartum disorders of Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 76(5):1305-1312.
- Couderc, J., D. Rearte, G. Schroeder, J. Ronchi, and F. Santini. 2006. Silage chop length and hay supplementation on milk yield, chewing activity, and ruminal digestion by dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 89(9):3599-3608.
- Curtis, C. R., H. N. Erb, C. J. Sniffen, R. D. Smith, and D. S. Kronfeld. 1985. Path analysis of dry period nutrition, postpartum metabolic and reproductive disorders, and mastitis in Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 68(9):2347-2360.

- Daberkow, S. G. and W. D. McBride. 2003. Farm and operator characteristics affecting the awareness and adoption of precision agriculture technologies in the US. Precis. Agric. 4(2):163-177.
- Dado, R. and M. Allen. 1993. Continuous computer acquisition of feed and water intakes, chewing, reticular motility, and ruminal pH of cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 76(6):1589-1600.
- Dantzer, R. 2004. Cytokine-induced sickness behaviour: a neuroimmune response to activation of innate immunity. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 500(1):399-411.
- De Koning, C. 2010. Automatic milking–common practice on dairy farms. Pages 52-67 in Proc. Proceedings of the first North American conference on precision dairy management, Toronto, Canada.
- DeGaris, P. J. and I. J. Lean. 2008. Milk fever in dairy cows: A review of pathophysiology and control principles. Vet. J. 176(1):58-69.
- Deluyker, H., J. Gay, L. Weaver, and A. Azari. 1991a. Change of milk yield with clinical diseases for a high producing dairy herd. J. Dairy Sci. 74(2):436-445.
- Deluyker, H. A., J. M. Gay, L. D. Weaver, and A. S. Azari. 1991b. Change of Milk Yield with Clinical Diseases for a High Producing Dairy Herd. J. Dairy Sci. 74(2):436-445.
- Detilleux, J., Y. Gröhn, S. Eicker, and R. Quaas. 1997. Effects of left displaced abomasum on test day milk yields of Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 80(1):121-126.
- DeVries, T., M. Von Keyserlingk, D. Weary, and K. Beauchemin. 2003. Technical note: Validation of a system for monitoring feeding behavior of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 86(11):3571-3574.
- Dohoo, I. R. and S. Martin. 1984a. Subclinical ketosis: prevalence and associations with production and disease. Can. J. Comparat. Med. 48(1):1.

- Dohoo, I. R. and S. Martin. 1984b. Subclinical ketosis: prevalence and associations with production and disease. Canadian Journal of Comparative Medicine 48(1):1.
- Drackley, J. and F. Cardoso. 2014. Prepartum and postpartum nutritional management to optimize fertility in high-yielding dairy cows in confined TMR systems. Animal 8(s1):5-14.
- Drackley, J. K. 1999. Biology of dairy cows during the transition period: The final frontier? J. Dairy Sci. 82(11):2259-2273.
- Drackley, J. K., T. R. Overton, and G. N. Douglas. 2001. Adaptations of glucose and long-chain fatty acid metabolism in liver of dairy cows during the periparturient period. J. Dairy Sci. 84:E100-E112.
- Drillich, M. 2011. Aetiology and therapy of retained fetal membranes in cattle-an overview on recent literature. Wien. Tierarztl. Monat. 98(9-10):195-202.
- Drissler, M., M. Gaworski, C. Tucker, and D. Weary. 2005. Freestall maintenance: Effects on lying behavior of dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 88(7):2381-2387.
- Dubuc, J., T. Duffield, K. Leslie, J. Walton, and S. LeBlanc. 2010. Risk factors for postpartum uterine diseases in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 93(12):5764-5771.
- Duffield, T. 2000. Subclinical ketosis in lactating dairy cattle. Vet. Clin. N. A.-Food A. 16(2):231-253, v.
- Duffield, T. and S. LeBlanc. 2009. Interpretation of serum metabolic parameters around the transition period. Pages 106-114 in Proc. Southwest Nutrition and Management Conference.

- Duffield, T. F., D. F. Kelton, K. E. Leslie, K. D. Lissemore, and J. H. Lumsden. 1997a. Use of test day milk fat and milk protein to detect subclinical ketosis in dairy cattle in Ontario. The Canadian Veterinary Journal 38(11):713.
- Duffield, T. F., D. F. Kelton, K. E. Leslie, K. D. Lissemore, and J. H. Lumsden. 1997b. Use of test day milk fat and milk protein to detect subclinical ketosis in dairy cattle in Ontario. Canadian Vet. J. 38(11):713.
- Eckersall, P., F. Young, A. Nolan, C. H. Knight, C. McComb, M. Waterston, C. Hogarth, E. Scott, and J. Fitzpatrick. 2006. Acute phase proteins in bovine milk in an experimental model of Staphylococcus aureus subclinical mastitis. J. Dairy Sci. 89(5):1488-1501.
- Edmonson, A., I. Lean, L. Weaver, T. Farver, and G. Webster. 1989. A body condition scoring chart for Holstein dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 72(1):68-78.
- Edwards, J. and P. Tozer. 2004a. Using activity and milk yield as predictors of fresh cow disorders. J. Dairy Sci. 87(2):524-531.
- Edwards, J. and P. Tozer. 2004b. Using activity and milk yield as predictors of fresh cow disorders. Journal of dairy science 87(2):524-531.
- Eiler, H. 1997. Retained placenta.
- El-Osta, H. S. and M. J. Morehart. 2000. Technology adoption and its impact on production performance of dairy operations. Rev. Agr. Econ. 22(2):477-498.
- Emery, R. S., J. S. Liesman, and T. H. Herdt. 1992. Metabolism of long chain fatty acids by ruminant liver. J. Nutr 122(3 Suppl):832-837.
- Engstrom, M. 2010. β-Carotene for dairy cows. Pages 40-50 in Proc. 2010 Western Nutrition
   Conference, challenging conventional nutrition dogma, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan,
   Canada, 21-23 September 2010. Western Nutrition Conference Planning Committee.

- Enjalbert, F., M. Nicot, C. Bayourthe, and R. Moncoulon. 2001. Ketone bodies in milk and blood of dairy cows: Relationship between concentrations and utilization for detection of subclinical ketosis. J. Dairy Sci. 84(3):583-589.
- Erb, H. and Y. Grohn. 1988a. Epidemiology of metabolic disorders in the periparturient dairy cow. Journal of Dairy Science 71(9):2557-2571.
- Erb, H. and Y. Grohn. 1988b. Epidemiology of metabolic disorders in the periparturient dairy cow. J. Dairy Sci. 71(9):2557-2571.
- Erb, H. and S. Martin. 1978. Age, breed and seasonal patterns in the occurrence of ten dairy cow diseases: a case control study. Can. J. Comparat. Med. 42(1):1.
- Esposito, G., P. C. Irons, E. C. Webb, and A. Chapwanya. 2014. Interactions between negative energy balance, metabolic diseases, uterine health and immune response in transition dairy cows. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 144(3):60-71.
- Fetrow, J., K. Nordlund, and H. Norman. 2006. Invited review: Culling: Nomenclature, definitions, and recommendations. J. Dairy Sci. 89(6):1896-1905.
- Fleischer, P., M. Metzner, M. Beyerbach, M. Hoedemaker, and W. Klee. 2001. The relationship between milk yield and the incidence of some diseases in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 84(9):2025-2035.
- Földi, J., M. Kulcsar, A. Pecsi, B. Huyghe, C. De Sa, J. Lohuis, P. Cox, and G. Huszenicza. 2006.
  Bacterial complications of postpartum uterine involution in cattle. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 96(3):265-281.
- Fourichon, C., H. Seegers, N. Bareille, and F. Beaudeau. 1999. Effects of disease on milk production in the dairy cow: a review. Prev. Vet. Med. 41(1):1-35.
- Fox, M. W. 1968. Abnormal behavior in animals. Philadelphia, London and Toronto: WB Saunders Co.
- Fregonesi, J., C. Tucker, and D. Weary. 2007. Overstocking reduces lying time in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 90(7):3349-3354.
- Fregonesi, J. A. and J. D. Leaver. 2001. Behaviour, performance and health indicators of welfare for dairy cows housed in strawyard or cubicle systems. Livest. Prod. Sci. 68(2):205-216.
- Friggens, N., K. L. Ingvartsen, and G. Emmans. 2004. Prediction of body lipid change in pregnancy and lactation. J. Dairy Sci. 87(4):988-1000.
- Geishauser, T., K. Leslie, D. Kelton, and T. Duffield. 1998. Evaluation of Five Cowside Tests for Use with Milk to Detect Subclinical Ketosis in Dairy Cows. J. Dairy Sci. 81(2):438-443.
- Geishauser, T., K. Leslie, D. Kelton, and T. Duffield. 2001. Monitoring for subclinical ketosis in dairy herds. Compendium:S65-S71.
- Gilbert, R. O., S. T. Shin, C. L. Guard, H. N. Erb, and M. Frajblat. 2005. Prevalence of endometritis and its effects on reproductive performance of dairy cows. Theriogenology 64(9):1879-1888.
- Gillund, P., O. Reksen, Y. Gröhn, and K. Karlberg. 2001. Body condition related to ketosis and reproductive performance in Norwegian dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 84(6):1390-1396.
- Goff, J. 2006a. Major advances in our understanding of nutritional influences on bovine health.J. Dairy Sci. 89(4):1292-1301.
- Goff, J. 2006b. Major advances in our understanding of nutritional influences on bovine health. Journal of dairy science 89(4):1292-1301.
- Goff, J. and R. Horst. 1997. Physiological changes at parturition and their relationship to metabolic disorders 1, 2. J. Dairy Sci. 80(7):1260-1268.

- Goff, J. P. 2008. The monitoring, prevention, and treatment of milk fever and subclinical hypocalcemia in dairy cows. Vet. J. 176(1):50-57.
- Goff, J. P., K. Kimura, and R. L. Horst. 2002. Effect of mastectomy on milk fever, energy, and vitamins A, E, and β-carotene status at parturition. J. Dairy Sci. 85(6):1427-1436.
- Goldhawk, C., N. Chapinal, D. Veira, D. Weary, and M. Von Keyserlingk. 2009. Prepartum feeding behavior is an early indicator of subclinical ketosis. J. Dairy Sci. 92(10):4971-4977.
- Goldhawk, C., K. Schwartzkopf-Genswein, and K. Beauchemin. 2013. Technical note: Validation of rumination collars for beef cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 91(6):2858-2862.
- Gomez, A. and N. Cook. 2010. Time budgets of lactating dairy cattle in commercial freestall herds. J. Dairy Sci. 93(12):5772-5781.
- González, L., B. Tolkamp, M. Coffey, A. Ferret, and I. Kyriazakis. 2008. Changes in feeding behavior as possible indicators for the automatic monitoring of health disorders in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 91(3):1017-1028.
- Graham, T. 1991. Trace element deficiencies in cattle. Vet. Clin. N. A.-Food A. 7(1):153-215.
- Grant, R. and J. Albright. 1995. Feeding behavior and management factors during the transition period in dairy cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 73(9):2791-2803.
- Grant, R., J. Albright, and J. D'Mello. 2000. Feeding behaviour. Farm animal metabolism and nutrition.:365-382.
- Gröhn, Y., S. Eicker, V. Ducrocq, and J. Hertl. 1998. Effect of diseases on the culling of Holstein dairy cows in New York State. J. Dairy Sci. 81(4):966-978.
- Gröhn, Y., S. Eicker, and J. Hertl. 1995. The association between previous 305-day milk yield and disease in New York state dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 78(8):1693-1702.

- Gröhn, Y., H. N. Erb, C. E. McCulloch, and H. S. Saloniemi. 1990. Epidemiology of reproductive disorders in dairy cattle: associations among host characteristics, disease and production. Prev. Vet. Med. 8(1):25-39.
- Gröhn, Y. and L.-A. Lindberg. 1985. Ultrastructural changes of the liver in spontaneously ketotic cows. J. Comp. Pathol. 95(3):443-452.
- Gröhn, Y. and P. Rajala-Schultz. 2000. Epidemiology of reproductive performance in dairy cows. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 60:605-614.
- Gröhn, Y., P. Rajala-Schultz, H. Allore, M. DeLorenzo, J. Hertl, and D. Galligan. 2003.Optimizing replacement of dairy cows: modeling the effects of diseases. Prev. Vet. Med. 61(1):27-43.
- Grum, D., J. Drackley, R. Younker, D. LaCount, and J. Veenhuizen. 1996. Nutrition during the dry period and hepatic lipid metabolism of periparturient dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 79(10):1850-1864.
- Grummer, R. R. 1993. Etiology of lipid-related metabolic disorders in periparturient dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 76(12):3882-3896.
- Grummer, R. R. 1995. Impact of changes in organic nutrient metabolism on feeding the transition dairy cow. J. Anim. Sci. 73(9):2820-2833.
- Grummer, R. R., D. G. Mashek, and A. Hayirli. 2004. Dry matter intake and energy balance in the transition period. Vet. Clin. N. A.-Food A. 20(3):447-470.
- Gruys, E., M. Obwolo, and M. Toussaint. 1994. Diagnostic significance of the major acute phase proteins in veterinary clinical chemistry: a review. Vet. Bull.
- Guard, C. 1990. Abomasal displacement and volvulus. Large Animal Internal Medicine. BP Smith, ed. CV Mosby Co., St. Louis, MO:792.

- Guard, C. 1994. Costs of clinical disease in dairy cows. in Proc. Proceedings of Annual Cornell Conference on Veternity, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY.
- Guretzky, N. J., D. Carlson, J. Garrett, and J. Drackley. 2006. Lipid metabolite profiles and milk production for Holstein and Jersey cows fed rumen-protected choline during the periparturient period. J. Dairy Sci. 89(1):188-200.
- Hadley, G., C. Wolf, and S. Harsh. 2006. Dairy cattle culling patterns, explanations, and implications. J. Dairy Sci. 89(6):2286-2296.
- Hammon, D., I. Evjen, T. Dhiman, J. Goff, and J. Walters. 2006. Neutrophil function and energy status in Holstein cows with uterine health disorders. Vet. Immunol. Immunop. 113(1):21-29.
- Hansen, S., P. Nørgaard, C. Pedersen, R. J. Jørgensen, L. Mellau, and J. Enemark. 2003. The effect of subclinical hypocalcaemia induced by Na2EDTA on the feed intake and chewing activity of dairy cows. Vet. Res. Commun. 27(3):193-205.
- Hart, B. L. 1988. Biological basis of the behavior of sick animals. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 12(2):123-137.
- Hayirli, A., R. Grummer, E. Nordheim, P. Crump, D. Beede, M. VandeHaar, and L. Kilmer. 1998.A mathematical model for describing dry matter intake of transition cows. J. Dairy Sci. 81(Suppl 1):296.

Herdt, T. 1988. Fatty liver in dairy cows. Vet. Clin. N. A.-Food A. 4(2):269-287.

Herdt, T., J. Stevens, W. Olson, and V. Larson. 1981. Blood concentrations of beta hydroxybutyrate in clinically normal Holstein-Friesian herds and in those with a high prevalence of clinical ketosis. Am. J. Vet. Res 42(3):503-506.

- Heuer, C., W. Van Straalen, Y. Schukken, A. Dirkzwager, and J. Noordhuizen. 2000. Prediction of energy balance in a high yielding dairy herd in early lactation: model development and precision. Livest. Prod. Sci. 65(1):91-105.
- Hicks, L., W. Hicks, R. Bucklin, J. Shearer, D. Bray, P. Soto, and V. Carvalho. 2001. Comparison of methods of measuring deep body temperatures of dairy cows. Pages 432-438 in Proc.
  6th International Symposium. Am. Soc. Agric. Eng., Louisville, KY.
- Hiss, S., C. Weinkauf, S. Hachenberg, and H. Sauerwein. 2009. Short communication:
  Relationship between metabolic status and the milk concentrations of haptoglobin and lactoferrin in dairy cows during early lactation. J. Dairy Sci. 92(9):4439-4443.
- Hogeveen, H., C. Kamphuis, W. Steeneveld, and H. Mollenhorst. 2010. Sensors and Clinical Mastitis—The Quest for the Perfect Alert. Sensors 10(9):7991.
- Horst, R., J. Goff, T. Reinhardt, and D. Buxton. 1997. Strategies for Preventing Milk Fever in Dairy Cattle 1, 2. J. Dairy Sci. 80(7):1269-1280.
- Humblet, M. F., H. Guyot, B. Boudry, F. Mbayahi, C. Hanzen, F. Rollin, and J. M. Godeau. 2006.Relationship between haptoglobin, serum amyloid A, and clinical status in a survey of dairy herds during a 6-month period. Vet. Clin. Path. 35(2):188-193.
- Huzzey, J., T. Duffield, S. LeBlanc, D. Veira, D. Weary, and M. von Keyserlingk. 2009. Short communication: Haptoglobin as an early indicator of metritis. J. Dairy Sci. 92(2):621-625.
- Huzzey, J., D. Veira, D. Weary, and M. Von Keyserlingk. 2007. Prepartum behavior and dry matter intake identify dairy cows at risk for metritis. J. Dairy Sci. 90(7):3220-3233.
- Huzzey, J., M. Von Keyserlingk, and D. Weary. 2005. Changes in feeding, drinking, and standing behavior of dairy cows during the transition period. J. Dairy Sci. 88(7):2454-2461.

- Huzzey, J., D. Weary, B. Tiau, and M. von Keyserlingk. 2014a. Short communication: Automatic detection of social competition using an electronic feeding system. Journal of dairy science 97(5):2953-2958.
- Huzzey, J., D. Weary, B. Tiau, and M. von Keyserlingk. 2014b. Short communication: Automatic detection of social competition using an electronic feeding system. J. Dairy Sci. 97(5):2953-2958.
- Ingvartsen, K. L. 2006. Feeding-and management-related diseases in the transition cow: Physiological adaptations around calving and strategies to reduce feeding-related diseases. Anim. Feed Sci. Tech 126(3):175-213.
- Ingvartsen, K. L. and J. B. Andersen. 2000. Integration of metabolism and intake regulation: a review focusing on periparturient animals. J. Dairy Sci. 83(7):1573-1597.
- Itle, A., J. Huzzey, D. Weary, and M. Von Keyserlingk. 2015. Clinical ketosis and standing behavior in transition cows. J. Dairy Sci. 98(1):128-134.
- Ito, K., N. Chapinal, D. Weary, and M. von Keyserlingk. 2014. Associations between herd-level factors and lying behavior of freestall-housed dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 97(4):2081-2089.
- Ito, K., M. Von Keyserlingk, S. LeBlanc, and D. Weary. 2010. Lying behavior as an indicator of lameness in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 93(8):3553-3560.
- Iwersen, M., U. Falkenberg, R. Voigtsberger, D. Forderung, and W. Heuwieser. 2009. Evaluation of an electronic cowside test to detect subclinical ketosis in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 92(6):2618-2624.
- Jawor, P., J. Huzzey, S. LeBlanc, and M. von Keyserlingk. 2012a. Associations of subclinical hypocalcemia at calving with milk yield, and feeding, drinking, and standing behaviors around parturition in Holstein cows. Journal of dairy science 95(3):1240-1248.

- Jawor, P., J. Huzzey, S. LeBlanc, and M. von Keyserlingk. 2012b. Associations of subclinical hypocalcemia at calving with milk yield, and feeding, drinking, and standing behaviors around parturition in Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 95(3):1240-1248.
- Johnson, R. 2002. The concept of sickness behavior: a brief chronological account of four key discoveries. Vet. Immunol. Immunop. 87(3):443-450.
- Johnston, L. and B. Chew. 1984. Peripartum changes of plasma and milk vitamin A and  $\beta$ carotene among dairy cows with or without mastitis. J. Dairy Sci. 67(8):1832-1840.
- Jónsson, R., M. Blanke, N. K. Poulsen, F. Caponetti, and S. Højsgaard. 2011. Oestrus detection in dairy cows from activity and lying data using on-line individual models. Comput. Electron. Agr. 76(1):6-15.
- Jorritsma, R., S. Baldee, Y. Schukken, T. Wensing, and G. Wentink. 1998. Evaluation of a milk test for detection of subclinical ketosis. Vet. Quart. 20(3):108-110.
- Jorritsma, R., H. Jorritsma, Y. Schukken, P. Bartlett, T. Wensing, and G. Wentink. 2001. Prevalence and indicators of post partum fatty infiltration of the liver in nine commercial dairy herds in The Netherlands. Livest. Prod. Sci. 68(1):53-60.
- Juarez, S., P. Robinson, E. DePeters, and E. Price. 2003. Impact of lameness on behavior and productivity of lactating Holstein cows. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 83(1):1-14.
- Kaneene, J. and R. Miller. 1995. Risk factors for metritis in Michigan dairy cattle using herd-and cow-based modelling approaches. Prev. Vet. Med. 23(3):183-200.
- Kaneene, J. B., R. Miller, T. H. Herdt, and J. C. Gardiner. 1997. The association of serum nonesterified fatty acids and cholesterol, management and feeding practices with peripartum disease in dairy cows. Preventive Veterinary Medicine 31(1):59-72.

- Kasimanickam, R., T. Duffield, R. Foster, C. Gartley, K. Leslie, J. Walton, and W. Johnson. 2004. Endometrial cytology and ultrasonography for the detection of subclinical endometritis in postpartum dairy cows. Theriogenology 62(1):9-23.
- Kaufman, E. I., S. J. LeBlanc, B. W. McBride, T. F. Duffield, and T. J. DeVries. 2016.Association of rumination time with subclinical ketosis in transition dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science.
- Kelton, D. F., K. D. Lissemore, and R. E. Martin. 1998. Recommendations for Recording and Calculating the Incidence of Selected Clinical Diseases of Dairy Cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 81(9):2502-2509.
- Kertz, A., L. Reutzel, and G. Thomson. 1991. Dry matter intake from parturition to midlactation.J. Dairy Sci. 74(7):2290-2295.
- Kessler, E., R. Bruckmaier, and J. Gross. 2014a. Milk production during the colostral period is not related to the later lactational performance in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 97(4):2186-2192.
- Kessler, E., J. Gross, R. Bruckmaier, and C. Albrecht. 2014b. Cholesterol metabolism, transport, and hepatic regulation in dairy cows during transition and early lactation. J. Dairy Sci. 97(9):5481-5490.
- Khanal, A. R., J. Gillespie, and J. MacDonald. 2010. Adoption of technology, management practices, and production systems in US milk production. J. Dairy Sci. 93(12):6012-6022.
- Khiaosa-ard, R. and Q. Zebeli. 2014. Cattle's variation in rumen ecology and metabolism and its contributions to feed efficiency. Livest. Sci. 162:66-75.
- Kim, I.-H. and G.-H. Suh. 2003. Effect of the amount of body condition loss from the dry to near calving periods on the subsequent body condition change, occurrence of postpartum

diseases, metabolic parameters and reproductive performance in Holstein dairy cows. Theriogenology 60(8):1445-1456.

- Kimura, K., T. Reinhardt, and J. Goff. 2006. Parturition and hypocalcemia blunts calcium signals in immune cells of dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 89(7):2588-2595.
- King, J. 1978. The effects of ketosis in dairy cows on body weight, milk yield and milk composition. Brit. Vet. J. 135(1):40-43.
- Klerx, H. and E. Smolders. 1997. Herd and cow random variation in models of interrelationships between metabolic and reproductive disorders in high yielding multiparous Holstein dairy cattle in The Netherlands. Livest. Prod. Sci. 52(1):21-29.
- Kononoff, P., H. Lehman, and A. Heinrichs. 2002. Technical note—a comparison of methods used to measure eating and ruminating activity in confined dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 85(7):1801-1803.
- Krause, M., K. Beauchemin, L. Rode, B. Farr, and P. Nørgaard. 1998. Fibrolytic enzyme treatment of barley grain and source of forage in high-grain diets fed to growing cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 76:2912-2920.
- Kristula, M., B. Smith, and A. Simeone. 2001. The use of daily postpartum rectal temperatures to select dairy cows for treatment with systemic antibiotics. Bovin Pr. 35(2):117-125.
- Kronfeld, D., M. Simesen, and D. Dungworth. 1960. Liver glycogen in normal and ketotic cows. Res. Vet. Sci. 1:242-247.
- Kweon K, O. J., Osasa K 1986. Factors affecting serum

total cholesterol level of lactating Holstein cows. Jpn J Vet Sci

48:481-486

- Larsen, M. and N. B. Kristensen. 2009. Effect of abomasal glucose infusion on splanchnic amino acid metabolism in periparturient dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 92(7):3306-3318.
- Laven, R. and A. Peters. 1996. Bovine retained placenta: aetiology, pathogenesis and economic loss. Vet. Rec. 139(19):465-471.
- Lean, I., P. DeGaris, D. McNeil, and E. Block. 2006. Hypocalcemia in dairy cows: meta-analysis and dietary cation anion difference theory revisited. J. Dairy Sci. 89(2):669-684.
- LeBlanc, S. 2006. Monitoring programs for transition dairy cows. Pages 460-472 in Proc. Proceedings of the 26th World Biuatrics Congress, Nice.
- LeBlanc, S. 2010. Monitoring metabolic health of dairy cattle in the transition period. J. Reprod. Develop. 56(S):S29-S35.
- LeBlanc, S., T. Duffield, K. Leslie, K. Bateman, G. P. Keefe, J. Walton, and W. Johnson. 2002a. Defining and diagnosing postpartum clinical endometritis and its impact on reproductive performance in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 85(9):2223-2236.
- LeBlanc, S., T. Herdt, W. Seymour, T. Duffield, and K. Leslie. 2004. Peripartum serum vitamin E, retinol, and beta-carotene in dairy cattle and their associations with disease. J. Dairy Sci. 87(3):609-619.
- LeBlanc, S., K. Leslie, and T. Duffield. 2005a. Metabolic predictors of displaced abomasum in dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 88(1):159-170.
- LeBlanc, S., K. Leslie, and T. Duffield. 2005b. Metabolic predictors of displaced abomasum in dairy cattle. Journal of dairy science 88(1):159-170.
- LeBlanc, S. J. 2008. Postpartum uterine disease and dairy herd reproductive performance: a review. Vet. J. 176(1):102-114.

- LeBlanc, S. J., T. F. Duffield, K. E. Leslie, K. G. Bateman, J. TenHag, J. S. Walton, and W. H. Johnson. 2002b. The effect of prepartum injection of vitamin E on health in transition dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 85(6):1416-1426.
- LeBlanc, S. J., K. E. Leslie, and T. F. Duffield. 2005c. Metabolic Predictors of Displaced Abomasum in Dairy Cattle. Journal of Dairy Science 88(1):159-170.
- Lefcourt, A., J. Huntington, R. Akers, D. Wood, and J. Bitman. 1999. Circadian and ultradian rhythms of body temperature and peripheral concentrations of insulin and nitrogen in lactating dairy cows. Domest. Anim. Endocrim. 16(1):41-55.
- Lewis, G. S. 1997. Uterine health and disorders. J. Dairy Sci. 80(5):984-994.
- Liang, D. 2013. Estimating the economic losses from diseases and extended days open with a farm-level stochastic model.
- Liboreiro, D. N., K. S. Machado, P. R. Silva, M. M. Maturana, T. K. Nishimura, A. P. Brandão,
  M. I. Endres, and R. C. Chebel. 2015a. Characterization of peripartum rumination and
  activity of cows diagnosed with metabolic and uterine diseases. Journal of dairy science
  98(10):6812-6827.
- Liboreiro, D. N., K. S. Machado, P. R. B. Silva, M. M. Maturana, T. K. Nishimura, A. P. Brandão, M. I. Endres, and R. C. Chebel. 2015b. Characterization of peripartum rumination and activity of cows diagnosed with metabolic and uterine diseases. J. Dairy Sci. 98(10):6812-6827.
- Lindström, T., I. Redbo, and K. Uvnäs-Moberg. 2001. Plasma oxytocin and cortisol concentrations in dairy cows in relation to feeding duration and rumen fill. Physiol. Behav. 72(1):73-81.

- Lotthammer, K.-H. and F. Hoffmann-La Roche. 1979. On the Importance of Beta-carotene for the Fertility of Dairy Cattle. Roche Information Service, Animal Nutrition Department.
- Lucey, S., G. J. Rowlands, and A. M. Russell. 1986. Short-term associations between disease and milk yield of dairy cows. J. Dairy Res. 53(01):7-15.
- Lucy, M., R. Escalante, D. Keisler, W. Lamberson, and D. Mathew. 2013. Short communication: Glucose infusion into early postpartum cows defines an upper physiological set point for blood glucose and causes rapid and reversible changes in blood hormones and metabolites. J. Dairy Sci. 96(9):5762-5768.
- Luginbuhl, J.-M., K. Pond, J. Russ, and J. Burns. 1987. A simple electronic device and computer interface system for monitoring chewing behavior of stall-fed ruminant animals. J. Dairy Sci. 70(6):1307-1312.
- Maekawa, M., K. Beauchemin, and D. Christensen. 2002. Effect of concentrate level and feeding management on chewing activities, saliva production, and ruminal pH of lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 85(5):1165-1175.
- Mahnani, A., A. Sadeghi-Sefidmazgi, and V. Cabrera. 2015. Consequences and economics of metritis in Iranian Holstein dairy farms. Journal of dairy science 98(9):6048-6057.
- Mallard, B., J. Dekkers, M. Ireland, K. Leslie, S. Sharif, C. L. Vankampen, L. Wagter, and B.
  Wilkie. 1998. Alteration in immune responsiveness during the peripartum period and its ramification on dairy cow and calf health. J. Dairy Sci. 81(2):585-595.
- Markusfeld, O. 1986. The association of displaced abomasum with various periparturient factors in dairy cows. A retrospective study. Prev. Vet. Med. 4(2):173-183.
- Markusfeld, O. 1987. Periparturient traits in seven high dairy herds. Incidence rates, association with parity, and interrelationships among traits. J. Dairy Sci. 70(1):158-166.

- Marquardt, J., R. Horst, and N. Jorgensen. 1977. Effect of parity on dry matter intake at parturition in dairy cattle. Journal of dairy science 60(6):929-934.
- Martin, S., K. Kirby, and R. Curtis. 1978. Left abomasal displacement in dairy cows: its relationship to production. Canadian Vet. J. 19(9):250.
- Matsui, K. and T. Okubo. 1991. A method for quantification of jaw movements suitable for use on free-ranging cattle. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 32(2):107-116.
- Mattachini, G., A. Antler, E. Riva, A. Arbel, and G. Provolo. 2013. Automated measurement of lying behavior for monitoring the comfort and welfare of lactating dairy cows. Livest. Sci. 158(1):145-150.
- McArt, J., D. Nydam, and G. Oetzel. 2012a. Epidemiology of subclinical ketosis in early lactation dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 95(9):5056-5066.
- McArt, J., D. Nydam, and G. Oetzel. 2012b. Epidemiology of subclinical ketosis in early lactation dairy cattle. Journal of dairy science 95(9):5056-5066.
- McArt, J. A., D. V. Nydam, G. R. Oetzel, T. R. Overton, and P. A. Ospina. 2013. Elevated nonesterified fatty acids and β-hydroxybutyrate and their association with transition dairy cow performance. Vet. J. 198(3):560-570.
- McArt, J. A. A., D. V. Nydam, and G. R. Oetzel. 2012c. Epidemiology of subclinical ketosis in early lactation dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 95(9):5056-5066.
- McGowan, J., C. Burke, and J. Jago. 2007. Validation of a technology for objectively measuring behaviour in dairy cows and its application for oestrous detection. Page 136 in Proc. proceedings-New Zealand society of animal production. New Zealand Society of Animal Production; 1999.

- McKeown, D. and A. Luescher. 1988. A case for companion animal behavior. Canadian Vet. J. 29(1):74.
- McLaren, C. J., K. D. Lissemore, T. F. Duffield, K. E. Leslie, D. F. Kelton, and B. Grexton.2006. The relationship between herd level disease incidence and a return over feed index in Ontario dairy herds. Canadian Vet. J. 47(8):767.
- McNamara, S., J. Murphy, M. Rath, and F. O'mara. 2003. Effects of different transition diets on energy balance, blood metabolites and reproductive performance in dairy cows. Livest. Prod. Sci. 84(3):195-206.
- McNaughton, A. and R. Murray. 2009. Structure and function of the bovine fetomaternal unit in relation to the causes of retained fetal membranes. Vet. Rec. 165(21):615-622.
- Michal, J., L. Heirman, T. Wong, B. Chew, M. Frigg, and L. Volker. 1994. Modulatory effects of dietary β-carotene on blood and mammary leukocyte function in periparturient dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 77(5):1408-1421.
- Minor, D. J., S. L. Trower, B. D. Strang, R. D. Shaver, and R. R. Grummer. 1998. Effects of Nonfiber Carbohydrate and Niacin on Periparturient Metabolic Status and Lactation of Dairy Cows1. J. Dairy Sci. 81(1):189-200.
- Molenaar, A., Y. Kuys, S. Davis, R. Wilkins, P. Mead, and J. Tweedie. 1996. Elevation of lactoferrin gene expression in developing, ductal, resting, and regressing parenchymal epithelium of the ruminant mammary gland. J. Dairy Sci. 79(7):1198-1208.

Mulligan, F. and M. Doherty. 2008. Production diseases of the transition cow. Vet. J. 176(1):3-9.

Munksgaard, L., M. B. Jensen, L. J. Pedersen, S. W. Hansen, and L. Matthews. 2005. Quantifying behavioural priorities—Effects of time constraints on behaviour of dairy cows, Bos taurus. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 92(1):3-14. Murata, H., N. Shimada, and M. Yoshioka. 2004. Current research on acute phase proteins in veterinary diagnosis: an overview. Vet. J. 168(1):28-40.

Murray, J. A. 1919a. Meat production. J. Agr. Sci. 9(02):174-181.

Murray, J. A. 1919b. Meat production. J. Agric Sci 9(02):174-181.

- Murray, R. 2008. RD Murray, JE Horsfield, WD McCormick, HJ Williams, D. Ward. Vet. Rec. 163:561-565.
- Musser, W. N. and F. C. White. 1975. The Impact of Management on Farm Expansion and Survival. Southern Journal of Agricultural Economics 7(01).
- Niehaus, A. J. 2008. Surgery of the abomasum. Vet. Clin. N. A.-Food A. 24(2):349-358.
- Nielen, M., M. Aarts, A. Jonkers, T. Wensing, and Y. H. Schukken. 1994. Evaluation of two cowside tests for the detection of subclinical ketosis in dairy cows. Canadian Vet. J. 35(4):229.
- Nocek, J. E. 1997. Bovine acidosis: Implications on laminitis. J. Dairy Sci. 80(5):1005-1028.
- Norring, M., A. Valros, and L. Munksgaard. 2012. Milk yield affects time budget of dairy cows in tie-stalls. J. Dairy Sci. 95(1):102-108.
- Oetzel, G. 2011. Non-infectious diseases: Milk fever. Encyclopedia of dairy sciences 2:239-245.
- Oetzel, G. R. 2004. Monitoring and testing dairy herds for metabolic disease. Vet. Clin. N. A.-Food A. 20(3):651-674.
- Oetzel, G. R. and M. Eastridge. 2013. Minimizing hypocalcemia during early lactation. Tri-State Dairy Nutr. Conf:23-34.
- Oldick, B. S. 1999. Effect of level and source of energy during the periparturient period on reproductive performance. Nutrition and animal health:13.

- Olsson, G., M. Emanuelson, and H. Wiktorsson. 1998. Effects of different nutritional levels prepartum on the subsequent performance of dairy cows. Livest. Prod. Sci. 53(3):279-290.
- Ospina, P., D. Nydam, T. Stokol, and T. Overton. 2010. Evaluation of nonesterified fatty acids and β-hydroxybutyrate in transition dairy cattle in the northeastern United States: Critical thresholds for prediction of clinical diseases. J. Dairy Sci. 93(2):546-554.
- Østergaard, S. and Y. Gröhn. 1999. Effects of diseases on test day milk yield and body weight of dairy cows from Danish research herds. J. Dairy Sci. 82(6):1188-1201.
- Østergaard, S. and Y. Gröhn. 2000. Concentrate feeding, dry-matter intake, and metabolic disorders in Danish dairy cows. Livest. Prod. Sci. 65(1):107-118.
- Otto, K., J. Ferguson, D. Fox, and C. Sniffen. 1991. Relationship between body condition score and composition of ninth to eleventh rib tissue in Holstein dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 74(3):852-859.
- Overton, T. and M. Waldron. 2004. Nutritional management of transition dairy cows: strategies to optimize metabolic health. J. Dairy Sci. 87:E105-E119.
- Parish, S. 2011. Diseases of dairy animal. Non-infectious diseases: displaced abomasum. Encyclopedia of Dairy Sciences. 2nd ed. Elsevier Inc., St Louis, MO, USA: Saunders:212-216.
- Payne, J. M. and S. Payne. 1987. The metabolic profile test. Oxford University Press.
- Petersen, H. H., J. P. Nielsen, and P. M. H. Heegaard. 2004. Application of acute phase protein measurements in veterinary clinical chemistry. Vet. Rec. 35(2):163-187.

- Poikalainen, V., J. Praks, L. Veermäe, and E. Kokin. 2012. Infrared temperature patterns of cow's body as an indicator for health control at precision cattle farming. Agronomy Research Biosystem Engineering Special (1):187-194.
- Pritchard, T., M. Coffey, R. Mrode, and E. Wall. 2013. Genetic parameters for production, health, fertility and longevity traits in dairy cows. Animal 7(01):34-46.
- Proudfoot, K., J. Huzzey, and M. Von Keyserlingk. 2009. The effect of dystocia on the dry matter intake and behavior of Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 92(10):4937-4944.
- Proudfoot, K., D. Weary, and M. Von Keyserlingk. 2010. Behavior during transition differs for cows diagnosed with claw horn lesions in mid lactation. J. Dairy Sci. 93(9):3970-3978.
- Pryce, J., M. Coffey, and G. Simm. 2001. The relationship between body condition score and reproductive performance. J. Dairy Sci. 84(6):1508-1515.
- Qu, Y., A. Fadden, M. Traber, and G. Bobe. 2014. Potential risk indicators of retained placenta and other diseases in multiparous cows. J. Dairy. Sci. 97(7):4151-4165.
- Quimby, W., B. Sowell, J. Bowman, M. Branine, M. Hubbert, and H. Sherwood. 2001. Application of feeding behaviour to predict morbidity of newly received calves in a commercial feedlot. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 81(3):315-320.
- Quiroz-Rocha, G., S. LeBlanc, T. Duffield, B. Jefferson, D. Wood, K. Leslie, and R. Jacobs.
  2010a. Short communication: Effect of sampling time relative to the first daily feeding on interpretation of serum fatty acid and β-hydroxybutyrate concentrations in dairy cattle.
  Journal of dairy science 93(5):2030-2033.
- Quiroz-Rocha, G., S. LeBlanc, T. Duffield, B. Jefferson, D. Wood, K. Leslie, and R. Jacobs. 2010b. Short communication: Effect of sampling time relative to the first daily feeding on

interpretation of serum fatty acid and  $\beta$ -hydroxybutyrate concentrations in dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 93(5):2030-2033.

- Rabelo, E., R. Rezende, S. Bertics, and R. Grummer. 2003. Effects of transition diets varying in dietary energy density on lactation performance and ruminal parameters of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 86(3):916-925.
- Radostits, O. M., C. C. Gay, K. W. Hinchcliff, and P. D. Constable. 2006. Veterinary Medicine: A textbook of the diseases of cattle, horses, sheep, pigs and goats. Elsevier Health Sciences.
- Rajala-Schultz, P., Y. Gröhn, and C. McCulloch. 1999. Effects of milk fever, ketosis, and lameness on milk yield in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 82(2):288-294.
- Rajala, P. J. and Y. T. Gröhn. 1998. Effects of Dystocia, Retained Placenta, and Metritis on Milk Yield in Dairy Cows. J. Dairy Sci. 81(12):3172-3181.
- Ramberg, C., E. Johnson, R. Fargo, and D. Kronfeld. 1984. Calcium homeostasis in cows, with special reference to parturient hypocalcemia. AM. J. Physiol-Reg I 246(5):R698-R704.
- Regassa, F. and D. Noakes. 1999. release of PGFM in relation to uterine involution. Vet. Rec. 144:502-506.
- Reinhardt, T. A., J. D. Lippolis, B. J. McCluskey, J. P. Goff, and R. L. Horst. 2011. Prevalence of subclinical hypocalcemia in dairy herds. Vet. J. 188(1):122-124.
- Reynolds, C. 2006. Production and metabolic effects of site of starch digestion in dairy cattle. Anim. Feed Sci. Tech 130(1):78-94.
- Reynolds, C., P. Aikman, B. Lupoli, D. Humphries, and D. Beever. 2003. Splanchnic metabolism of dairy cows during the transition from late gestation through early lactation. J. Dairy Sci. 86(4):1201-1217.

- Richardt, W. 2004. Milk composition as an indicator of nutrition and health. The breeding 11:26-27.
- Risco, C., B. Smith, M. Benzaquen, and P. Melendez. 2005. Monitoring health and looking for sick cows. Proceedings 2th Florida Dairy Road Show, February 7(8):9.
- Roberts, T., N. Chapinal, S. LeBlanc, D. Kelton, J. Dubuc, and T. Duffield. 2012a. Metabolic parameters in transition cows as indicators for early-lactation culling risk. J. Dairy Sci. 95(6):3057-3063.
- Roberts, T., N. Chapinal, S. LeBlanc, D. Kelton, J. Dubuc, and T. Duffield. 2012b. Metabolic parameters in transition cows as indicators for early-lactation culling risk. Journal of dairy science 95(6):3057-3063.
- Robinson, P. and J. Garrett. 1999. Effect of yeast culture (Saccharomyces cerevisiae) on adaptation of cows to postpartum diets and on lactational performance. J. Anim. Sci. 77(4):988-999.
- Roche, J., D. Berry, and E. Kolver. 2006. Holstein-Friesian strain and feed effects on milk production, body weight, and body condition score profiles in grazing dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 89(9):3532-3543.
- Roche, J., D. Berry, J. Lee, K. Macdonald, and R. Boston. 2007. Describing the body condition score change between successive calvings: a novel strategy generalizable to diverse cohorts. J. Dairy Sci. 90(9):4378-4396.
- Roche, J. R., N. C. Friggens, J. K. Kay, M. W. Fisher, K. J. Stafford, and D. P. Berry. 2009. Invited review: Body condition score and its association with dairy cow productivity, health, and welfare. J. Dairy Sci. 92(12):5769-5801.

- Roche, J. R., J. K. Kay, N. C. Friggens, J. J. Loor, and D. P. Berry. 2013. Assessing and managing body condition score for the prevention of metabolic disease in dairy cows. VET CLIN N AM-FOOD A 29(2):323-336.
- Roche, J. R., S. Meier, A. Heiser, M. D. Mitchell, C. G. Walker, M. A. Crookenden, M. V. Riboni, J. J. Loor, and J. K. Kay. 2015. Effects of precalving body condition score and prepartum feeding level on production, reproduction, and health parameters in pasturebased transition dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 98(10):7164-7182.
- Roelofs, J., F. Van Eerdenburg, N. Soede, and B. Kemp. 2005. Various behavioral signs of estrous and their relationship with time of ovulation in dairy cattle. Theriogenology 63(5):1366-1377.
- Rowlands, G. and S. Lucey. 1986. Changes in milk yield in dairy cows associated with metabolic and reproductive disease and lameness. Prev. Vet. Med. 4(3):205-221.
- Ruegg, P. L., W. Goodger, C. Holmberg, L. Weaver, and E. Huffman. 1992. Relation among body condition score, serum urea nitrogen and cholesterol concentrations, and reproductive performance in high-producing Holstein dairy cows in early lactation. Am. J. Vet. Res 53(1):10-14.
- Rukkwamsuk, T., T. Kruip, and T. Wensing. 1999a. Relationship between overfeeding and overconditioning in the dry period and the problems of high producing dairy cows during the postparturient period. Veterinary Quarterly 21(3):71-77.
- Rukkwamsuk, T., T. Wensing, and T. A. Kruip. 1999b. Relationship between triacylglycerol concentration in the liver and first ovulation in postpartum dairy cows. Theriogenology 51(6):1133-1142.

- Rulquin, H., P. Pisulewski, R. Vérité, and J. Guinard. 1993. Milk production and composition as a function of postruminal lysine and methionine supply: a nutrient-response approach. Livest. Prod. Sci. 37(1):69-90.
- Russell, J. B. and J. L. Rychlik. 2001. Factors that alter rumen microbial ecology. Science 292(5519):1119-1122.
- Russell, R. and J. Bewley. 2013. Characterization of Kentucky dairy producer decision-making behavior. J. Dairy Sci. 96(7):4751-4758.
- Rutten, C., A. Velthuis, W. Steeneveld, and H. Hogeveen. 2013. Invited review: Sensors to support health management on dairy farms. J. Dairy Sci. 96(4):1928-1952.
- Rutter, S., R. Champion, and P. Penning. 1997. An automatic system to record foraging behaviour in free-ranging ruminants. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 54(2):185-195.
- Sandals, W., R. Curtis, J. Cote, and S. Martin. 1979. The effect of retained placenta and metritis complex on reproductive performance in dairy cattle—a case control study. Canadian Vet. J. 20(5):131.
- Sato, H., M. Matsumoto, and S. Hanasaka. 1999. Relations between plasma acetate, 3hydroxybutyrate, FFA, glucose levels and energy nutrition in lactating dairy cows. Journal of veterinary medical science 61(5):447-451.
- Schirmann, K., M. A. von Keyserlingk, D. Weary, D. Veira, and W. Heuwieser. 2009a. Technical note: Validation of a system for monitoring rumination in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 92(12):6052-6055.
- Schirmann, K., M. A. G. von Keyserlingk, D. M. Weary, D. M. Veira, and W. Heuwieser. 2009b. Technical note: Validation of a system for monitoring rumination in dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science 92(12):6052-6055.

- Schutz, M. M. and J. M. Bewley. 2009. Implications of changes in core body temperature. Pages 39-50 in Proc. Tri-State Dairy Nutr. Conf.
- Schweigert, F., F. Enjalbert, R. Mothes, A. Hurtienne, and I. Immig. 2007. Cooperative European study for the validation of a novel cow-side β-carotene assay in serum and blood. Page 162 in Proc. Proceedings of 13th International Conference on Production Disease in Farm Animals, Leipzig, Germany.
- Seifi, H. A., B. Dalir-Naghadeh, N. Farzaneh, M. Mohri, and M. Gorji-Dooz. 2007. Metabolic changes in cows with or without retained fetal membranes in transition period. J. Vet. Med. A 54(2):92-97.
- Sepulveda-Varas, P., D. Weary, and M. von Keyserlingk. 2014a. Lying behavior and postpartum health status in grazing dairy cows. Journal of dairy science 97(10):6334-6343.
- Sepulveda-Varas, P., D. Weary, and M. von Keyserlingk. 2014b. Lying behavior and postpartum health status in grazing dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 97(10):6334-6343.
- Sepúlveda-Varas, P., D. Weary, and M. Von Keyserlingk. 2014a. Lying behavior and postpartum health status in grazing dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 97(10):6334-6343.
- Sepúlveda-Varas, P., D. Weary, and M. Von Keyserlingk. 2014b. Lying behavior and postpartum health status in grazing dairy cows. Journal of dairy science 97(10):6334-6343.
- Sepúlveda-Varas, P., D. M. Weary, M. Noro, and M. A. von Keyserlingk. 2015. Transition diseases in grazing dairy cows are related to serum cholesterol and other analytes. PloS one 10(3):e0122317.
- Shearer, J. 1992. Metabolic diseases of dairy cattle.
- Sheldon, I. and H. Dobson. 2004. Postpartum uterine health in cattle. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 82:295-306.

- Sheldon, I., D. Noakes, A. Rycroft, and H. Dobson. 2001. Acute phase protein responses to uterine bacterial contamination in cattle after calving. Vet. Rec. 148(6):172-175.
- Sheldon, I., S. Price, J. Cronin, R. Gilbert, and J. Gadsby. 2009. Mechanisms of infertility associated with clinical and subclinical endometritis in high producing dairy cattle. Reprod. Domest. Anim. 44(s3):1-9.
- Sheldon, I. M., G. S. Lewis, S. LeBlanc, and R. O. Gilbert. 2006. Defining postpartum uterine disease in cattle. Theriogenology 65(8):1516-1530.
- Sheldon, I. M., E. J. Williams, A. N. Miller, D. M. Nash, and S. Herath. 2008. Uterine diseases in cattle after parturition. Vet. J. 176(1):115-121.
- Silvestre, F., T. Carvalho, N. Francisco, J. Santos, C. Staples, T. Jenkins, and W. Thatcher. 2011.
  Effects of differential supplementation of fatty acids during the peripartum and breeding periods of Holstein cows: I. Uterine and metabolic responses, reproduction, and lactation.
  J. Dairy Sci. 94(1):189-204.
- Skinner, J., R. Brown, and L. Roberts. 1991. Bovine haptoglobin response in clinically defined field conditions. Vet. Rec. 128(7):147-149.
- Smith, B., G. Donovan, C. Risco, C. Young, and L. Stanker. 1998. Serum haptoglobin concentrations in Holstein dairy cattle with toxic puerperal metritis. Vet. Rec. 142(4):83-85.
- Smith, B. I. and C. A. Risco. 2005. Management of periparturient disorders in dairy cattle. Vet. Clin. N. A.-Food A. 21(2):503-521.
- Sommer, H. 1975. Preventive medicine in dairy cows. Vet. Med. Rev 1(2):42.

- Sordillo, L. M., G. Contreras, and S. L. Aitken. 2009. Metabolic factors affecting the inflammatory response of periparturient dairy cows. Anim. Health Res. Rev. 10(01):53-63.
- Soriani, N., E. Trevisi, and L. Calamari. 2012. Relationships between rumination time, metabolic conditions, and health status in dairy cows during the transition period. J. Anim. Sci. 90(12):4544-4554.
- Spears, J. W. and W. P. Weiss. 2008. Role of antioxidants and trace elements in health and immunity of transition dairy cows. Vet. J. 176(1):70-76.
- Stangaferro, M., R. Wijma, L. Caixeta, M. Al-Abri, and J. Giordano. 2016a. Use of rumination and activity monitoring for the identification of dairy cows with health disorders: Part III. Metritis. J. Dairy Sci. 99(9):7422-7433.
- Stangaferro, M. L., R. Wijma, L. S. Caixeta, M. A. Al-Abri, and J. O. Giordano. 2016b. Use of rumination and activity monitoring for the identification of dairy cows with health disorders: Part I. Metabolic and digestive disorders. J. Dairy Sci. 99(9):7395-7410.
- Sterrett, A., D. Amaral-Phillips, J. Bewley, and M. Arnold. 2014. A fresh cow health monitoring system. University of Kentucky College of Agriculture, Food, and Environment Cooperative Extension Service,

http://www2.ca.uky.edu/agcomm/pubs/ID/ID218/ID218.pdf.

- Stockdale, C. 2001. Body condition at calving and the performance of dairy cows in early lactation under Australian conditions: a review. Anim. Sci 41(6):823-839.
- Strange, R., R. R. Friis, L. T. Bemis, and F. J. Geske. 1995. Chapter 15 Programmed Cell Death during Mammary Gland Involution. Pages 355-368 in Methods in Cell Biology. Vol. Volume 46. M. S. Lawrence and A. O. Barbara, ed. Academic Press.

- Swets, J. A. 1988. Measuring the Accuracy of Diagnostic Systems. Science 240(4857):1285-1293.
- Thiede, M. A. 1994. Parathyroid Hormone-Related Protein: A Regulated Calcium-Mobilizing Product of the Mammary Gland. J. Dairy Sci. 77(7):1952-1963.
- Thielen, M., M. Mielenz, S. Hiss, H. Zerbe, W. Petzl, H.-J. Schuberth, H.-M. Seyfert, and H. Sauerwein. 2007. Short communication: Cellular localization of haptoglobin mRNA in the experimentally infected bovine mammary gland. J. Dairy Sci. 90(3):1215-1219.
- Thorup, V. M., D. Edwards, and N. C. Friggens. 2012. On-farm estimation of energy balance in dairy cows using only frequent body weight measurements and body condition score. J. Dairy Sci. 95(4):1784-1793.
- Titler, M., M. Maquivar, S. Bas, E. Gordon, P. Rajala-Schultz, K. McCullough, and G. Schuenemann. 2013. Effect of metritis on daily activity patterns in lactating Holstein dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 96:647.
- Titler, M., M. Maquivar, S. Bas, P. J. Rajala-Schultz, E. Gordon, K. McCullough, P. Federico, and G. M. Schuenemann. 2015. Prediction of parturition in Holstein dairy cattle using electronic data loggers. J. Dairy Sci. 98(8):5304-5312.
- Toni, F., L. Vincenti, L. Grigoletto, A. Ricci, and Y. H. Schukken. 2011. Early lactation ratio of fat and protein percentage in milk is associated with health, milk production, and survival. J. Dairy Sci. 94(4):1772-1783.
- Trevisi, E., A. Ferrari, and G. Bertoni. 2008. Productive and metabolic consequences induced by the retained placenta in dairy cows. Vet. Res. Commun. 32(1):363-366.
- Urton, G., M. Von Keyserlingk, and D. Weary. 2005a. Feeding behavior identifies dairy cows at risk for metritis. J. Dairy Sci. 88(8):2843-2849.

- Urton, G., M. Von Keyserlingk, and D. Weary. 2005b. Feeding behavior identifies dairy cows at risk for metritis. Journal of Dairy Science 88(8):2843-2849.
- Van Asseldonk, M., R. Huirne, A. Dijkhuizen, and A. Beulens. 1999. Dynamic programming to determine optimum investments in information technology on dairy farms. Agr. Syst 62(1):17-28.
- Van Mosel, M., A. T. Van't Klooster, F. Van Mosel, and J. Van der Kuilen. 1993. Effects of reducing dietary [(Na++ K+)–(Cl-+ SO 4=] on the rate of calcium mobilisation by dairy cows at parturition. Res. Vet. Sci. 54(1):1-9.
- Van Saun, R. J. and C. J. Sniffen. 2014. Transition Cow Nutrition and Feeding Management for Disease Prevention. Vet. Clin. N. A.-Food A. 30(3):689-719.
- Van Werven, T., Y. Schukken, J. Lloyd, A. Brand, H. T. Heeringa, and M. Shea. 1992. The effects of duration of retained placenta on reproduction, milk production, postpartum disease and culling rate. Theriogenology 37(6):1191-1203.
- Vasseur, E., J. Rushen, D. Haley, and A. de Passillé. 2012. Sampling cows to assess lying time for on-farm animal welfare assessment. J. Dairy Sci. 95(9):4968-4977.
- Vazquez-Anon, M., S. Bertics, M. Luck, R. Grummer, and J. Pinheiro. 1994. Peripartum liver triglyceride and plasma metabolites in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 77(6):1521-1528.
- von Keyserlingk, M. A. G., A. Barrientos, K. Ito, E. Galo, and D. M. Weary. 2012.
  Benchmarking cow comfort on North American freestall dairies: Lameness, leg injuries, lying time, facility design, and management for high-producing Holstein dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 95(12):7399-7408.

Wadsworth, B. A. 2014. The Impact of Dual Chamber Cow Waterbeds as a Freestall Base.

- Wagner, S., D. Schimek, F. Cheng, and R. Smith. 2007. Body temperature and white blood cell count in dairy cows during the first ten days after calving. in Proc. Proceedings of the Fortieth Annual Conference, American Association of Bovine Practitioners, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, 20-22 September, 2007. American Association of Bovine Practitioners.
- Walsh, R., J. Walton, D. Kelton, S. LeBlanc, K. Leslie, and T. Duffield. 2007. The effect of subclinical ketosis in early lactation on reproductive performance of postpartum dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 90(6):2788-2796.
- Weary, D., J. Huzzey, and M. Von Keyserlingk. 2009. Board-invited review: Using behavior to predict and identify ill health in animals. J. Anim. Sci. 87(2):770-777.
- Whiteford, L. and I. Sheldon. 2005. Association between clinical hypocalcaemia and postpartum endometritis. Vet. Rec. 157(7):202-204.
- Wildman, E., G. Jones, P. Wagner, R. Boman, H. Troutt, and T. Lesch. 1982. A dairy cow body condition scoring system and its relationship to selected production characteristics. J. Dairy Sci. 65(3):495-501.
- Wolfger, B., E. Timsit, E. Pajor, N. Cook, H. Barkema, and K. Orsel. 2015. Technical note: Accuracy of an ear tag-attached accelerometer to monitor rumination and feeding behavior in feedlot cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 93(6):3164-3168.
- Wrenn, T., J. Bitman, and J. Sykes. 1960. Diurnal patterns of bovine body temperature. ARS 44; 73.
- Wright, I. and A. Russel. 1984. Partition of fat, body composition and body condition score in mature cows. Anim. Sci 38(01):23-32.

- Zamet, C. N., V. Colenbrander, C. Callahan, B. Chew, R. Erb, and N. Moeller. 1979. Variables associated with peripartum traits in dairy cows. I. Effect of dietary forages and disorders on voluntary intake of feed, body weight and milk yield. Theriogenology 11(3):229-244.
- Zebeli, Q., K. Ghareeb, E. Humer, B. Metzler-Zebeli, and U. Besenfelder. 2015. Nutrition, rumen health and inflammation in the transition period and their role on overall health and fertility in dairy cows. Res. Vet. Sci. 103:126-136.

## VITA

I Ching, Tsai was born in Kaohsiung, Taiwan. She graduated from St. Dominic high school in 2006. In 2011, she obtained a Bachelor of Science degree from Tunghai University in Animal Science. I Ching participated in several research projects, assisting graduate students and professors from 2010 to 2011. I Ching began studying for her Master's of Science degree under Dr. Jeffrey Bewley in August of 2013. Her research focused on using the precision dairy technology of detection transition cow diseases. I Ching presented her research findings at the 2014 and 2015 Joint Annual ADSA Meetings. I Ching acted as a teaching assistant in the Introduction to Animal Science course in 2013.